Opa protein mediated interactions with human neutrophils affect *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* survival

Allison Margaret Alcott Monroeville, Pennsylvania

Bachelor of Science, Allegheny College, May 2014 Master of Science, Clemson University, May 2016

A Dissertation presented to the Graduate Faculty of the University of Virginia in Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Microbiology, Immunology, and Cancer Biology University of Virginia May 2022

<u>Abstract</u>

Neisseria gonorrhoeae (Gc) is the causative agent of the sexually transmitted infection gonorrhea. If left untreated, gonorrhea infections can lead to serious health sequelae including infertility and pelvic inflammatory disease. Gc infection in a human host elicits a potent immune response characterized by a robust recruitment of neutrophils to the site of infection. Despite the immune response, Gc uses a variety of mechanisms to evade killing by neutrophils, allowing for sustained infection, and for viable Gc to be collected from host exudates. One way Gc modulates interactions with human neutrophils is through expression of Opa proteins which interact with CEACAMs. Opa+ Gc are commonly recovered from infected individuals. Previous literature has shown a selection for specific Opa proteins, and that selection seems to be based on their CEACAM binding capability. In this thesis, I sought to determine the capability of Opa proteins to bind to different CEACAMs affects neutrophilic association. I further investigated how those interactions affect neutrophil activation and Gc survival. Understanding these interactions can allow us to better understand the selection for Opa proteins *in vivo*.

Development of a new flow cytometric assay allowed us to determine the CEACAM binding profile of a number of Opa proteins whose binding capabilities had been previously unknown. We were able to characterize the Opa protein binding of both neutrophilic and epithelial expressed CEACAMs. These data allow us to understand not only how Gc interact with neutrophils, but how they are able to interact with mucosal surfaces in the host.

This thesis utilized a system of primary human neutrophils as well as Gc expressing non-variable Opa proteins in a background in which all the other *opa* genes have been deleted. I also used Gc in an Opa variable background in which the expressed Opas were tested with each use. I found that CEACAM binding affects the ability of Gc to associate with neutrophils, and that increased association with neutrophils was correlated with more bacterial death. Overall, binding to both CEACAM1 and CEACAM3 was found to lead to more neutrophilic association and bacterial death, while binding to only CEACAM1 or to no CEACAMs allowed the bacteria to avoid neutrophils and killing. Finally, I found neutrophilic pressure selects for a Gc population that is either Opa- or expresses Opa proteins that do not bind to CEACAM3. Overall, these data allow us to better understand what Opa proteins are likely to be selected for *in vivo*, and further understand how CEACAM binding by these Opa proteins leads to that selection. In the future, quantifying the expression of Opa on Gc as well as CEACAMs on neutrophils, utilizing an inducible Opa system, and developing a biologically relevant binding assay could begin to answer some of the questions raised by this work.

<u>Acknowledgements</u>

I am so lucky to have had such an amazing group of people supporting me as I have earned my PhD. First, my mentor Dr. Alison Criss has been an unwaveringly supportive boss from my first day in lab. She assisted me through technical difficulties in my early days and then helped me make my project what it is today. She helped me grow as a professional, letting me find my own path and helping me become a better scientist. Thank you, Alison.

My thesis committee has been very supportive of the development of my project. At every meeting, I came away with both new exciting ideas for where my project could go as well as a renewed enthusiasm my work. Dr. Isabelle Derré, Dr. Linda Columbus, Dr. Sarah Ewald, and Dr. Ulrike Lorenz, I appreciate everything you did for me through these last six years.

I was fortunate to be surrounded by a group of peers in lab that were both scientifically and personally supportive. Each person I worked with in the Criss lab made my day better every time I walked to my desk. Thank you everyone. A special thank you to Lacie Werner who not only assisted me tremendously in my science but also shared my lab space and made sure every day was fun.

Another exceptional group of my peers made graduate school not only an enriching educational experience but an enjoyable personal one. I came into graduate school and immediately found a group of friends who were able to understand the difficulties of school and supported me both in and out of lab. I am grateful to have found forever friends and lunch buddies.

Personally, I was lucky enough to meet my husband early in my graduate studies. He has been a constant support for me every single day since I met him. He is a shoulder to cry on, a sounding board for my struggles, and the person that gives me a hug and tells me I can do it every time I threatened to quit. Travis, I love you and can never thank you enough for getting me through this. I also owe thanks to my in-laws who are local to Charlottesville and have been a comfort to have around. They are always welcoming and I am grateful to have them close by.

Finally, I would not be here if it were not for my family. My sister Cassie has always made me feel like I can achieve any goal and has always inspired me. My parents, Harry and Kathleen, have never once doubted me in anything I have done in my life. They never let me put myself down and remind me constantly that I deserve to be where I am and that I can do anything. Without their constant love and phone calls, I would not have made it to this point. I am forever thankful for the people surrounding me, making this PhD and my life better.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 NEISSERIA GONORRHOEAE	1
1.1.1 Clinical Manifestations	1
1.2 THE NEUTROPHILIC IMMUNE RESPONSE	2
1.2.1 Neutrophil Recruitment to Infection	3
1.2.2 Neutrophil Phagocytosis	4
1.2.2.1 The CEACAM Family of Receptors	5
1.2.3 Granule Mobilization	9
1.2.4 Release of Reactive Oxygen Species	12
1.3 GC EVADES NEUTROPHIL ANTIMICROBIAL ACTIVITY	13
1.3.1 Nutrient Acquisition Factors	15
1.3.2 Defenses against Cationic Antimicrobial Peptides	16
1.3.3 Evasion of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps	17
1.3.4 Gc Evasion of Phagocytosis	20
1.3.5 Suppression of Reactive Oxygen Species Production	22
1.3.5.1 Antioxidant Defenses	23
1.3.6 Manipulation of Phagosome Maturation	24
1.3.6.1 Role of Peptidoglycan dynamics	26
1.4 GC SURFACE COMPONENT VARIATION	26
1.4.1 Antigenic Variation	28
1.4.2 Phase Variation	29
1.4.2.1 LOS phase variation	29
1.4.2.2 Opa protein phase variation	30
1.5 OPA PROTEIN ROLE IN AVOIDANCE OF IMMUNE RESPONSE	31
1.5.1 Expression of Opa proteins	32
1.5.2 Opa protein extracellular loops	32
1.5.3 Opa protein function	34
1.5.4 Opa Protein Interaction with CEACAMs	35
1.5.5 Selection for Opas in vivo	36
1.6 DISSERTATION GOALS AND SIGNIFICANCE	37
CHAPTER 2. IMACINIC FLOW CYTOMETRY ANALYSIS OF CEACAM	
RINDING TO OPA-FYPRESSING NEISSERIA CONORRHOFAE	40
	40
2.1 INTRODUCTION	41
2.2 RESULTS	44

2.2.1 Confirmation of a Specific Interaction between Opa and CEACA	M by
Imaging Flow Cytometry	44
2.2.2 Titration of N-CEACAMs using OpaD+ Gc	51
2.2.3 CEACAM Binding by each of Four Opa proteins	57
2.3 DISCUSSION	58
2.4 MATERIALS AND METHODS	62
2.4.1 Creation of Recombinant N-CEACAMs 4, 5, 6, and 8	62
2.4.2 Site Directed Mutagenesis for the Creation of CEACAM1-	
I87A/Q89A/I91A	63
2.4.3 GST-CEACAM Protein Purification	64
2.4.4 Gc Isolates and Growth Conditions	64
2.4.5 Opa-CEACAM Pulldown	65
2.4.6 Bacterial Staining	66
2.4.7 Data Acquisition	66
2.4.8 Data Analysis	67
2.4.9 Statistics	68
CHAPTER 3: VARIABLE EXPRESSION OF OPA PROTEINS BY NEISS	ERIA
GONORRHOEAE INFLUENCES BACTERIAL ASSOCIATION AND	
PHAGOCYTIC KILLING BY HUMAN NEUTROPHILS	69
2 1 INTRODUCTION	70
3.2.1 Cc Expressing Ong Proteins of Different Recenter-hinding Profil	
Differentially Activate Human Neutronhile	73
3 2 2 CFACAM3 Engagement is Associated with Increased Bacterial B	indina
and Phagocutosis hu Neutronhils	81
3 2 3 Survival of Gc from Primary Human Neutronhils is Modulated k	
Bacterial Ona Expression Profile	'9 88
3.2.4 Ona-recentor Interactions do not Affect the Survival or Maturiti	v of
Phagosomes Containing Opa+ Gc inside Human Neutrophils	, ej
3.2.5 Outgrowth of Ona-negative Gonococci in a Population of Ona I	Phase
ON Bacteria that Highly Associate with Neutrophils	
3.3 DISCUSSION	105
3.4 MATERIALS AND METHODS	112
3.4.1 Bacteria Used in this Study	112
3.4.2 Bacterial Growth Conditions	117
	113
3.4.3 CEACAM Binding of Opa+ Gc using Imaging Flow Cytometry	113 114

3.4.4 Neutrophil Isolation	115			
3.4.5 Neutrophil ROS Production				
3.4.6 Imaging Flow Cytometric Analysis of Bacterial Association with	and			
Internalization by Neutrophils	115			
3.4.7 Gc Survival in the Presence of Primary Human Neutrophils	116			
3.4.8 Determination of Intracellular and Extracellular Bacterial Viabili	ty 117			
3.4.9 Neutrophil Phagosome Maturity	117			
3.4.10 Degranulation	118			
3.4.11 Fluorescence Microscopy	118			
3.4.12 Statistics	119			
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	120			
4.1 SUMMARY	120			
4.2 BIOLOGICALLY RELEVANT NEUTROPHIL/GC INTERACTIONS.	125			
4.2.1 CEACAM Binding Capability of Opa Expressing Gc	125			
4.2.1.1 Effects of Glycosylation on Opa/CEACAM Interactions	126			
4.2.1.2 Variation in Opa Proteins	127			
4.2.1.3 Binding Affinity to CEACAMs	128			
4.2.1.4 Opa Protein Expression on the Surface of Gc	129			
4.2.1.5 Opa Interactions with other Gc Surface Components	130			
4.2.2 Binding to Neutrophils via non-CEACAM Receptors	131			
4.3 NEUTROPHIL SIGNALING DOWNSTREAM OF CEACAMS 1 ANI)3			
	131			
4.3.1 CEACAM Signaling in Primary Human Neutrophils	132			
4.3.2 Formation of the NADPH Oxidase	134			
4.4 NEUTROPHIL RECEPTOR EXPRESSION	135			
4.4.1 CEACAM Expression on Neutrophils	135			
4.4.2 CEACAM1 Isoforms	136			
4.5 OTHER FACTORS AFFECTING SELECTION AGAINST OPA				
EXPRESSION	138			
4.6 OVERALL CONCLUSIONS	139			
REFERENCES	142			

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Signaling downstream of neutrophils CEACAMs 1 and 37
Figure 1.2 Maturation of the Gc phagosome in neutrophils10
Figure 1.3 Gram stain of a gonorrheal exudate from an individual with uncomplicated urethral gonorrhea14
Figure 1.4 Defenses of Gc against neutrophil antimicrobial components19
Figure 1.5 Phagocytosis of Gc by neutrophils21
Figure 1.6 Structure and sequence of Opas33
Figure 2.1 Gating strategy of CEACAM Pulldown45
Figure 2.2 Imaging flow cytometry can detect the binding of N-CEACAM1 to Opa- expressing Gc48
Figure 2.3 Determination of the optimal final working concentration for N- CEACAMs
Figure 2.4 CEACAM binding profiles of Opa proteins55
Figure 3.1 Receptor-binding profile of selected Opa proteins and elicitation of the neutrophil oxidative burst74
Figure 3.2 Opa nucleotide and amino acid sequences used in this study78
Figure 3.3 Expression of different Opa proteins differentially affects binding and phagocytosis of Gc by primary human neutrophils
Figure 3.4 Histograms of Gc of different Opa expression states associating with neutrophils over time
Figure 3.5 Differential survival of Gc of different Opa expression states after exposure to primary human neutrophils
Figure 3.6 Opa expression state does not affect viability of Gc in the intracellular or extracellular compartments of neutrophils, or the release of neutrophil primary granules
Figure 3.7 Neutrophil challenge selects for phase-OFF expression of Opa proteins that drive association of Gc with neutrophils, increasing overall survival of the population of Gc97
Figure 3.8 Survival of Opa phase ON and phase OFF Gc within a variable Opa- expressing population of Gc after neutrophil challenge100

Figure 3.9 Opa phase-variable Gc grown in medium without neutrophils mainta	ins
the starting Opa phenotype	104
Figure 4.1 Increased association by CEACAM1 + 3 binding Opa+ Gc increases	
neutrophil activation and increased Gc population death	123
List of Tables	
Table 1 Selected contents of neutrophil granules	11

Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION

This chapter contains modified portions of the previously published article: Palmer A, Criss AK. Gonococcal Defenses against Antimicrobial Activities of Neutrophils. Trends Microbiol. 2018 Dec;26 (1)

1.1 NEISSERIA GONORRHOEAE

Neisseria gonorrhoeae, or the gonococcus (Gc), is a Gram-negative diplococcus that is the causative agent of the sexually transmitted infection gonorrhea. Gonorrhea is transmitted via sexual contact with an infected individual, and there is no reservoir for Gc outside the human body. Over the past several decades, Gc has acquired resistance to essentially every antibiotic commonly used to treat it. The number of Gc infections has also begun to increase over the last few years, with ~1.14 million cases occurring annually in the United States in 2019 (2). These reasons led to the notorious designation of Gc as one of the top three "urgent threats" on the CDC's list of antimicrobial resistant pathogens (2).

1.1.1 Clinical Manifestations

Gc presents commonly as cervicitis in women and as acute urethritis in men, though infection can also occur in the pharynx, the rectal mucosa, or the conjunctiva (3). Rarely, Gc can disseminate into the bloodstream and cause more severe infection in the host, potentially causing arthritis, meningitis, or endocarditis. Men with gonorrhea are more commonly symptomatic than women, and as such women are more likely to have an untreated Gc infection. With appropriate rapid antibiotic treatment, Gc is cleared from the body with minimal tissue damage. If the infection is left untreated or antibiotics are ineffective, serious sequelae can occur such as pelvic inflammatory disease, an increased risk of ectopic pregnancy, and infertility (4, 5). Further, Gc can be transmitted vertically to a neonate during the birthing process. This mode of transmission leads to Gc being one of the leading causes of bacterial blindness in infants globally (6).

1.2 THE NEUTROPHILIC IMMUNE RESPONSE

Upon Gc infection into a human host, the immune system reacts to Gc infection with an innate immune response characterized by a robust recruitment of neutrophils to the site of infection. Purulent exudates from both men and women with Gc infection are characterized by high numbers of neutrophils (7, 8). Neutrophils, or polymorphonuclear leukocytes, are terminally differentiated cells and are the most abundant leukocytes in human blood. Neutrophils form from multipotent progenitor cells and transition into granulocyte progenitor cells. Exposure to glycoprotein granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) commits the cells to becoming neutrophils (9). As neutrophils are formed, they create three subsets of granules, each containing proteins required for different activity. The first to form while the cells are promyelocytes are primary granules, followed by secondary granules at the myelocyte stage, and finally tertiary granules at the band cell stage (10). Upon activation, these granules are released in the reverse order from which they were formed in order to assist in cell migration and antimicrobial activity (discussed in section 1.2.3) (11).

Trillions of neutrophils are produced by the body each day (12), where they are released into the blood stream, die within 7-10 hours, and are phagocytosed by macrophages (13, 14). Due to the high number of neutrophils in the body, the release of neutrophils into the blood stream is highly regulated (9). Newly differentiated neutrophils express CXCR4 which binds to CXCL12, a ligand expressed on the surface of bone marrow stromal cells (10, 15). G-CSF is a key regulator in releasing neutrophils from the bone marrow (16), by interrupting the binding of CXCR4 and CXCL12 (17) as well as reducing the expression of CXCL12 on the surface of bone marrow stromal cells (18, 19). Once in the blood stream, neutrophils are available to respond to injury within the host.

1.2.1 Neutrophil Recruitment to Infection

Mucosal infection with Gc or other microbes, as well as sterile injury, results in the production of chemoattractants, such as interleukin-8 (IL-8), that promote the extravasation of neutrophils from the bloodstream into the infected tissue (20, 21). Neutrophils respond to chemokine gradients by migrating towards the site of infection where they initially interact with endothelial cells via selectins (22).

Microbial structures such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) induce the expression of selectins on the surface on endothelial cells (23). Selectins are a family of adhesion receptors found on both endothelial cells (P-selectin, E-selectin) (24, 25) and leukocytes (L-selectin) (26). Selectins on endothelial cells interact with leukocytes via the C-type lectin domain at their N-terminus. The interaction between selectins is relatively weak which slows down the neutrophils on the endothelial layer (22, 27). The neutrophils then crawl on the surface of the cells in an intracellular adhesion molecule (ICAM) dependent manner to locate a site to transmigrate through the cells to reach the site of microbial infection (28). Both selectins and ICAMs are upregulated by chemokines including IL-1, TNF- α , or LPS (29–32). Once receptor binding and rolling has slowed neutrophils at the site of infection, IL-8 signaling initiates neutrophil migration to the endothelium, but additional signals including hepoxilin A₃ and leukotriene B₄ drive neutrophils to fully transmigrate and also recruit more neutrophils to the site of infection (33– 36). When neutrophils are in inflammatory conditions and are exposed to chemokines such as TNF- α or IFN- γ , they upregulate their phagocytic receptors in preparation for microbial interactions (37–39).

1.2.2 Neutrophil Phagocytosis

Neutrophils are professional phagocytes with the capability to internalize microbes in both opsonic and non-opsonic manners. Antibody opsonization of

the surface expressed components on Gc allows neutrophils to recognize a pathogen and engulf it via either an Fc receptor recognizing IgG or complement receptors (40). Fc receptors expression is upregulated when neutrophils sense chemokines indicating infection (41). Binding to either of these receptors leads to ITAM phosphorylation which initiates activation of Src family kinases, followed by Syk, PI3K, PLC- γ , Rac, and Rho which leads to microbial phagocytosis by neutrophils (42, 43).

Neutrophils can also phagocytose microbes like Gc in a non-opsonic manner. Recognition of opacity associated (Opa) proteins by CEACAM initiates a nonopsonic internalization of the bacteria (44, 45). Discussion of Opa proteins can be found below in section 1.4.2.2 and 1.5. CEACAM3 binding leads to phosphorylation of the ITAM by Src family kinases members which in turn recruits Syk. This activation stimulates the GTPase Rac through Vav, initiating actin reorganization and bacterial entry via a phagosomal cup (46–49).

1.2.2.1 The CEACAM Family of Receptors

The phagocytic CEACAMs are part of a family of 12 glycosylated Ig receptors in which all the receptors have an IgV like N-terminal domain followed by a varied number of immunoglobulin-like constant domains (50). All of the CEACAMs, except CEACAM16, are plasma membrane anchored and face extracellularly, either with a glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor, or with a transmembrane domain that ends in a cytosolic signaling motif (CEACAMS 1, 3, and 4). Neutrophils express CEACAMs 1, 3, 4, 6, and 8.

CEACAM1 is found on neutrophils as well as epithelial cells, endothelial cells, T cells, B cells natural killer cells, and macrophages. The C terminus of CEACAM1 contains an immunoreceptor tyrosine based inhibitory motif (ITIM) that extends into the cytosol of neutrophils (Figure 1.1). CEACAM1 signaling is characterized by recruitment of tyrosine phosphatases such as SHP-1 (51). SHP-1 recruitment has been shown to lead to downregulation of T cell activation, reducing processes such as ZAP-70 phosphorylation, Th1 and Th2 cytokine production, and cell proliferation (51–53).



FIGURE 1.1: Signaling downstream of neutrophils CEACAMs 1 and 3

CEACAM1 (green) ITIM phosphorylation leads to recruitment of tyrosine phosphatases SHP-1 and SHP-2 that inhibit cellular activity. CEACAM3 (yellow) ITAM phosphorylation leads to a signaling cascade initiated by recruitment of phosphorylated Src family kinases. This recruitment leads to downstream activation of Vav and Rac. This pathway initiates cellular antimicrobial activity. CEACAM3 contains an immunotyrosine tyrosine based activation motif (ITAM) and initiates pro-inflammatory signaling cascades in conjunction with TLR signaling through Bcl10 (48, 54, 55). Downstream of CEACAM3, there is recruitment of Syk, Src, Hck and other kinases (55–57), which lead to phagocytosis, granule mobilization, and formation of the NADPH oxidase complex (47, 58). CEACAM3 is unique to granulocytes, implying that it has evolved to promote bacterial killing (59). The Criss lab and others have shown that Opa+ Gc that engage CEACAM3 are readily phagocytosed, induce a potent oxidative burst, and are killed by human neutrophils (58, 60, 61). The proposed signaling of CEACAMs 1 and 3 in neutrophils is shown in Figure 1.1.

Unlike CEACAM1 and CEACAM3, CEACAM6 is glycophosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchored in the membrane of neutrophils. It acts as an adhesion receptor that interacts with CEACAM6 in homotypic interactions as well as heterotypic interactions with CEACAMs 1, 5, and 8 (62, 63). CEACAM6 has also been implicated in cancer signaling (64, 65), and patients with cancer (colorectal, breast, and pancreatic) often see an increased expression of CEACAM6 on their cell surfaces (65, 66). CEACAM6 on neutrophils acts as an adhesin to endothelial cells (62).

1.2.3 Granule Mobilization

Neutrophils contain three subsets of granules. Granule mobilization occurs upon increase of intracellular Ca²⁺ or initiation of signaling of Src kinases (67). Activation causes neutrophil granule components to mobilize to and fuse with the cell membrane to release their components extracellularly, or fuse with a bacteria-containing phagosome and release their contents to expose the pathogen to antimicrobial factors inside the cell (Figure 1.2). Each subset of granules each contains different antimicrobial components (Table 1) (68, 69).



Figure 1.2: Maturation of phagosomes in neutrophils

Left, Opa+ bacteria that interact with CEACAMs are directed into a mature phagolysosome which has fused with both secondary (grey) and primary (green) granules. The majority of Gc that are immediately directed into phagolysosomes are killed. Similar observations are made for IgG-opsonized bacteria that interact with $Fc\gamma$ receptors (not depicted). Right, in contrast, Opa- bacteria are phagocytosed into a phagosome that is delayed for fusion with primary granules. The majority of Gc in immature phagosomes survive.

GRANULES	CATEGORY	CONTENTS
		a-defensins
	Antimicrobial	Bacteriocidal/Permeability Increasing
	proteins	Protein
		Azurocidin
Primary	ROS production	Myeloperoxidase
		Cathepsin G
	Serine Proteases	Proteinase
		Neutrophil Elastase
	Degradative enzymes	Lysozyme
Secondary	Antimicrobial	Lactoferrin
	proteins	LL-37
	Degradative enzymes	Collagenase
		Gelatinase
		Lysozyme
	ROS production	Cytochrome b558
Tertiary	Degradative enzymes	Gelatinase
		Lysozyme
	ROS production	Cytochrome b558

Table 1: Selected contents of neutrophil granules

Tertiary granules are the first to mobilize and contain the least antimicrobial components. They are followed by secondary then primary granules (70). Mobilization is initiated by receptor binding and signaling within the cell, beginning with an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ (71). Src family kinases also play a major role in granule mobilization, though different kinases in this family affect mobilization of certain subsets of granules: Hck has been shown to be recruited to primary granules while Fgr is recruited to secondary granules (72, 73). Release of granule components to intracellular phagosomes or the extracellular environment is a way for neutrophils to expose both intracellular and extracellular pathogens to potent antimicrobial factors. The antimicrobial activity of primary granules is attributed in part to serine proteases that degrade bacterial membrane proteins as well as process antimicrobial peptides into their mature, active form. Src and Syk kinase activities are implicated in primary granule mobilization to neutrophil phagosomes (47, 56, 57).

1.2.4 Release of Reactive Oxygen Species

In neutrophils, signaling in response to extracellular stimuli leads to the coassembly of the cytoplasmic and membrane-associated subunits of the NADPH oxidase enzyme, leading to the release of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (74). Formation of the NADPH complex occurs through recruitment of the cytosolic components p47^{phox}, p67^{phox}, p40^{phox} to the plasma membrane or phagosome membrane where they associate with gp91^{phox} and p22^{phox} (60, 75). This signaling is mediated via Syk and PI3K (76, 77). Once fully formed, NADPH oxidase converts molecular oxygen to superoxide anion, which dismutates into hydrogen peroxide. The primary granule enzyme myeloperoxidase can then convert hydrogen peroxide into hypochlorous acid, an extremely potent oxidant.

1.3 GC EVADES NEUTROPHIL ANTIMICROBIAL ACTIVITY

Viable Gc are commonly found in exudates from infected individuals (Figure 1.3), despite the gauntlet of antimicrobial activity the human body has developed to kill infecting pathogens.



Figure 1.3: Gram stain of a gonorrheal exudate from an individual with uncomplicated urethral gonorrhea. Exudates contain neutrophils with associated Gc, which are found both inside (black arrows) and attached (blue arrows) to the cells.

Pioneering work from Harry Smith and colleagues showed that Gc is phagocytosed by human neutrophils *ex vivo* and *in vivo* and survives inside them (78–80). These observations imply that the neutrophilic immune response to Gc is not effective, despite neutrophils having multiple mechanisms for bacterial killing. These mechanisms include phagocytosis of bacteria, fusion of antimicrobial containing granules to the bacterial phagosome, production of ROS, and release of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). Gc uses multiple approaches to enhance its survival in the presence of neutrophils, facilitating bacterial persistence and spread within and between hosts. In this section of my thesis, I will describe the known ways in which Gc evades killing by some of the body's responses to infection.

1.3.1 Nutrient Acquisition Factors

Gc has the ability to scavenge essential metals from the host proteins that are meant to sequester the metals from invading microorganisms (81). This activity is predominantly carried out by transporters that use the energy of the TonB-ExbB-ExbD system to shuttle metals across the outer membrane and transfer them to inner membrane transport systems for delivery to the cytoplasm (82). There are TonB-dependent transporters in Gc that contribute to metal acquisition, including the zinc transporter TdfJ, and TbpAB and LbpAB, which access iron from human transferrin and lactoferrin, respectively (83, 84). Neutrophils predominantly use glycolysis for ATP production, through which D-lactate is produced (85). Gc encodes two D-lactate dehydrogenases, one cytoplasmic (LdhA) and the other membrane bound (LdhD), as well as an Llactate dehydrogenase (LldD) (86). LdhA and LdhD contribute to the prolonged survival of Gc inside immune cells. The female genital tract also has high levels of lactate produced by the resident microbiota, suggesting lactate utilization affords Gc an additional metabolic niche *in vivo* (87). Interestingly, exposure to lactate stimulates Gc oxidative metabolism and has been proposed as a mechanism to thwart neutrophil ROS production (88, 89). Thus, utilization of lactate can enhance Gc survival during infection in multiple, non-redundant ways.

1.3.2 Defenses against Cationic Antimicrobial Peptides

During infection, Gc is exposed to two major families of cationic antimicrobial peptides (CAMP), the defensins and the cathelicidin LL-37. These peptides are made by neutrophils and also found in mucosal secretions at sites Gc infects in the human body. A peptide derived from the serine protease cathepsin G also has antimicrobial activity (90, 91). The MtrCDE efflux pump exports CAMPs as well as antibiotics and toxic dyes from the Gc cytoplasm and is crucial for Gc survival in the mouse genital tract (92). Gc detects increasing levels of CAMPs using the MisRS two-component system. The MisR response regulator controls

expression of 94 target genes, 59% of which are involved in envelope integrity of Gc, implying that the MisR response to high levels of CAMPs is to decrease the ability of these antimicrobial peptides to enter Gc (93).

1.3.3 Evasion of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps

First described in a seminal paper by the Zychlinsky group in 2004, NETs are structures composed of DNA that is covered in histones and other CAMPs that are released from neutrophils (94). Canonical NET release via phorbol esters requires ROS production and a cell death pathway termed NETosis. However, NET release without cell death has also been reported (95). Infection with Gc induces NET release from human neutrophils under conditions where the oxidative burst does not occur, suggesting an alternative pathway of NET formation that remains to be elucidated (96). NETs kill microbes in two ways: by increasing the local concentration of CAMPs and by sequestering essential nutrients through proteins like calprotectin (97, 98). Gc has evolved ways to overcome both these antimicrobial strategies. Lipooligosaccharide phosphoethanolamine transferase A (LptA) (see section 1.3.6) is critical for survival of Gc in the presence of NETs, likely due to susceptibility of *lptA* mutant Gc to CAMPs contained within NETs. Gc uses the TonB-dependent transporter TdfH to extract zinc from the abundant neutrophil protein calprotectin in order to survive in NETs (83). Interestingly, TdfH is part of the MisR regulon in Gc

strain FA19, suggesting a connection between cationic antimicrobial peptide

(CAMP) sensing and nutrient acquisition (Figure 1.4) (93).



Figure 1.4: Defenses of Gc against neutrophil antimicrobial components

Gc (purple displococcus) both inside the Gc containing phagosome (yellow) and outside of the neutrophil in close apposition with NETs (red lines). Depicted here are selected bacterial defenses that contribute to survival from intracellular antimicrobial components as well as NETs including the metalloprotease Mpg, the LOS-modifying enzyme LptA, the peptidoglycan lytic transglycosylases LtgA and LtgD, the bacterial nucleoid-like protein RecN, and the peptidyl-prolyl isomerase MIP. Further, studies from the Criss lab found that Gc releases Nuc, a thermonuclease that degrades the NET DNA backbone (Figure 1.4) (99). Gc in which the *nuc* gene was deleted were more susceptible to killing by NETs compared with wild-type Gc. Survival of Nuc deficient Gc was restored upon addition of DNase, purified Nuc, and bacterial supernatants from Nuc-expressing bacteria (99). Nuc is present in all Gc strains examined to date, suggesting conserved roles in Gc biology; in fact, Nuc is also important for remodeling of the DNA-based scaffold of Gc biofilms to facilitate efficient bacterial colonization (100, 101).

1.3.4 Gc Evasion of Phagocytosis

Gc employs mechanisms to limit complement deposition on its surface, thus evading complement-mediated opsonophagocytosis. In particular, porin B, the most abundantly expressed outer membrane protein found on Gc, binds to C4 binding protein and factor H, which limit the classical and alternative pathways of complement activation, respectively (Figure 1.5) (102).



Figure 1.5: Phagocytosis of Gc by neutrophils

Left: Gc Opa proteins bind to neutrophil CEACAMs, which drive nonopsonic phagocytosis of Gc. Right: Factor H and C4 binding protein (C4BP) binding to Gc porin prevents the binding of iC3b and subsequent phagocytosis via the CR3 integrin heterodimer. Sialylation of LOS enhances the deposition of Factor H on porin. Sialylation of the lacto-*N*-tetraose moiety on the α chain of LOS enhances factor H deposition on porin, explaining in part the increased resistance of sialylated Gc to phagocytosis (103). Whether opsonic or non-opsonic, Gc avoidance of phagocytosis may be enhanced by phase-variable expression of type IV pili, which facilitate Gc attachment to the uropod of migrating neutrophils to escape phagocytosis at the cells' leading edge (104). Together, these findings indicate a subset of Gc in a population has reduced phagocytic interactions with human neutrophils, implying those bacteria will have a relative survival advantage.

1.3.5 Suppression of Reactive Oxygen Species Production

Gc manipulates delivery of primary granule contents into its phagosome, to limit myeloperoxidase release. Engagement of CEACAM by Opa proteins stimulates a potent oxidative burst in neutrophils, which is directed particularly into the phagosome containing Gc (56, 60). In contrast, neutrophils exposed to Opa- Gc do not generate ROS (105). Specifically, the cytosolic NADPH oxidase subunits p40, p47, and p67 were not recruited to phagosomal or plasma membranes, where the membrane-associated subunits gp91 and p22 were found (60). This was correlated with an absence of p47 phosphorylation, a prerequisite to assembly of the holoenzyme. Moreover, Opa- Gc inhibits the oxidative burst in human neutrophils exposed to stimuli such as formylated peptides and *Staphylococcus aureus* (58, 105). The mechanism behind the suppression remains to be elucidated, but it requires live, metabolically active Gc. *Neisserial* porin has been reported to translocate into the mitochondria of neutrophils and thereby inhibit the oxidative burst (106). Because porin is essential in Gc, these studies used purified porin that was added to human cells. In contrast, a recent study using a porin mutant from the related pathogen *Neisseria meningitidis* found no role for porin in inhibiting the oxidative burst in human neutrophils (107, 108). Thus, the features by which Gc manipulates neutrophil oxidative functions remain enigmatic. Moreover, the role of ROS in the anti-gonococcal activity of neutrophils is questionable due to a variety of Gc defenses against antioxidants (109).

1.3.5.1 Antioxidant Defenses

As an aerobic bacterium, Gc expresses numerous defenses against ROS, including catalase, superoxide dismutase, glutathione peroxidases, a manganese import system, oxidative DNA damage repair enzymes, and methionine sulfoxide reductase (110–113). Gc upregulates numerous genes following exposure to hydrogen peroxide (113). Two of these genes, *ngo1686* and *recN*, confer resistance to both ROS and killing by neutrophils. *ngo1686* encodes a zinc metalloprotease, later named Mpg, which processes the peptide stems of peptidoglycan (114). Mpg expression facilitates full surface presentation of the type IV pilus, a major bacterial adhesin, which was then found to defend Gc from hydrogen peroxide and killing by neutrophils (114). However, the sensitivity of the *ngo1686* mutant to neutrophils was not restored using neutrophils that cannot make ROS. In fact, Gc mutants in *ngo1686* and the type IV pilus were also more sensitive to LL-37. *recN* also conferred resistance to hydrogen peroxide and neutrophils, but susceptibility of a *recN* mutant to neutrophils was ROS-independent. These findings suggest that Gc senses oxidative stress and responds by upregulating gene products that can defend against a variety of host immune components, including neutrophils themselves. However, they also emphasize that "correlation is not causation", and mechanisms of resistance to individual antimicrobial components may not necessarily be phenocopied in the context of infection.

1.3.6 Manipulation of Phagosome Maturation

Downstream of phagocytosis, Gc limits neutrophil phagosome maturation in order to enable bacterial intracellular survival. In neutrophils, the nascent phagosome matures by fusion with cytoplasmic granules (115). The Criss lab showed that Opa- Gc and Gc that are serum (complement)-opsonized are internalized into phagosomes that lack primary granule components (i.e., immature phagosome) (116). Thus, the bacteria are not exposed to these degradative components early in infection. Residence within an immature phagosome correlates with enhanced bacterial viability, and treating neutrophils

with lysophosphatidylcholine to promote primary granule fusion with the Gc phagosome decreases viability of Opa- bacteria (58). Although the Gc phagosome eventually fuses with primary granules, live bacteria are recovered from neutrophils at these later times. Gc may exploit a delay in phagosome maturation in order to upregulate its antimicrobial defenses as an adaptation to the potentially toxic environment inside neutrophils, or more generally in its human host. Further, Gc modifies LOS by addition of phosphoethanolamine to the 4' phosphate on lipid A, catalyzed by LptA (117, 118). The Criss lab found that *lptA* mutant Gc is more likely to reside in primary granule-positive phagolysosomes, an observation linked with a significant reduction in bacterial survival compared with parent Gc (117). Importantly, Opa- bacteria that are heat-killed prior to exposure to neutrophils also reside in immature phagosomes, indicating that manipulation of phagosome maturation does not rely on active Gc processes (60). This is in keeping with the observation that Gc does not encode secretion systems that inject proteins to manipulate host cell functions (119, 120). Instead, this finding suggests that components on the surface of Gc that interface with neutrophil phagocytic receptors, such as Opa proteins, may influence phagosome maturation.

1.3.6.1 Role of Peptidoglycan dynamics

Peptidoglycan turnover in Gc is unique from other Gram-negative bacteria in that peptidoglycan fragments are poorly recycled from the periplasm and instead released extracellularly (121). Gc lytic transglycosylases LtgA and LtgD, which are responsible for release of immunomodulatory peptidoglycan monomer fragments, confer protection against killing by neutrophils, and specifically against lysozyme and the serine protease neutrophil elastase, found in primary granules (122). The mechanism of protection is likely an increase in the amount of envelope integrity of Gc. Deletion of these transglycosylases rendered Gc more sensitive to killing by neutrophils and more likely to traffic to more mature phagosomes. Because both LOS and peptidoglycan are recognized by TLR and NLR innate immune receptors expressed on neutrophils, signaling through those receptors may more generally modulate granule mobilization to phagosomes, but this possibility remains to be fully explored.

1.4 GC SURFACE COMPONENT VARIATION

Previously, I have described the ways in which Gc can avoid the neutrophil antimicrobial response. In this section, I will describe how Gc manipulates the immune response to allow for more favorable outcomes for the bacteria. Gc has a remarkable ability to direct the body towards an immune response that is beneficial for the bacterium. Gc induces a Th-17-like immune response through
transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) regulated mechanisms, leading to the abundant recruitment of neutrophils to the mucosal sites that Gc infects. Antibodies raised against the reduction-modifiable protein (Rmp) on the Gc surface block the antibacterial activity of other anti-gonococcal antibodies, although the underlying mechanism remains enigmatic (123). Gc stimulates high levels of interleukin-10 that, along with regulatory T cells, suppresses T-cellmediated immunity (124).

Antigenic and phase variation (described in sections 1.4.1-1.4.2) along with expression of Rmp limit antibody-mediated recognition of Gc and the potential for Fc receptor-mediated opsonophagocytosis (123). However, the Criss lab reported that Gc opsonized with a rabbit polyclonal antibody was avidly phagocytosed and killed by adherent, primary human neutrophils (58). This finding implies that if a vaccine against Gc that stimulates an Rmp-independent antibody response can be developed, opsonophagocytosis by neutrophils and other phagocytes may be critical to its efficacy. In support of this possibility, the Ram and Rice groups have found that neutrophils contributed to clearance of Gc when the bacteria were opsonized with an experimental vaccine candidate, the 2C7 antibody that recognizes the β -chain lactose of Gc LOS (125).

To avoid antibody opsonization, Gc undergoes high-frequency variation of antigenic surface structures important for infection. This includes antigenic variation of type IV pili as well as phase variation of lipooligosaccharide (LOS) and Opa proteins (126–128). Both forms of variation are imperative to bacterial avoidance of the immune response as they alter the surface expressed structures initially recognized by the immune system. The adaptive immune system can create IgG and IgA against the variable Gc surface components (129–131), but their variability makes it unlikely the bacteria will be recognized upon repeat infection. With each surface structure variation, the immune system must make new antibodies against the new structure.

1.4.1 Antigenic Variation

One of the main structural components of Gc that undergoes antigenic variation are pili. Gc pili are multi-complex proteins, with the major component being the variable *pilE* (132). Pili are expressed on the surface of Gc and are involved in attachment to epithelial and endothelial cells, as well as DNA uptake, resistance to neutrophil killing, and bacterial twitching mobility (133–137). Previous studies have shown that attachment by pili to host cells occurs through interactions with membrane cofactor protein (MCP; CD46), though more recent studies dispute this claim (138–140). Type IV pili undergo antigenic variation via replacement of portions of *pilE* with a one of 10-20 silent *pilS* genes located throughout the genome via homologous recombination (141). This recombination is mediated by *recA* (142). Because of the high amount of surface component variability, in this thesis we utilized Gc strains in which the bacteria cannot undergo the antigenic variation of pili (105, 143).

1.4.2 Phase Variation

Phase variation is an important type of immune evasion found in many bacterial pathogens (144). It is characterized by the on/off switch of a surface component due to a genetic mechanism and occurs independent of recombination machinery. Phase variation is a useful tool to evade the adaptive immune system as it alters or changes the bacterially expressed surface structures. This makes it difficult for an immune response to successfully recognize a population. Phase variation can occur by either DNA inversion, leading to generation of a different protein (145), or by altering the number of nucleotide repeats in the sequence of a gene to affect either localization, expression, or confirmation of that protein. Many pathogens utilize phase variation to evade the immune system including *Bordetella pertussis (fim3)* (146), *Haemophilus influenzae (hif)* (147), and *Moraxella catterhalis (uspA1)* (148).

1.4.2.1 LOS phase variation

LOS are main non-proteinaceous surface expressed structure on Gc. LOS is comprised of an oligosaccharide anchored into the membrane with Lipid A. LOS has been implicated in stimulation of the immune system via interactions with Toll Like Receptor 4 (TLR4) as well as interaction with host cells for adherence and invasion (149–151). Some human challenge studies have shown that which of the LOS variants is expressed on the surface of Gc may play a role in how symptomatic the infection is in males (7). LOS undergoes phase variation through slipped strand mispairing of a number of genes contained within the same operon (*lgtACD*) (152). During DNA replication, the DNA polymerase can "slip" off the repeated sequence and restart at the incorrect location. This can add or remove nucleotides from the sequence, changing the frame in which the DNA will be translated (153). Dependent on which of these genes are expressed, the length of the oligosaccharide expressed changes. Only the shorter forms of the oligosaccharide structure can be sialylated while the longer stays unmodified (152).

1.4.2.2 Opa protein phase variation

Gc utilizes phase variability for multiple surface components including Opa proteins. Opa proteins undergo phase variability via slipped strand mispairing that occurs in the coding region of each of the ~11 *opa* genes found in the genome due to pentameric repeats of CTCTT (154). Opa phase variability occurs at an estimated 10⁻³ per cell per generation (155). Expression of these proteins is advantageous to Gc in the context of human infection. Human challenge studies have shown infection with phenotypically non Opa expressing (Opa-) bacteria results in collection of Opa expressing Gc at the end of the study (156). Phase variation of Gc surface structures influences non-opsonic interactions with neutrophils. In particular, non-opsonic phagocytosis of Gc by human neutrophils is mediated by Opa proteins that interact with CEACAMs (157). The interaction between Opa and CEACAM is important for many of the antimicrobial responses discussed above (phagocytosis, release of ROS, granule mobilization), therefore, understanding how this interaction occurs and the way the immune response is controlled is imperative to understand Gc evasion of the immune system.

1.5 OPA PROTEIN ROLE IN AVOIDANCE OF IMMUNE RESPONSE

Gonorrheal exudates contain significant amounts of neutrophils, many of which are associated with bound and intracellular Gc (Figure 1.3), and Gc can be readily cultured from neutrophil-rich exudates (158). Gc collected from patient exudates are not only viable, but they commonly express Opa proteins (156). Despite the overall success of Gc in evading killing by neutrophils in many conditions, not all Gc are successful, and some bacteria are killed. Previous work in the Criss lab has shown that expression of the OpaD protein leads to significant bacterial death in the presence of neutrophils (57), which would suggest Opa protein expression is detrimental to Gc, but other literature has shown that there is a selection for Opa expressing bacteria *in vivo* (156). It is important to understand how Opa proteins affect Gc interactions with neutrophils and how expressing different Opa proteins play a role in those interactions. In this section, I will discuss the importance of Opa proteins for Gc and their function in infection and avoidance of the immune response.

1.5.1 Expression of Opa proteins

If read in frame, *opa* genes are translated into Opa proteins, which are eight stranded beta barrels that span the outer membrane of Gc. Opa proteins are named due to the opaque phenotype seen when Opa expressing Gc are grown on agar (156). The opacity is caused by differential bacterial aggregation when the bacteria are grown on plates, leading to light refraction giving the colonies an opaque look (159, 160). The aggregation is affected not only by the Opa protein expressed and how they interact, but also how the Opa proteins interact with the LOS expressed (161).

1.5.2 Opa protein extracellular loops

Opa proteins have four loops that extend into the extracellular environment. Loop one is semi-conserved between all Opa proteins. Loops 2-3 contain variable regions, while a portion of the fourth loop is conserved (162). The variable regions of loops two and three confer the ability of Opa proteins to bind to receptors. The features of Opa proteins that dictate receptor specificity are independent of primary sequence and instead result from conformations achieved by their extracellular loops (163) (Figure 1.6).





Figure 1.6 Structure and sequence of Opa protein

A) Structure of an Opa protein characterized by the eight stranded beta barrel and the four extracellular loops

B) The nucleotide sequence of the open reading frame and flanking sequence of FA1090

opaF (Genbank accession number NC_002946). The 20 CTCTT repeats (referenced in

section 1.4.2.2) that lead to the phase variation are shown in red.

Mutating an Opa protein such that individual loops from different Opa proteins with known binding capabilities are placed together to form a new protein changes the binding ability of the Opa (163). This indicates that the interaction of the loops affect the structure of the protein, and change the binding preference of the Opa protein. Due to the variable nature of Opa and the structural requirement for receptor binding, it is not currently known what amino acids are important for receptor binding in Opa proteins.

1.5.3 Opa protein function

The main function of Opa proteins is adhesion to host cells where they are used to confer an intimate attachment to epithelial cells following initial attachment by pili (155, 164). Previous work has shown that Gc interacting with epithelial cells via Opa proteins leads to a higher bacterial load for a longer period. Further, Opa proteins binding to receptors on the surface of epithelial cells prevents epithelial shedding which is one of the main mechanisms by which hosts clear pathogens attached to the epithelium (165). Shedding of infected cells is a common way to clear infection but signaling downstream of the bound receptors inhibits this process, so Gc on the epithelium are able to stay in the host for longer (166). Binding surface receptors confers a close attachment to the epithelial cells, and as the Gc are in anaerobic conditions within a host, they release nitric oxide (NO). Since the Gc are so close to the host cells, the NO is able to penetrate the cells which leads to upregulation of CD105 on the surface of the epithelial cells. Upregulation of the TGF-β1 receptor CD105 increases integrin activity and leads to more extracellular matrix interactions, which in turn decreases the likelihood of the cells shedding (166). This interaction is shown to be specific to pathogen interactions with CEACAMs, as CEACAM homotypic binding does not confer the same phenotype (165). Without Opa expression leading to the increase in CD105, epithelial cells shed and remove attached bacteria, indicating that Opa expression is important for a sustained infection.

1.5.4 Opa Protein Interaction with CEACAMs

The major receptor for Opa proteins on the surface of human epithelial cells and neutrophils are CEACAMs, though some Opa proteins also have the capability to bind to heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) using either vitronectin or fibronectin as a bridge to adhesion (167, 168). Previous studies have shown that Opa proteins have the capability to bind to CEACAMs 1, 3, 5, and 6 (157). As CEACAM1, CEACAM3, and CEACAM6 are expressed on neutrophils and bind Opas, understanding how Opa proteins interact with these receptors and what the outcomes of that interaction are is of interest.

The interaction between Opa proteins and CEACAMs is important for both the bacteria and the immune system. Binding to CEACAMs for Gc can confer a more sustained infection in a host. The immune system hijacks that need of the bacteria by expressing CEACAMs as a way to attempt to kill pathogens. In fact, epidemiological evidence suggests that the Gc *opa* genes are under evolutionary selective pressure to avoid binding to CEACAM3 while maintaining binding to CEACAM1 and other CEACAMs that assist in epithelial colonization (169).

Activation of CEACAMs by Opa protein binding can lead to a multitude of downstream signaling activities in neutrophils, including phagocytosis, release of ROS, and phagosome maturation as described above (section 1.3). Further, Opa proteins interact with receptors on T cells. CEACAM1 is expressed on T cells and normally inhibits T-cell proliferation and activation (51). When Opa proteins interact with CEACAM1, they downregulate T cell function, inhibiting the ability of the adaptive immune system to have an appropriate response and recognize Gc in the future. These activities may differ dependent upon the way the Opa protein interacts with the CEACAMs.

1.5.5 Selection for Opas *in vivo*

As not all Opa proteins interact similarly with epithelial cells or immune cells, dependent upon which CEACAMs they can bind. As such, not all Opa proteins appear in infection at similar rates. It appears that the Opa proteins on Gc recovered from infection are not random, but what leads to their selection is as of yet unknown. Opa protein expression studied during infection in both female mice and human males found that certain Opa proteins appeared on the recovered viable Gc more frequently than others, specifically Opa proteins F, I, B, and C of strains FA1090 in humans (170, 171). These proteins were found throughout symptomatic infection in a majority of infected patients. OpaF was commonly recovered especially if OpaF+ Gc were present in the initial inoculum, suggesting that OpaF is important for initial infection as well as a sustained infection. Conversely, OpaI+ Gc appeared later in infection regardless of the presence of OpaI in the initial inoculum (171). Appearing later in infection would suggest an importance in conferring a sustained infection, but less of a role during initial infection of the host.

Sintsova et al. investigated the CEACAM binding capabilities of clinical Gc and observed a selection for Gc expressing Opa proteins that bound to CEACAM1 alone, with a much small proportion of the isolates collected showing binding capability to CEACAM3 (169). These results suggest that the receptor binding of Opa proteins affects how likely they are to successfully infect and sustain infection in a host. Since *opa* genes vary not only within a strain but between strains, many of which have unknown receptor binding specificities, findings from one study can usually not be extrapolated to others.

1.6 DISSERTATION GOALS AND SIGNIFICANCE

An open question in the field drove this thesis work: How does differential CEACAM binding drive the selection for Gc expressing Opa proteins when

confronted with neutrophils during infection? Answering this question will give important insight into the contributions of Opa proteins to Gc pathogenesis, as well as the role of differential CEACAM binding in Gc survival inside a host. Given the overall resistance of Gc to neutrophilic killing despite close contact with the immune cells, my thesis focused on how the phase variable Opa proteins of Gc modulate bacterial/neutrophil interactions. This focus stems from the observation that exudates from infected patients are commonly Opa positive, regardless of Opa expression at time of infection. Prior to this work, our lab published data showing that expression of OpaD on the surface of Gc strain FA1090 led to significant death of the bacteria in the presence of primary human neutrophils (57). However, this work did not take into account that not all Opa proteins interact with neutrophils via the same receptors. Strain FA1090, which I utilize throughout this thesis, was isolated from a patient with disseminated gonococcal infection, and is now a commonly used laboratory strain (172). As Gc undergoes high levels of recombination and variation clinically, the Opas in FA1090 may not be found in clinical isolates, but their CEACAM binding capability allows us to utilize them as a tool.

My main goal was to determine how receptor specificity affected the survival of Gc in the presence of primary human neutrophils. Considering the ability of some Opa proteins to interact with CEACAM1 only while others can bind to

both CEACAMs 1 and 3, and others still interact with CEACAM6, we initially hypothesized that there would be differential survival phenotypes due to signaling downstream of the bound CEACAMs. We hypothesized the ITIM of CEACAM1 would either not activate the more antimicrobial activities of neutrophils (ROS, phagocytosis, granule mobilization) or inhibit those activities via recruitment of tyrosine phosphatases SHP-1 and SHP-2. Further, we hypothesized that activation of the ITAM in the cytosolic motif of CEACAM3 would lead to activation of neutrophil antimicrobial activity. Understanding this interaction would begin to answer the open question in the field; why is there a selection for Opa proteins *in vivo* if activation of CEACAMs on neutrophils via Opa proteins leads to bacterial death? We sought to show that expression of Opa proteins in general is not detrimental to bacteria, but instead certain Opa proteins would lead to bacterial death while others allowed for survival in the presence of a strong immune response. Upon completion of my data collection, we found that there was differential Gc-neutrophil association based on the ability of Gc to interact with varied CEACAMs. Understanding how CEACAM binding of Opa proteins on Gc plays a role in bacterial survival helps us further appreciate how Gc is able to evade the immune response and stay in a human host.

Chapter 2: Imaging flow cytometry analysis of CEACAM binding to Opa-

expressing Neisseria gonorrhoeae

This chapter is a modified version of the previously published article, Werner LM*, Palmer A*, Smirnov A, Belcher Dufrisne M, Columbus L, Criss AK. Imaging Flow Cytometry Analysis of CEACAM Binding to Opa-Expressing *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Cytometry A. 2020 Oct;97(10):1081-1089 (173)

*Co-first authors

Contributions:

Allison (Palmer) Alcott – collected and analyzed data, conceived experiments, wrote manuscript

Lacie Werner – collected and analyzed data, conceived experiments, wrote manuscript

Asya Smirnov – conceived experiments, manuscript editing

Meagan Belcher Dusfrisne – provided reagents, conceived experiments

Linda Columbus - conceived experiments, manuscript editing

Alison Criss - conceived experiments, manuscript editing

2.1 INTRODUCTION

Human carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecules (CEACAMs) are a family of 12 receptors with distinct expression patterns on different cell types. Each CEACAM has unique ligand binding capacities, and some CEACAMs have activating or inhibitory cytosolic signaling motifs, while others have no cytosolic tail and contain glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchors in the membrane. Thus, the consequence of an interaction between a CEACAM and a potential ligand is dependent on which CEACAM is engaged (174).

CEACAMs are exploited by pathogenic bacteria during infection (166). Examples of pathogens with ligands that bind CEACAMs are *Moraxella catarrhalis* (UspA protein), *Haemophilus influenzae* (OmpP1 protein), *Escherichia coli* (Dr adhesins), and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (Opa proteins) (175–177). *N. gonorrhoeae* (Gc) is an obligate human pathogen that causes the sexually transmitted infection gonorrhea. Gc interacts with CEACAMs via outer membrane opacity associated (Opa) proteins. Each strain of Gc encodes 10 or more opa genes, which undergo recombination and mutation to diversify within and among strains (127). Each Opa is phase-variable, such that a single strain can express anywhere from zero to multiple Opa proteins. Gc recovered from infected individuals are predominantly Opa expressors (171). Most Opa proteins in a strain are ligands for one or more human CEACAMs. Receptor binding cannot be predicted from the Opa primary sequence and is instead dictated by structural characteristics of Opa extracellular loops (178).

CEACAM engages Opa proteins through an extracellular N-terminal immunoglobulin fold (155, 163, 179). CEACAM-Opa binding allows Gc to engage both epithelial cells and neutrophils during infection of the host (155). Characterizing the CEACAM binding profiles of diverse Opa proteins from different strains contributes to our understanding of how Gc interacts with CEACAM-bearing cells to cause productive infection.

Various methods have been used to determine the specificity and selectivity of Opa-CEACAM interactions. Opa binding to CEACAMs that are expressed on the membrane of HeLa cells and CHO cells has been assessed by Western blot, fluorescence microscopy, immunoelectron microscopy, and microtiter platebased fluorescent detection of bound bacteria (180–185). While mammalian cell lines are a relevant model for host-Gc interactions, the potential for interference by other receptors on the cell surface can confound conclusions about the CEACAM binding capacity of Opa proteins. An alternative approach is to use cell-free purified CEACAMs expressed as fusions to GFP (186–189) or Fc tag (190) that are incubated with Gc and other bacteria expressing Opa proteins, with CEACAM binding assessed by flow cytometry. Previously, our group evaluated Opa-CEACAM interactions by the ability of Gc to bind recombinantly expressed N-terminus of CEACAM (N-CEACAM). In that assay, the bacteria were incubated with various N-CEACAMs, the supernatant and bacterial pellet were collected and separated by SDS-PAGE, and the N-CEACAM partitioning to the pellet was analyzed by immunoblotting with pan-CEACAM antibody (191). However, this method was subject to variation due to gel loading, blot transfer, and background bands due to non-specific antibody binding, was timeconsuming, and reported results for the whole Gc population rather than on a single-bacterium basis.

Here we report an approach to define Opa-mediated interactions with recombinant N-CEACAM by using imaging flow cytometry, which offers advantages over conventional flow cytometry. The primary advantage is that given the small size of Gc (0.5 μ m diameter as a monococcus and 1 μ m as a diplococcus), conventional flow cytometry requires customization and/or extensive calibration and standardization to avoid inaccurate measurements of submicron particles (192–195). In contrast to conventional flow cytometry where single particles are detected bases on a signal threshold, imaging flow cytometry instead identifies objects based on pixel intensities of the particle images that are above background intensity, allowing for accurate detection of bacteria this size. Furthermore, imaging flow cytometry, but not conventional flow cytometry, makes it more straightforward to exclude bacterial aggregates that could skew the MFI of the whole bacterial population that is analyzed. Theoretically, this approach can be extended to other CEACAM-binding bacteria, and more generally to any ligand-receptor interaction where one of the interacting partners can be made into a soluble fragment.

2.2 RESULTS

2.2.1 Confirmation of a Specific Interaction between Opa and CEACAM by Imaging Flow Cytometry

We developed an imaging flow cytometry-based method to analyze the CEACAM-binding profiles of Gc expressing an Opa protein of interest. In this assay, Gc is incubated with N-CEACAM. A protocol for protein expression and purification of recombinant GST-tagged N-CEACAMs was previously optimized (191). N-CEACAM was recombinantly expressed as a GST-fusion because we previously found the GST moiety prevented N-CEACAM aggregation. The N-CEACAM remaining bound to Gc after washing is detected with an anti-GST antibody, followed by AlexaFluor 488 (AF488)-labeled anti-mouse IgG. Gc was detected with DAPI. The Gc suspension is examined by imaging flow cytometry by gating on DAPI+, focused particles and quantifying AF488 fluorescence in this gate (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1 Gating strategy of CEACAM Pulldown

Gc was incubated with purified recombinant GST-N-CEACAM3 (CCM3), washed, and stained with anti-GST antibody, followed by anti-mouse-AF488 secondary antibody.

Stained bacteria were fixed in PBS containing 2% PFA and 5 µg/ml DAPI. (A) Bacteria were defined as particles with high DAPI intensity. (B) Single bacteria were identified from DAPI+ population. (C) Examples of single and clumped bacteria. (D) Focused bacteria were defined as particles with RMS \geq 52. (E) and (F) Examples of bacteria out of focus (E) and focused (F). (G) AF488+ Gc gate includes bacteria with high AF488 fluorescence intensity. (H) and (I) examples of AF488-negative (H) and positive (I) bacteria.

Data are expressed as percent of bacteria that are AF488 positive (Figure 2.2A)

and as MFI of AF488 fluorescence (Figure 2.2B) for all particles.



Figure 2.2: Imaging flow cytometry can detect the binding of N-CEACAM1 to Opaexpressing Gc

OpaD+ or Opaless Gc was incubated with GST-tagged N-CEACAM1 (GST-NCCM1), an N-CEACAM1 mutant where the binding interface for Opa proteins was disrupted (GST-NCCM1 mut; point mutations I87A/Q89A/I91A), GST alone, or no protein (No NCCM1). After washing, bacteria were fixed and stained with mouse anti-GST followed by AF488coupled anti-mouse, along with DAPI. The A) percentage of DAPI+ Gc that are AF488positive and B) MFI of AF488 for DAPI+ Gc was quantified using imaging flow cytometry using the gating strategy in Figure 1. Results presented are the mean ± standard error of the mean. n=1-6 experiments. ***, P< 0.001 ****, P< 0.0001 (Student's two-tailed unpaired t test).

The imaging flow cytometry method was first developed using OpaD+ Gc and N-CEACAM1; we previously reported that OpaD binds to CEACAM1 (191) (Figure 2.2). Binding of N-CEACAM1 by OpaD+ Gc was significantly higher by percentage and MFI than binding to Opaless due to the specific interaction of the OpaD protein on Gc and recombinant N-CEACAM1. Several technical and biological controls were employed to validate the specificity of the Opa-CEACAM interaction. 1) In the absence of N-CEACAM1, OpaD+ Gc had minimal AF488+ Gc, i.e. fluorescence from non-specific binding of α -GST and α -MsAF488 to OpaD+Gc, showing that fluorescence only occurs when CEACAM is present on the measured bacteria. 2) To determine the necessity for Opa expression on Gc to allow CEACAM binding, we showed that for Opaless Gc, percentage AF488+ and fluorescence were not significantly different from the no-CEACAM negative control. 3) The percentage AF488+ and MFI of OpaD+ Gc incubated with recombinant GST was not significantly different from the no-CEACAM negative control, further confirming that the interaction being measured is CEACAM-Opa, not GST-Opa. 4) N-CEACAM1 with three point mutations in the Opa binding interface (CEACAM1-I87A/Q89A/I91A (196)) was no different in interaction with OpaD+ Gc than the non-CEACAM negative control in percentage AF488+ Gc or MFI. Together, these results demonstrate that Gc

specifically binds to CEACAM using Opa as a ligand, and support the use of imaging flow cytometry to examine this interaction.

2.2.2 Titration of N-CEACAMs using OpaD+ Gc

We used the imaging flow cytometry assay to titrate each of several GST-tagged human N-CEACAMs for OpaD+ Gc. The percentage of AF488+ Gc was determined at varying concentrations of each N-CEACAM (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3: Determination of the optimal final working concentration for N-

CEACAMs

OpaD+ Gc was incubated with increasing concentrations of each of the recombinant GST-N-CEACAM proteins indicated. Depicted are final concentrations for each protein. Bacteria were processed for imaging flow cytometry as described in Figures 1 and 2. Results are presented as percent of AF488+ bacteria (Similar results were obtained for MFI). Gray diamonds indicate the concentration for each N-CEACAM that was used for evaluation against the panel of Opa+ bacteria in Figure 4. Results presented are the mean ± standard error of the mean. n=1-6 experiments.

Based on our previous report (191), we predicted OpaD+ Gc would bind to CEACAM1 and 3, and anticipated binding to additional CEACAMs. Opaless Gc was used as a control for non-specific binding at the highest concentration of each N-CEACAM (Figure 2.4). Binding was evaluated as percent of bacteria that were AF488+.



Figure 2.4: CEACAM binding profiles of Opa proteins

The CEACAM binding profiles for Gc expressing OpaD from strain FA1090, Opa50, Opa54, or Opa60 from strain MS11, or no Opa expression (Opaless) were determined by imaging flow cytometry as in Figures 1 and 2, using the final concentration of each GST-N-CEACAM as determined in Figure 3. Each Gc isolate with no added CEACAM served as a negative control for background AF488+ fluorescence on bacteria and was used as comparison for statistical significance. Results are presented as percent of AF488+ bacteria (Similar results were obtained for MFI). Results presented are the mean ± standard error of the mean. n=2-6 experiments. ***, P< 0.001, ****, P< 0.0001 (1-way ANOVA with post-hoc multiple comparisons and Dunnett's correction). N-CEACAMs 1 and 5 bound to OpaD+ Gc at low μ M concentrations (0.4 μ M and 0.2 μ M, respectively). In comparison, maximal N-CEACAM3 binding was achieved at 12 μ M. CEACAMs 4, 6, and 8 bound poorly to OpaD+ Gc (less than 25%, 10%, and 15% AF488+ Gc, respectively). At these concentrations, no specific binding to Opaless Gc was measured. While these titrations were reproducible for the N-CEACAM preparations used here, each preparation must be optimized for Opa-CEACAM binding based on a similar concentration titration.

2.2.3 CEACAM Binding by each of Four Opa proteins

To characterize the CEACAM binding of other Opas, we selected a concentration at which a CEACAM bound to OpaD. If there was no appreciable binding of OpaD to the N-CEACAM, we selected the highest concentration tested (Figure 2.3). Using these concentrations, the CEACAM binding profiles for Gc expressing OpaD from strain FA1090 or Opa50, Opa54, or Opa60 from strain MS11 were determined by imaging flow cytometry. Opaless Gc incubated with the indicated CEACAM served as a negative control for background AF488+ fluorescence on bacteria, as we have previously shown Opaless Gc does not bind CEACAMs (Figure 2.2) (191). Multiple previous reports have shown that OpaD+ (191), Opa54+ (169), and Opa60+ Gc (163, 185, 191) can bind to CEACAM1, and in agreement, we saw significant binding of CEACAM1 to OpaD+, Opa54+, and Opa60+ Gc (Figure 4.4A). Similarly, OpaD+ (191) and Opa60+ Gc (163, 185, 191) were reported to bind to CEACAM3, and in agreement, we saw significant binding of CEACAM 3 to OpaD+ and Opa60+ Gc (Figure 2.4B). Previous literature has indicated that no Opas bind to CEACAM4 (197, 198). Using our assay, only Opa50+ Gc bound at significant, albeit low, levels to CEACAM4 (Figure 2.4C). Most CEACAM-binding Opas have been reported to bind CEACAM5 (169), and in agreement, we found that OpaD+ and Opa60+ Gc both bound to CEACAM5 (Fig 2.4D). Additionally, Opa60+ Gc bound significantly to CEACAM6, as previously reported (181) (Figure 2.4E). Finally, no Opas have been reported to bind CEACAM8 (180, 181, 183). Here, only Opa50+ Gc bound CEACAM8 at low levels that were significantly above Opaless background (Figure 2.4F).

The overall consensus between the imaging flow cytometry results and previous publications using other methods supports the use of this assay to rapidly and quantitatively measure the CEACAM binding profile of multiple Opa proteins.

2.3 DISCUSSION

The goal of this project was to create and optimize a straightforward, rapid, specific method for determining bacterial ligand-host receptor interactions by imaging flow cytometry, using Gc Opa proteins and human CEACAMs. Compared with our previous immunoblot-based method (191), imaging flow cytometry allows gating on single, intact bacteria, such that differences within a population can be evaluated and complications with SDS-PAGE and transfer are avoided. Further, the use of recombinant N-CEACAM in the current approach avoids the complications faced by CEACAM expression in mammalian cell lines, such as efficiency of CEACAM expression, expression of multiple splice variants, and confounding results due to expression of endogenous CEACAM(s). Furthermore, compared to conventional flow cytometry methods, imaging flow cytometry allows single submicron size bacteria to be reliably identified, without customizing and calibrating a conventional flow cytometer, which may not be feasible in a multiuser core facility (192, 199).

We used this approach to measure specific and selective interactions between four different Opa proteins and the N-terminal domains of six different CEACAMs. Gating on single, DAPI+ bacteria ensured that all positive signal detected is from CEACAM bound to intact bacteria, and not from a dimerized protein or protein aggregates that nonspecifically pellet along with the bacteria. When selecting for in focus bacteria, we noted two populations in the gate that have 52<RMS<65 and 66<RMS<78, but since they have the same MFI for AF488 (see Materials and Methods), they do not affect interpretation of results regarding ability of Opa+ bacteria to bind GST-N-CEACAM. At this time we do not know what is responsible for the difference in RMS, but could be due to stage of bacterial growth and/or monococcal vs. diplococcal form. Importantly, CEACAMs do not bind bacteria that do not express Opa proteins, neither the GST antibody or GST alone bind Opa+ Gc, and mutation of key residues in the CEACAM1-Opa binding interface prevents Opa-Gc interaction (Figure 7). Our results generally correspond to the selectivity of CEACAM-dependent binding of these particular Opa+ Gc reported by us (191) and others (163, 169, 182, 185, 189, 191, 197, 200, 201). Moreover, we found that OpaD+ Gc interacts with CEACAM5, an epithelial CEACAM, which agrees with our observation that OpaD+ Gc binds avidly to epithelial cells (33). Thus, the imaging flow cytometry approach confirms known Opa-CEACAM interactions.

Understanding the selectivity of CEACAM binding to Opa allows us to infer which signaling pathways may be active in the context of host-pathogen interactions. For example, the cytoplasmic tail of CEACAM1 contains an immunoreceptor tyrosine based inhibitory motif (ITIM). ITIM signaling in most cell types relies on activation of SHP-1 and SHP-2 to inhibit cellular activity (53). In neutrophils, this could mean that antimicrobial activity is inhibited by ligand binding to CEACAM1. CEACAM3 is expressed solely on granulocytes like neutrophils. It is thought to be a decoy receptor that pathogenic bacteria bind with the same ligands they use to bind CEACAMs that promote infection (202). Polymorphisms in the CEACAM3 amino acid sequence allow for recognition of a spectrum of bacterial pathogens among human subpopulations (203). CEACAM3 has an ITAM domain in its C-terminus, and this is thought to cause the activation of neutrophils and bacterial killing. Knowing which ligands are able to bind to this specific CEACAM could be important in understanding why some pathogens are killed by granulocytes and others are not.

Previous reports have shown that neither CEACAM4 or CEACAM8 bind to any Opa proteins (197, 198). In this study, low yet statistically significant percentages of Opa50+ Gc were positive for CEACAM4 and for CEACAM8. CEACAM4 is hypothesized to be an "orphan" granulocyte receptor that does not interact with bacterial ligands, although the C-terminal ITAM retains the ability to drive bacterial internalization (198). It is important to note that our system is using non-glycosylated N-CEACAM, which could explain the discrepancy of our results with previous literature. Future studies looking at glycosylated CEACAM4 and CEACAM8 could describe if and how this interaction occurs biologically.

While this method was developed to investigate the binding and selectivity between Opa proteins and CEACAMs, it can be extended to other systems and can be modified for other applications and labeling approaches. Technical variations of this assay could include the use of a fluorophore conjugated to the primary antibody against the recombinant protein of interest or a tagged protein. Further, since we were able to titrate the CEACAM fluorescence based on

concentration of N-CEACAM protein, this assay could be performed as a competition assay where the presence of a competitor will affect the binding of the primary protein of interest, resulting in a loss of signal. Competition assays would help elucidate physiologically relevant questions, such as the affinity of one ligand over another. In this study, we used Opa proteins as the ligand of CEACAM, but there are other types of interactions for which this assay can be used, including other pathogens that are CEACAM-dependent like *M. catarrhalis* (UspA) and *H. influenzae* (OmpP1) (175, 176). More broadly, this system can be adapted to any receptor-ligand pair where one component is presented in its native conformation on the surface of a particle that is of the appropriate size and fluorescence for imaging flow cytometry, and its partner is soluble, in a functional conformation for binding, and can be followed with a fluorescent label. The speed, sensitivity, and throughput of imaging flow cytometry make this an effective approach for analysis of binding to small particles like bacteria.

2.4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.4.1 Creation of Recombinant N-CEACAMs 4, 5, 6, and 8

Coding sequences for the recombinant expression of N-CEACAM were synthesized and sub-cloned into the pGEX-2T vector (containing a glutathione Stransferase (GST)-tag) by GenScript. The constructs were designed so that the Nterminal GST tag is separated from the CEACAM domain by a TEV cleavage site
as and a short linker (of the amino acid sequence GGA) as previously reported (191). Plasmids from GenScript were confirmed by Sanger sequencing with forward and reverse primers.

2.4.2 Site Directed Mutagenesis for the Creation of CEACAM1-

I87A/Q89A/I91A

Three rounds of PIPE site directed mutagenesis were performed in sequence for the three different mutations introduced. For each round, PIPE-PCR was performed as previously described (204). E. coli Top 10 cells were transformed with the resulting amplicon. DNA was purified using the QiaPrep Spin Miniprep Kit (Qiagen) and mutations were confirmed by Sanger sequencing (Genewiz). The primers for mutagenesis are as follows:

CEACAM1-T87A-F: TTCTACGCACTACAAGTCATAAAGTCAGATCTTGTG CEACAM1-T87A-R: TTGTAGTGCGTAGAATCCTGTGTCATTCTGGGTGAC CEACAM1-_89A-F: GCACTAGCAGTCATAAAGTCAGATCTTGTGAATGAA CEACAM1-_89A-R: TATGACTGCTAGTGCGTAGAATCCTGTGTCATTCTG CEACAM1-_91A-F: GCAGTCGCAAAGTCAGATCTTGTGAATGAAGAAGCA CEACAM1-_91A-R: TGACTTTGCGACTGCTAGTGCGTAGAATCCTGTGTC

2.4.3 GST-CEACAM Protein Purification

Recombinant protein was expressed and purified as previously described for the N- terminal domains of CEACAM 1 and 3 (191) using the pGEX-2T vector containing GST-tagged N-terminal domains of CEACAM1, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 8. All proteins were prepared in a final buffer of 20 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 500 mM sodium chloride and 10% glycerol and brought to a final concentration between 4-6 mg/ml using an Amicon Ultra Centrifugal Filter Unit with a 10,000 MWCO (Millipore). Purified GST-CEACAM proteins were stored for at -80@C. GST-CEACAM protein yields ranged between 0.5-12 mg protein per liter of E. coli culture.

2.4.4 Gc Isolates and Growth Conditions

All Gc isolates are in an FA1090 strain background. Opaless Gc in which all native *opa* genes were deleted was previously described (105). OpaD+ Gc, Opa50+ Gc, and Opa60+ Gc contain non-phase-variable, constitutively expressed versions of each opa gene, cloned into the native *opaD* locus of Opaless Gc (191). An FA1090 Gc strain with a non-phase-variable, IPTG-inducible expressed *opa54* gene was created. *opa54* was amplified out of strain N2027 (strain kindly provided by Scott Gray-Owen, University of Toronto). The *opa54* gene already contained a non-phase-variable signal sequence. Restriction enzyme sites (XbaI and SacI) were added to the *opa54* amplicon for ligation into the Gc complementation plasmid pKH35 (205) using forward primer

AAATTCTAGATCCAAGGAGCCGAA and reverse primer

AAAACTCGAGTCAGAAGCGGTAGCG. Both the PCR product and plasmid were digested with XbaI and SacI, ligated together, and transformed into TOP 10 E. coli. Proper insertion of *opa54* into pKH35 was confirmed by restriction digest and DNA sequencing using the primers above (Genewiz). pKH35 with *opa54* was transformed into Opaless Gc and selected for by chloramphenicol resistance at 0.5 µg/mL. Opa54 expression was confirmed by Western blot using the 4B12 anti-Opa antibody after growth of Opa54+ Gc on GCB plates containing 1 mM IPTG. All Gc were grown overnight on GCB plates containing Kellogg's supplements I and II at 37® C and 5% CO2, except Opa54+ Gc, where plates additionally contained 1 mM IPTG to induce Opa54 expression.

2.4.5 Opa-CEACAM Pulldown

Protein concentration of N-CEACAMs were measured by absorbance at 280 nm. On the day of the assay, N-CEACAMs were diluted in 500 @L to the indicated final concentration per sample in RPMI with 10% FBS (RPMI-10). Gc were collected from GCB plates, normalized to a concentration of 1x108 CFU/mL, washed once in 1x PBS containing 5 mM MgSO4, and resuspended in the N-CEACAM-RPMI-10 solution. Gc and the CEACAM solution were incubated with end over end rotation for 30 minutes at 37@ C with 5% CO2. After incubation, bacteria were pelleted at 10,000 x g and washed twice in 1x PBS with 5mM MgSO4.

2.4.6 Bacterial Staining

Gc were resuspended in 75 @l 0.5 @g/mL mouse anti-GST monoclonal antibody clone p1A12 (Biolegend, San Diego, CA) in RPMI-10 and incubated at 37@ C for 30 minutes. Bacteria were pelleted at 10,000 g for 3 minutes at room temperature, and the supernatant was discarded. The bacterial pellet was resuspended in 75 @L of 5 @g/mL goat anti-mouse AF488 (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) in RPMI with 10% FBS and incubated for 30 minutes at 37@ C. Bacteria were pelleted at 10,000 g for 3 minutes at room temperature, and the supernatant was discarded. Gc were then resuspended in 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA) containing 5 @g/mL 4',6-Diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) DNA stain.

2.4.7 Data Acquisition

Samples were analyzed by imaging flow cytometry using ImagestreamX Mk II with INSPIRE® software (Luminex Corporation). Alexa Fluor®488 fluorescence was detected with excitation at 488 nm and emission collected with a 480-560 nm filter. DAPI fluorescence was detected with excitation at 405 nm and emission collected with a 420-505 nm filter. For each sample, a laser LED intensity of 40.59 mW was used for Brightfield 1 and the emission was collected with a 420–480 nm filter; a laser LED intensity 55.00 mW was used for Brightfield 2 and the emission collected with a 570–595 nm filter. Compensation matrices to remove spectral overlap were calculated for each experiment using DAPI+ bacteria without addition of α GST/ α MsAF488, and non-DAPI-labeled OpaD+ Gc bound to N-CEACAM1 with α GST/ α MsAF488.

2.4.8 Data Analysis

Data analysis was performed using IDEAS® v6.2 software (Luminex Corporation). The gating strategy for data analysis using this software is outlined in Figure 2.1. A compensation matrix was created from the single-color controls: bacteria singly positive for AF488 or DAPI. This compensation matrix was applied to all files from the experiment. From the DAPI intensity histogram, DAPI+ bacteria were identified (Figure 2.1A). A Scatter plot with Area on the X axis and Aspect ratio on Y axis was generated, and single particles ("singlets") were identified by gating on the cell population with high aspect ratio (>0.2) and low area (<20) (Figure 2.1B and C). A histogram of Brightfield Gradient Root Mean Square (RMS) was generated for single DAPI + bacteria and focused bacteria were identified as a cell population with high (\geq 52) gradient RMS (Figure 2.1D-F). Within the gate, the population with RMS<65 was not different in MFI for AF488 than the population RMS>65 (4718.38 vs. 4506.08, respectively). A histogram of AF488 intensity for the population of single DAPI+ focused bacteria was created (Figure 2.1G-I). A gate was created in this histogram to

identify the CEACAM+ Gc population. The gating strategy needs to be experimentally determined by each user, by setting the positive gate above the intensity of the cell population in the negative control.

2.4.9 Statistics

Comparisons between single Gc isolates for a given CEACAM were performed using 1-way ANOVA with post-hoc multiple comparisons. Comparisons between fluorescence on OpaD+ Gc after incubation with N-CEACAM1 compared to the addition of no CEACAM or a triple mutant N-CEACAM1 were performed using a student's unpaired t-test. Comparisons between N-CEACAM1 binding to OpaD+ Gc and Opaless Gc were performed using a student's unpaired t-test.

<u>Chapter 3: Variable expression of Opa proteins by Neisseria gonorrhoeae</u> influences bacterial association and phagocytic killing by human neutrophils

This chapter is a modified version of the previously published article: Alcott AM, Werner LM, Baiocco CM, Belcher Dufrisne M, Columbus L, and Criss AK. Variable expression of Opa proteins by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* influences bacterial association and phagocytic killing by human neutrophils. J Bacteriol. 2022 Mar 28:e0003522. (206)

CONTRIBUTIONS:

Allison Alcott – experimental design, data collection and analysis, manuscript writing

Lacie Werner - data collection and analysis, edited manuscript

Chris Baiocco – data analysis

Meagan Belcher Dufrisne – supplied reagents

Linda Columbus – supplied reagents, experimental design, data interpretation

Alison Criss – experimental design, manuscript writing

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Neisseria gonorrhoeae (Gc) is the causative agent of the sexually transmitted infection gonorrhea. Gonorrhea is a major public health concern as there is no protective immunity against future infections, due in part to the variable nature of immunodominant surface antigens (154, 207); for related reasons, there is currently no effective vaccine. Cases of gonorrhea are on the rise, as is resistance to antibiotics, with only ceftriaxone currently recommended for treatment by the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (208). These issues emphasize the need to better understand the mechanisms by which Gc infects and successfully colonizes its obligate human host, in order to develop effective new therapeutics and vaccine targets. Gc infects mucosal surfaces including the nasopharynx, rectum, male urethra, and female cervix. Women are more frequently asymptomatic than men and may not seek treatment (209). Despite a robust neutrophil-rich immune response, Gc that is not cleared from infected tissues leads to tissue damage (210).

Neutrophils (the predominant type of polymorphonuclear leukocyte, PMN) are the first line of defense against many invading pathogens, including Gc. Despite the rapid, robust response of neutrophils to many infectious agents, Gc is able to evade many of neutrophils' effector functions, including neutrophil extracellular traps, ROS release, release of antimicrobial peptides and proteases, phagocytosis into degradative compartments, and nutritional immunity (described in Chapter 1) (6).

While a subset of Opa proteins have been shown to be able to bind to HSPGs, the major family of Opa-binding receptors are human CEACAMs. CEACAMs are expressed on multiple cell types relevant to *Neisseria*l infection, including neutrophils, endothelial cells, and epithelial cells (10). Human neutrophils express CEACAMs 1, 3, 4, 6, and 8; of these, the *Neisseria*l Opa proteins analyzed to date have been shown to interact with CEACAMs 1, 3, and 6, as well as CEACAM5 on epithelial cells (182, 197, 211, 212). CEACAM3 is thought to have evolved on human and primate neutrophils as a way to combat the myriad microorganisms that exploit CEACAM1 as a colonization factor (203).

Opa protein expression is selected for *in vivo*, with specific Opa proteins appearing more often than others in a given strain background. Most Gc that can be cultured from the secretions of infected individuals express at least one Opa protein (156). In male volunteers that are inoculated urethrally with predominantly phase-OFF Opa-negative Gc, most bacteria that are recovered from symptomatic individuals express one or more Opa proteins (156). In male individuals urethrally challenged with Opa+ bacteria, Jerse et al. found that over time there was a selection for specific Opa proteins, and once expressed, that protein stayed expressed from the first positive sample collected until infection was terminated by antibiotic treatment (171). What drives the selection for expression of particular Opa proteins *in vivo* is not yet clear. However, Sintsova et al. found that primary Gc isolates from urethral and cervical infections more frequently expressed Opa proteins that do not have the ability to bind CEACAM3 (169).

Based on this observation, and the understanding of the downstream activation of antimicrobial activity upon CEACAM3 binding, we hypothesized that avoidance of CEACAM3 binding confers a survival advantage to Gc when exposed to neutrophils. To this end, we created an isogenic panel of Gc strain FA1090 of different CEACAM-binding profiles, using Opa proteins that are constitutively expressed or are phase varied on for expression. These Opa+ bacteria and their Opa-negative counterparts were examined for their survival after infection of primary human neutrophils. Our findings support a model in which the extent of association is the main determinant of Gc resistance to neutrophil killing, where bacteria that do not bind CEACAM3 have a survival advantage.

3.2 RESULTS

3.2.1 Gc Expressing Opa Proteins of Different Receptor-binding Profiles Differentially Activate Human Neutrophils

To investigate Opa-dependent interactions of Gc with neutrophils, we established a panel of Gc expressing single Opa proteins that are predicted to interact differently with human neutrophils (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1: Receptor-binding profile of selected Opa proteins and elicitation of the neutrophil oxidative burst

A, B) Gc predominantly expressing OpaA, OpaF, or OpaI in the *ΔopaBEGK* background, or the Opa- control, was incubated with GST-tagged recombinant N-CEACAM1, N-CEACAM3, N-CEACAM5, N-CEACAM6, or no protein as a control. Binding of CEACAM was recognized with an anti-GST antibody followed by Alexa Fluor 488-coupled goat anti-mouse IgG. The capacity of each Gc strain used in this study to bind each CEACAM was determined by imaging flow cytometry. The percent of the singlet

bacterial population in the Alexa Fluor 488+ gate (A) and the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of Alexa Fluor 488 (B) were quantified. C) Data are compiled from (A) and (173). Yellow, blue, and green colors are kept consistent throughout the study. Opa+ indicates phase-variable strains, nv indicates non-phase-variable, locked ON strains. D)The indicated strains of Gc at MOI = 100 were exposed to primary human neutrophils in the presence of luminol. Production of reactive oxygen species was measured as relative light units of luminol-dependent chemiluminescence over 60 minutes. Circles denote non-phase variable, "locked" strains of Gc in Opaless; triangles indicate predominantly phase-ON or OFF Gc in the $\Delta opaBEGK$ background (Opa- bacteria are gray).

Opa proteins were expressed in two genetic backgrounds, each with its own advantages. In one, constitutively expressed, nonvariable (nv) versions of opa genes were introduced into a piliated derivative of strain FA1090 in which its eleven opa genes were deleted, called Opaless (105). They were either introduced into the opaD locus and driven by the opaD promoter (Opa50nv, OpaDnv), or into an intergenic site between aspC and lctP, under ectopic control of the tac-lac promoter (Opa54nv). The other approach used phase-varied ON Opa expressors (OpaA+, OpaF+, OpaI+) in the piliated FA1090 *∆opaBEGK* background, in which the four phenotypically translucent opa genes of this strain were deleted. In this background, Opa expression can be followed by colony morphology, where each of the remaining Opa proteins confers a particular colony opacity phenotype, as well as Western blot using monoclonal antibodies specific to each Opa protein of strain FA1090 (171). We confirmed that each of the used strains grew similarly in media (data not shown), as previously reported by our lab (105).

For this study, we investigated three categories of Opa proteins: those interacting with CEACAM1 and CEACAM3, those interacting with CEACAM1 but not CEACAM3, and those that do not interact with either CEACAM1 or 3. Additionally, we assessed the ability of these Opa proteins to interact with the neutrophil-expressed CEACAM6 and epithelial-restricted CEACAM5, the two other CEACAMs that Opa proteins are reported to bind. Receptor binding was determined by the ability of Gc expressing defined Opa proteins to precipitate the soluble N-terminal domain of each of these CEACAMs (N-CEACAMs), analyzed by imaging flow cytometry (173). Results are reported as both the percentage of Alexa Fluor 488+ (CEACAM-binding) Gc (Figure 3.1A) and the mean Alexa Fluor 488 fluorescence intensity of the population (Figure 3.1B).

The binding capabilities of the nonvariable strains used in this study have been previously reported by our group using the imaging flow cytometry binding assay (173). FA1090 OpaD binds to the N-domains of human CEACAM1, CEACAM3, and CEACAM5 but not CEACAM6, Opa54 of strain MS11 binds to CEACAM1 but not CEACAMs 3, 5, or 6, and Opa50 of strain MS11 does not interact with any CEACAMs (173). These data are consistent with prior reports about Opa54's CEACAM-binding preferences (169, 173) and that Opa50 interacts with heparan sulfate proteoglycans and not CEACAMs (182). Applying the imaging flow cytometry binding assay to the predominantly phase-ON Opa+ Gc, we found that FA1090 Opal binds to both CEACAMs 1 and 3, OpaF of strain FA1090 interacts with CEACAM1 but not CEACAM3, and OpaA of strain FA1090 does not bind any CEACAMs (Figure 3.1A, B). None of the newly tested Opa proteins bound to CEACAM5 or CEACAM6 (Figure 3.1A, B). The nucleotide (Figure 3.2A) and amino acid (Figure 3.2B) sequences of each Opa used in this study are reported.

OpaD gcaaqtgaaggcaa ggccgcggccgtatgtgcaggcggatttagcctacgccccgaacgcattacccacgattatccggaaccaacgctcaggca 100 OpaA OpaF gcgggtgaagacalgggcgcggcccgtatgtgcaggcggatotggctlacgcctacgagcacattacccgcgattatccogatgcagccggtgcaaaca 100 Opa50 aagg-Opa54 aaga--OpaD aaaa--OpaA aagg OpaF OpaI aagg - 282 Opa54 (atagoggcagattatgoccgttacagaaagggagcaacaataaatattccgtyaacataaaagag tggaaagaaagaataataaaacttctggcggc 297 OpaD c<u>at</u>og<u>coggattatgcccgttacaggaaatggcacaacaataatattccgtgaacataaaagag</u>t<u>tgga</u>aa<u>gaa</u>aa<u>gaa</u>taataaaatttttggcggc 297 OpaI Opa50 ----atagcaacaggaaaacctgaagacggaaaacggcagcttccccgccgtttcttctcccggctattcccgctattccaaca 379 Opa54 gacagettaalaalaalacaaagaeggaalategggaaaagglaalategg agatteeaegeegttetteteggettgteegeegtttaegatteegata OpaD aaceagettaalaalaalacaaagaeggaalategggaaaaegglaalateeaegeegttettetteteegettgteegeegtttaegatteegattaegattee OpaA ----ataaacgtgacgcaatalctgaaggcggaaaacgglacgttccacgccgtttcttctctccggcttgtccgccgtttacgatttcaaac 385 ggga**a**aaactg**acg**aag<u>acg</u>i<mark>gaagacggaa</mark>g<mark>atagggaaaacgg</mark>i<mark>acgttccacgccgtttetteteteteggettgecgccgtttacgatttega</mark>la 388 OpaF Opa50 taaacgataaa<u>ttcaaaccctatatcggogcgcgcgcgccgcctacggacacgtcagaca</u>cagca<u>t</u>cga<u>tcgacaa</u>aa<u>aa</u>at<u>aac</u>agggct<u>tcttaccac</u> 479 OpaD t<u>caacgacaattcaaaccctatatcgg</u>g<u>gcgcgtcgctacggacacgtcagaca</u>cag<u>atcattcaattaaaataac</u>aguta<u>ttcaaaccctatatcgg</u>gat<u>gcgcgtcggctacggacacgtcagaca</u>tca<u>ggt</u>t<u>gattagattaac</u>aguta<u>ttcaaaccctatatcgg</u>at<u>gcgcgtcggctacgggcacgtcagaca</u>tca<u>ggt</u>t<u>gttcggttggataa</u>gaaccacgat<u>gttcggttggataa</u>gaaccacgat<u>gttaccac</u>485 OpaF Opal tcaacgataattcaaaccctatatcggtgtgcggtgtcggctacggcacgtcagacacggtatcgattagataaaaaaaggaaaatatttaccgc 497 Opa50 cagtactcctggcataatgtctggggtta-----taaggtatt**a**aggacacc<u>a</u>ggcg<u>c</u>cc<u>atcgcgaaagc</u>ga<u>cagca</u>t<u>ccgccgc</u>-gt 563 OpaI cta<u>cc</u>atagtgc<u>tg</u>gcacaaaa_cctacgtattatgatgatatagattcgggaaaaaaccaaaa<u>a</u>aacca_tt<u>atcgc</u>a<u>aaaccgcagcagccgccgc</u>-tt 596 Opa50 gggtcteggtgtcatcgccggegtcggtttcggaateacgcccaagetgaccctggaegecggetaccgetaccacaactgggggaegettgggaaaaacaec Opa54 gggctteggegcagtggcaggcgtangcatcgeteceeacctgacctgaccctggacgccggctaccgctaccacaactggggacgcttggaaaacacc 685 OpaD gggcltcggcg_at/gcggcgt_ggcat/ggcatcgcgccccgg_ctgaccltggacgccggctaccgctaccacaattggggacgcttggaaaacacc 690 OpaA 672 OpaF gggc_tcggcgt_ggcgt_ggtt_gacateacgcccaa_ctgacc_tggacaccggctaccgctaccacaa_tggggacgc_tggaaaacacc_681 OpaI gggetteggegegatggegtgggeatagacgtegegeeggetgacettggacgeeggetacegetaceactattgggggacgeetggaaaacace 696 Opa50 cgcttcaaaacccacgaagcctcattgggcgtgcgctaccgctt 707 Opa54 cgcttcaaac-ccacgaagcctcgttgggcgtgcgctaccgctt 728 OpaD cgcttcaaaacccacgaagcctcgttgggcatgcgctaccgctt 734 cgcttcaaaacccacgaagcctcgttgggcgtgcgctaccgctt 716 OpaA cgcttcaaaacccacgaagcctcattgggcatgcgctaccgctt 725 OpaF OpaI cgcttcaaaacccacgaagcctcattgggcgtgcgctaccgctt 740

А

R	Opa50	<u>ASEDGGRGPYVQADLAYAYEHITHDYP</u> K <u>PT</u> DPSKG- <u>KISTVSDYFRNIRTHSIHPRVSVGYDFGGWRIAADYARYRKW</u> SDN <u>KYSV</u> SIKMMRVHKH	94
D	Opa54	<u>A</u> GEGN <u>GRGPYVQADLAYA</u> YE <u>HITHDYPEPT</u> GTKKD-KISTVSDYFRNIRTHSIHPRVSVGYDFGGWRIAADYARYRKWNNNKYSVNIKELERKNNKTSGG	99
	OpaD	ASEGNGRGPYVQADLAYAAERITHDYPEPTAPGKN-KISTVSDYFRNIRTHSIHPRVSVGYDFGGWRIAADYARYRKWHNNKYSVNIKELERKNNKTFGG	99
	OpaA	ASEDGGRGPYVQADLAYAAERITHDYPEPTGAKKG-KISTVSDYFRNIRTHSIHPRVSVGYDFGGWRIAADYARYRKWNNSKYSVNTKKVNENKGE	95
	OpaF	ASEGNGRGPYVQADLAYAAERITHDYPEPTGAKKDKKISTVSDYFRNIRTHSVHPRVSVGYDFGSWRIAADYARYRKWNNSKYSVNIKEVKENNGS	96
	OpaI	A CE DHGRGPYVOADLAYA YEHITRDYPDAAGANKG-KISTVSDYFRNIRTHSIHPRVSVGYDFGGWRIAADYARYRKWHNNKYSVNIKELERKNNKTFGG	99
	Opa50	-NSNRKNLKTENQENGSFHAVSSLGLSAIYDFOINDKFKPYIGARVAYGHVRHSIDSTKKITGLLTTSTPGIMSGVYKVLRTPGAHRESDSIRRV	188
	Opa54	DOLNIKYOKTEHRENGTFHAASSLGLSAVYDFDTGSRFKPYIGMRVAYGHVRHOVFSVOOETIAVTTYPONAASSVTTNAPIRKLPHHESRSISSL	195
	OpaD	NOLNIKYOKTEHOENGTFHAVSSLGLSAVYDFKLNDKFKPYIGARVAYGHVRHSIDSTKKITGTLTAYPSDADAAVTVYPDGHPOKNTYOKSNSSRRL	197
	OpaA	KINVTOYLKAENOENGTFHAVSSLGLSAVYDFKLNDKFKPYIGMEVGYGHVEHOVFSVEOETTTVTTYLOSGKPSPIVRGSTLKLPHHESESSERL	197
	OpaF	GKKLTODIKTENOENGTEHAVSSLGLSAVYDEDTGSBEKEYAGVEVSYGHVEHSIDSTKKTTDVITAPPTTSDGAPTTYNANPOTONPYHOSDSIERV	194
	OpaT	NOLNI KYOKTE HOENGTEHAVSSIGISTVYDE RUNDKEKPYIGURVGYGHVBHGIDSTKKTKNTLTAYHSAGTKPTYYDDIDSSKNOKNTYBONESSERI.	190
	opur	NEWINIA WAR AND	1
	Opa50	GLGVIAGVGPDITPKLTLDAGYRYHNWGRLENTRFKTHEASLGVRYR 235	
	Opa54	GLERSGERXHEHHAOPDPGRELPLPOLGTLGKHPLOTHEASLGVRYR 242	
	OpaD	GEGAMAGYGIDVAPGLTIDAGYRYHNWGRLENTREKTHEASIG/WRYR 244	
	OpaA	GECAMAGYGIDVADGLTIDAGYPYHYWGRLENTEEKTHEASIGURYR 238	
	OnaF		
	Opar	Growing voi franch i statin international and the stating and	
	17120		

78

HV1

Figure 3.2 Opa nucleotide and amino acid sequences used in this study

A) The nucleotide sequence of each of the opa genes in this study, starting with the first codon after the phase-variable signal sequence. Black indicates 100% conservation of the nucleotide across the alignment, grey represents 70% similarity.

B) Amino acid sequence of each of the Opa proteins in this study, starting with the first amino acid of the mature protein (post signal sequence cleavage). Black indicates 100% conservation of the amino acid, grey represents 70% similarity. The hypervariable regions are marked with lines above the amino acids.

Opa50 and Opa54 are from strain MS11; OpaA, OpaD, OpaF, and OpaI from strain FA1090.

The CEACAM binding profiles and genetic background for each strain in this study are presented in Figure 1B. Opaless and \triangle opaBEGKoff (\triangle opaBEGK) are the non-Opa expressing bacteria used throughout this study, which did not interact with any CEACAMs (Figure 3.1A, B) (173).

To begin to assess how expression of the different Opa proteins affect interaction with primary human neutrophils, we measured neutrophil production of ROS after exposure to equivalent CFU of Gc, using luminol-dependent chemiluminescence. ROS production is a consequence of granule trafficking and cytoplasmic signaling events that result in assembly of NADPH oxidase, which produces superoxide and hydrogen peroxide, and myeloperoxidase, which uses hydrogen peroxide to generate hypochlorous acid (213). ROS does not directly contribute to neutrophil antimicrobial activity against Gc (214, 215), but does reflect the activation state of neutrophils in response to infection. The CEACAM1 and 3 binding OpaDnv and OpaI+ elicited a rapid (within 15 min) ROS response from neutrophils (Figure 3.1D, blue lines). In contrast, the ROS response was slower (peak ~20-30 min) in response to the CEACAM1-only binder Opa54nv. OpaF+ Gc, which also binds CEACAM1 and not CEACAM3, elicited a marginal ROS response from neutrophils, with a peak within 15-20 min of exposure (green lines with triangles). The non-CEACAM binding strains of Gc did not elicit minimal release of ROS from neutrophils, similar to the Opaless and $\Delta opaBEGK$

backgrounds (yellow lines; grey lines). These findings indicate that Opa expression state affects gonococcal activation of neutrophils. In particular, bacteria that bind both CEACAM1 and CEACAM3 tended to stimulate a more rapid and/or potent oxidative response.

3.2.2 CEACAM3 Engagement is Associated with Increased Bacterial Binding and Phagocytosis by Neutrophils

We next tested how expression of different Opa proteins affected bacterial association with and phagocytosis by primary human neutrophils. To do so, we applied an imaging flow cytometry assay developed by our lab, which uses a spot count algorithm to quantify the association and phagocytosis of Gc across tens of thousands of neutrophils per condition (216). These experiments used adherent, IL-8 treated primary human neutrophils as a surrogate for neutrophils that have migrated to sites of mucosal Gc infection (217).

At 15 minutes post-infection at an MOI of 1, fewer than 20% of neutrophils were associated with the non-CEACAM or CEACAM1 only-binding nonvariable Gc (average for Opaless: 4.4%, Opa50nv: 7.7%, Opa54nv: 12%) (Figure 3.3A).



Figure 3.3: Expression of different Opa proteins differentially affects binding and phagocytosis of Gc by primary human neutrophils

The indicated strains of Gc (A, C: constitutively expressed, nonvariable, B, D: phasevariable) were labeled with Tag-IT© Violet (TIV) and incubated with adherent, IL-8 treated primary human neutrophils. At the indicated times, cells were fixed and stained with DyLight 650 (DL650)-labeled anti-Gc antibody without permeabilization to recognize extracellular bacteria. Neutrophils were analyzed via imaging flow cytometry. A and B report the percent of single, intact neutrophils with ≥ 1 cell-associated bacterium (TIV+). C and D indicate the percent of neutrophils with \geq 1 phagocytosed bacterium (TIV+ DL650-). Results are the average of n>3 biological replicates. Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons, with the following indications of significance: *p<0.05, ** p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.001. Only statistical comparisons within a time point were made. E) The indicated strains of Gc were labeled with CFSE, then incubated with adherent, IL-8 treated neutrophils. After 60 minutes, cells were fixed and stained. Images were captured by fluorescence microscopy. The percent of intracellular Gc was determined by dividing the number of CFSE+ AF647- (intracellular) Gc by the number of CFSE+ AF647+ (total) Gc. Statistical comparisons were made for n≥4 biological replicates using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons, with *p<0.05 considered significant. In contrast, at the same time point, the CEACAM1 and CEACAM3 binding OpaDnv showed significantly more association with neutrophils (OpaDnv: 52%) (Figure 3.3A). Similarly, at 30 minutes and 60 minutes, OpaDnv Gc were significantly more associated with neutrophils than Opaless, Opa50nv, or Opa54nv bacteria (Figure 3.3A). At 60 minutes, significantly more neutrophils were also associated with Opa50nv compared to Opaless.

The phase-varied ON strains followed similar patterns (Figure 3.3B). At 15 and 30 minutes, OpaF+ and OpaI+ Gc showed higher association with neutrophils than OpaA+ or $\Delta opaBEGK$ bacteria, but these differences were not statistically significant ($\Delta opaBEGK$: 14%, OpaA+; 7.7%, OpaF+: 31%, OpaI+: 32%). By 60 minutes, OpaI+ Gc was associated with more neutrophils than the other strains, and significantly increased over $\Delta opaBEGK$ bacteria (Figure 3.3B). A histogram of the number of Gc counted per neutrophil in each population is presented in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4: Histograms of Gc of different Opa expression states associating with neutrophils over time

Adherent, IL-8 treated neutrophils were exposed to Tag-IT© Violet-labeled locked (A, C, E) or phase-variable (B, D, F) Gc of the indicated Opa profiles. Neutrophils were fixed at 15 (A-B), 30 (C-D), or 60 (E-F) min, stained for extracellular Gc with Dylight 650-labeled anti-Gc antibody, and processed for imaging flow cytometry as in Figure 2. From the data generated with a spot count algorithm in Figure 2, the number of neutrophils with the indicated number of cell-associated Gc was quantified. Neutrophils with zero Gc are

not reported. Data are the average of n≥3 biological replicates. Colors are as in

Figure 2.

The same dataset was analyzed for bacterial phagocytosis, with the output being percent of neutrophils with intracellular Gc (see Materials and Methods for details). Significantly more neutrophils contained intracellular OpaDnv Gc compared with the other nonvariable bacteria, at all measured time points post-infection (Figure 3.3C). There were no significant differences between Opaless and Opa50nv or Opa54nv at any of the time points. Similar to the percent association data for the phase-varied ON Gc, neutrophils internalized more OpaI+ than OpaA+ or $\Delta opaBEGK$ at 30 and 60 minutes post-infection, with the difference between OpaI+ and OpaF+ being statistically significant at both time points, and the difference between OpaI+ and $\Delta opaBEGK$ statistically significant at 60 minutes (Figure 3.3D). While there was a trend towards more phagocytosis of OpaI+ than OpaF+ Gc as time progressed, this was not statistically significant.

The results with imaging flow cytometry were extended using an immunofluorescence assay that reports the percent of cell-associated bacteria that are intracellular (217). Here we focused on the nonvariable Opa strains so that the potential confounder of phase variation was removed. At 60 minutes post-infection, there were no significant differences among the Opa-expressing Gc strains in the percentage of neutrophil-associated bacteria that were phagocytosed (Opa50nv: 56%, Opa54nv: 52%, OpaDnv: 67%) (Figure3.3E). However, the percentage of intracellular Opaless bacteria (44%) was significantly lower than OpaDnv, in keeping with prior reports (Figure 3.3E) (57, 218).

Taken together, these results indicate that Gc expressing different Opa proteins differentially interact with human neutrophils. However, once bound to neutrophils, Opa+ Gc are readily phagocytosed, regardless of which receptor(s) they engage.

3.2.3 Survival of Gc from Primary Human Neutrophils is Modulated by Bacterial Opa Expression Profile

We examined how the association and phagocytosis of different Opa-expressing Gc affected bacterial survival from neutrophils, by enumerating CFU of bacteria from neutrophil lysates as a function of time (116). First examining the nonvariable strains, similar CFU of Opaless, OpaDnv, Opa54nv, and Opa50nv were recovered after 30 minutes of neutrophil exposure (Figure 3.5A).



Figure 3.5: Differential survival of Gc of different Opa expression states after exposure to primary human neutrophils

Adherent, IL-8 treated neutrophils were synchronously exposed to constitutively expressed, nonvariable (A-C) or phase-variable (D-F) Gc of the indicated Opa profile. Colors match the receptor-binding profile of each strain as in Figure 10B. At 30 (A, D), 60 (B, E), and 120 (C, F) minutes post-infection, neutrophils were lysed, and CFU of Gc were enumerated from the lysates. Results are expressed as the average percent of CFU at that time point divided by the CFU at the start of the experiment (0 min) \pm SE. For n≥4 biological replicates. Statistical comparisons were by two-way ANOVA with post-hoc Tukey multiple comparisons test, with the following pairwise significances: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001. Separate ANOVAs were run to compare the variable strains and the nonvariable strains. Correlations between bacterial survival and association with neutrophils (G) and bacterial survival and phagocytosis by neutrophils (H) were calculated using a linear regression model. The R2 and P values are reported on the graphs.

However, after 60 minutes, fewer CFU of OpaDnv Gc were recovered compared with any of the other strains, with the differences from Opaless and Opa54nv Gc being statistically significant (Figure 3.5B). By 120 minutes post-infection, the recovery of OpaDnv Gc was significantly less than any of the other comparator strains (Figure 3.5C). We also saw outgrowth of Opaless at 120 minutes postinfection, likely due to extracellular replication of the bacteria; the difference between Opaless and all of the Opa expressing strains was statistically significant at this time point.

The phase-varied ON strains of Gc followed the same trends as the Opanonvariable strains across all the time points tested, with no differences among $\Delta opaBEGK$, OpaA+, OpaF+, and OpaI+ at 30 minutes (Figure 3.5D). While more CFU of $\Delta opaBEGK$ and OpaA+ Gc were recovered at 60 minutes compared with OpaF+ or OpaI+ bacteria, these differences were not statistically significant (Figure 12E). By 120 minutes, $\Delta opaBEGK$ was recovered in significantly greater numbers than any of the other Opa+ bacteria (Figure 3.5F). Interestingly, the CEACAM-binding profile did not directly correlate with bacterial susceptibility to neutrophils: while the CEACAM1 and CEACAM3 binding OpaDnv strain survived significantly less well than any of its direct comparators, the OpaI+ strain, which also binds CEACAM1 and CEACAM3, survived similarly to the other Opa expressors. Overall, we saw an inverse correlation between association to neutrophils and survival of the bacteria, as well as internalization into neutrophils and survival of bacteria (Figs. 3.5G and H).

3.2.4 Opa-receptor Interactions do not Affect the Survival or Maturity of Phagosomes Containing Opa+ Gc inside Human Neutrophils

Having observed a correlation between bacterial association with neutrophils and their resistance to neutrophil-mediated killing, we examined but ruled out other possibilities that could explain the difference in Opa+ Gc survival from neutrophils. First, we found that Opa-expressing Gc, once phagocytosed, exhibited similarly low intracellular survival in neutrophils, as determined based on their permeability to propidium iodide (219). Extracellular Gc exhibited greater viability than intracellular bacteria, as previously reported (57), but there was no measurable difference in viability based on Opa expression in either the intracellular (Figure 3.6A) or the extracellular compartment (Figure 3.6B).



Figure 3.6: Opa expression state does not affect viability of Gc in the intracellular or extracellular compartments of neutrophils, or the release of neutrophil primary granules

A-B) Gc were incubated with adherent, IL-8 treated primary human neutrophils for one hour. Infected neutrophils were exposed to AF647-coupled soybean lectin to recognize extracellular Gc, then exposed to BacLight LIVE/DEAD viability dyes in the presence of saponin. The percent of viable (SYTO9+) Gc in the intracellular (A) (AF647-) and extracellular (B) (AF647+) compartments was quantified for n≥4 biological replicates. There were no statistical differences among strains in either compartment using oneway ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test. C) Adherent, IL-8 treated neutrophils were exposed to CFSE-labeled Gc for 60 minutes. Cells were fixed and stained without permeabilization with rabbit anti-Gc antibody, followed by AF647-coupled goat anti-rabbit IgG, to label extracellular Gc. Cells were refixed and exposed to mouse anti-neutrophil elastase IgG followed by Alexa Fluor 555coupled goat anti-mouse IgG. The percentage of intracellular (CFSE+ AF647-) Gc in neutrophil elastase-positive phagosomes was quantified. Results are from n>3 biological replicates. There were no statistically significant differences by one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

D) Adherent, IL-8 treated neutrophils were exposed to the indicated strains of Gc for 60 minutes. Neutrophils were analyzed for the presence of the primary granule protein CD63 on the cell surface by flow cytometry. Data are presented as the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of CD63 and expressed relative to Opaless to account for human subject-intrinsic variability in CD63 expression. Results are from n≥3 biological replicates. Shapes indicate individual matched data points from each experiment. There were no statistically significant differences by one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

Next, we evaluated the maturity of the phagosome in which the phagocytosed Gc were found, based on acquisition of the primary granule protein neutrophil elastase (57). At 60 minutes, all Opa+ Gc, regardless of receptor-binding profile, resided in phagosomes of similar maturity (Figure 3.6C), with a trend towards reduced phagosome maturation for Opaless Gc, as previously reported (p=0.08) (57). There was also no significant difference in primary granule exocytosis in response to exposure to the different Opa+ Gc variants, as reported by mean CD63 fluorescence intensity normalized to Opaless using flow cytometry (Figure 3.6D).

Taken together, we conclude that avoiding association is the major route by which Gc survives exposure to neutrophils. For a given bacterial strain, the Gc that are most susceptible to killing by neutrophils express Opa proteins that most strongly increase neutrophil binding and phagocytosis.

3.2.5 Outgrowth of Opa-negative Gonococci in a Population of Opa Phase ON Bacteria that Highly Associate with Neutrophils

We were surprised to measure an increase in CFU of OpaI+ bacteria recovered from neutrophils 120 minutes, relative to 30 min and 60 minutes (Figure 3.5F), given that OpaI binds to CEACAMs 1 and 3 and is readily bound and phagocytosed by neutrophils (Figure 3.3C-D). To examine this Opa expressor further, we generated a strain of Gc with a constitutively expressed, nonvariable *opal* in the OpaD locus (OpaInv) (see materials and methods for details). While similar CFU of OpaInv and OpaI+ Gc were enumerated at earlier times of infection, at 120 minutes significantly fewer OpaInv were recovered compared to OpaI+ bacteria (Figure 3.7A).



Figure 3.7: Neutrophil challenge selects for phase-OFF expression of Opa proteins that drive association of Gc with neutrophils, increasing overall survival of the population of Gc

Gc that were constitutively expressing (nv) or phase-ON (+) for OpaI (A) or OpaD (D) were exposed to adherent, IL-8 treated primary human neutrophils, and CFU were

enumerated from bacterial lysates over time as in Figure 3. Bacterial survival is expressed relative to the CFU enumerated at time 0.

At each time point from A and D, opacity phenotype of the enumerated CFU was visually inspected and recorded. Results are reported as the percent of colonies at the indicated time point that retained Opa expression (dark bars) or were Opa-negative (light bars). No other opacity phenotypes other than the indicated OpaI+ (B) and OpaD+ (E) were observed

The same starting cultures of OpaI+ (B) and OpaD+ (E) as above were inoculated into media without neutrophils, and CFU of Opa- and Opa+ phenotypes were enumerated and plotted. No change was seen for with OpaI+ (C) or OpaD+ (F)

 Δ opaBEGK (G), OpaA+ (H), and OpaF+ (I) Gc were exposed to neutrophils, and the opacity phenotypes of the CFU recovered at each time point were plotted as in B,E. Statistical comparisons were by two-way ANOVA with post-hoc Tukey multiple comparisons test, with the following pairwise significances: *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001.
We hypothesized that this discrepancy was due to the phase variability of OpaI in this background. To test this, we quantified the opacity-related morphology of the colonies from the OpaI+ population after exposure to neutrophils and in the media control (RPMI with 10% FBS). The percent of Opa+ colonies in the OpaI+ inoculum (time 0 minutes) with neutrophils was similar to the percent in the media control, as expected (Figure 3.7B, 3.7C). However, in the presence of neutrophils, the percent of Opa+ colonies in the population significantly decreased over time, such that by 120 minutes, 72% of the colonies associated with neutrophils were Opa- (Figure 3.7B). In the media control, 76% of the starting OpaI+ population was Opa+, and this percentage did not significantly change over time (Figure 3.7C). Within the OpaI+ population, greater numbers of Opa- (OpaI phase OFF) than Opa-expressing bacteria were recovered over time from neutrophils. This increase in the Opa- bacteria over time resulted in an increase in the overall survival of the OpaI+ population at 120 minutes of neutrophil exposure (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.8: Survival of Opa phase ON and phase OFF Gc within a variable Opaexpressing population of Gc after neutrophil challenge

The results from Figure 3.7 for bacteria of the indicated starting Opa profile were plotted as the percent survival of the Opa+ and Opa- populations within each culture after exposure to primary human neutrophils. Percent survival is the CFU enumerated at the indicated time point, divided by the CFU enumerated at time = 0 min x 100%. The percent survival of all Gc in the population is also included on each graph.

We asked if the same observation would be made for OpaD-expressing bacteria, which also highly associated with neutrophils (Figure 3.3A-B) and survived less well from neutrophils than the other Opa-nonvariable bacteria (Figure 3.5A-C). To do so, we isolated OpaD phase-ON (OpaD+) bacteria from the $\Delta opaBEGK$ background and compared their survival to OpaDnv after exposure to neutrophils. OpaD+ trended towards surviving better than OpaDnv from neutrophils but was not statistically significantly different (Figure 3.7D). Similar to OpaI+, there was a shift in the OpaD+ population after exposure to neutrophils, with significantly greater numbers of Opa phase-OFF bacteria by 120 minutes (77% Opa+ in the inoculum vs. 55% at 120 minutes) (Figure 3.7E). OpaD+ in the media control maintained its Opa+ status over time (Figure 3.7F). As with OpaI+, the Opa- bacteria outgrew the OpaD+ bacteria, skewing the survival of the OpaD+ population higher than what was seen for OpaDnv (Supp. Figure 3.8B).

Similar analyses were performed for the parent of the variable strains, $\Delta opaBEGK$, and the OpaA+ and OpaF+ expressors. After exposure to neutrophils, > 95% of $\Delta opaBEGK$ colonies remained Opa- throughout the 120 minute infection period (Figure 3.7G). While there was a slight increase over time in the proportion of Opa- colonies in the OpaA+ (Figure 3.7H) and OpaF+ (Figure 3.7I) population after exposure to neutrophils, this change was not statistically significant. Expression of other Opa proteins in the OpaA+ and OpaF+ backgrounds was not noted, as judged by colony opacity phenotype. There was no significant change in Opa expression state for these bacteria in the media control, with $\Delta opaBEGK$ remaining predominantly Opa-, and OpaA+ and OpaF+ mostly Opa+ (Figure 3.9A, B, C).





The same cultures of Gc of the indicated Opa variable expression states used in Figure 5 were inoculated into RPMI with 10% FBS. At the indicated time points, Gc CFU were enumerated based on opacity profile. There were no significant changes in Opa expression for Δ opaBEGK (A), OpaA+ (B), or OpaF+ (C) as determined by two-way ANOVA with post-hoc Tukey multiple comparisons test.

While there tended to be more Opa- than Opa+ colonies in these variable Opa populations 120 minutes post-neutrophil infection, this change did not have a major impact on the overall survival of the Δ opaBEGK, OpaA+, and OpaF+ populations (Figure 3.8C-E).

Taken together, these data indicate that the ability to phase-vary Opa expression is advantageous for Gc. A heterogeneous population allows the bacteria to avoid phagocytic killing by neutrophils, specifically in cases where the Opa+ bacteria are rapidly and efficiently phagocytosed.

3.3 DISCUSSION

Opa proteins comprise an important family of adhesins and invasins for Gc, and most Gc isolated from individuals with symptomatic uncomplicated gonorrhea are phenotypically Opa+. However, we and others have found that Opa+ bacteria are more susceptible to killing by neutrophils compared with those lacking Opa expression. In this work, we investigated how differential interaction with primary human neutrophils affects Gc survival in an Opa-dependent manner. To do so, we used two panels of isogenic Gc, one with or without constitutive expression of a single Opa and the other with single phase-varied ON Opa+ bacteria, and defined the receptor-binding profile of the Opa expressors. We found that Opa expression alone does not dictate the survival of Gc after exposure to adherent, IL-8 treated primary human neutrophils. Instead, survival is impacted by the degree to which Opa expression affects Gc association with and phagocytosis by neutrophils. In particular, bacteria expressing Opa proteins that do not bind to the granulocyte-specific CEACAM3 were more successful at avoiding phagocytosis and killing by neutrophils. While the phase variable nature of Opa proteins makes them a less than ideal vaccine target, our results suggest therapeutics that promote the phagocytic killing activities of locally recruited neutrophils would be effective at combating Gc, regardless of which Opa protein(s) the bacteria in the population express.

For this study, we examined six Opa proteins: two that do not interact with neutrophils via CEACAMs (OpaA of FA1090 and Opa50 of MS11), two that interact via CEACAM1 (OpaF of FA1090 and Opa54 of MS11), and two that interact via both CEACAM1 and CEACAM3 (OpaI and OpaD of FA1090), all in the FA1090 strain background. None of the Opa proteins in this study were found to interact with CEACAM6, and CEACAM5, which is bound by OpaD, is not expressed by neutrophils. The use of both phase variable and nonvariable strains conferred advantages to the analyses in this study. Gc with nonvariable Opa expression, in an Opa-deleted background (Opaless), allowed for exact control of which Opa protein was expressed on Gc. Using predominantly expressing Opa+ Gc in a background with limited Opa variation capacity (AopaBEGK) is more similar to bacterial phase variation dynamics *in vivo*, allowing us to assess the role of Opa phase variability and selection for Opa phenotypes in the context of infection. For Gc expressing Opa proteins that bind both CEACAM1 and 3, the ability to phase-vary enhanced survival of the Opa phase-OFF bacteria in the population after exposure to neutrophils, increasing the recovery of Gc in the infection mix over time. Thus, the ability of Gc to avoid phagocytic killing by neutrophils is affected by both Opa expression status and the specific Opa protein being expressed.

The two Opa expressors in this study that were most readily phagocytosed and killed by neutrophils, OpaD and OpaI of FA1090, engage multiple CEACAMs, including CEACAM1 and CEACAM3 (173). Neutrophils constitutively express CEACAM3 at a relatively low level, regardless of their activation status, while CEACAM1 expression is upregulated with exposure to cytokines (220). The non-CEACAM binding strains could bind to HSPGs to mediate interaction with neutrophils. Opa proteins are also highly positively charged at neutral pH (pI ~11) and may interact with cell membranes in an ionic but non-receptor mediated manner. To fully understand the mechanisms by which Gc expressing OpaD and OpaI strongly associate with human neutrophils will require methods for manipulation of receptor expression in these primary, terminally differentiated cells, which are not currently available. It is also possible that in addition to characteristics of the Opa protein itself, the amount of Opa protein

stably expressed on the bacterial surface influences bacterial interactions with neutrophils, although this is a less likely explanation for OpaInv and OpaDnv, where the nonvariable opa allele is under control of the native opaD promoter. Future studies that investigate a broader array of Opa proteins for their receptorbinding and survival profiles after exposure to neutrophils will help us better understand how the Gc Opa protein repertoire contributes to infectivity.

We were surprised to see that formation of mature phagosomes, release of granule content by neutrophils in response to Gc, and to some extent release of ROS, occurred regardless of which Opa protein was expressed. CEACAM1 is a canonically inhibitory receptor, containing an ITIM motif in its cytosolic domain. Other literature has shown a reduction in cellular activity and proliferation upon CEACAM1 binding (51, 221). In contrast, CEACAM3 contains an ITAM domain and has been shown to be activating (48, 55). Signaling downstream of CEACAMs involves recruitment of kinases leading to p47phox activation and consequent NADPH oxidase assembly (60, 61). In mouse promyelocytes transduced to express human CEACAMs, cross-talk between receptors leads to activation of signals downstream of CEACAM3, when the cells are presented with Gc expressing a CEACAM1-only binding Opa protein (222). Interaction of HSPGs, the secondary receptor of Opa proteins, with β -integrins has been shown to activate neutrophils in a similar manner (223). We anticipate that the

similarities in phagosome maturation, degranulation, ROS, and death observed in the current study are due to Syk activation and Src recruitment downstream of CEACAM3 activation, precipitated by either CEACAM1 or CEACAM3 binding. Previous work by Sarantis and Gray-Owen showed that neutrophils were activated to a similar extent in response to either CEACAM1 or CEACAM3 being bound by Gc (222). Our work is in agreement in that we demonstrate here that primary granules mobilize and are delivered to both the Gc-containing phagosome as well as the neutrophil membrane. However, our work reports less pronounced differences between the Opa-expressing and Opaless strains than we reported previously (57). While we do not have a direct explanation for this difference, variation in human subjects' neutrophils or other as-yet unidentified features of the infection milieu could contribute.

Compared to the more conserved CEACAM1, human CEACAM3 has evolved relatively recently and is specifically expressed on neutrophils and other granulocytes (59). It has been proposed that CEACAM3 expression is an evolutionary tactic by the human innate immune system to attempt to control infection by pathogens that target CEACAM1. In addition to *Neisseria*, multiple pathogens are known to express outer membrane proteins that bind to CEACAM1, including *Haemophilus influenzae*, *Moraxella catarrhalis*, and *Helicobacter pylori*, enabling bacterial colonization and survival (175, 176, 188).

Some viruses are also able to utilize CEACAM1 as a cellular receptor (224). Similar to Gc, none of the known species of CEACAM-binding bacteria have an adhesin that binds solely to CEACAM3. Our data and others show that Gc with the ability to bind to CEACAM3 are more likely to be phagocytosed and killed by neutrophils (44, 45, 55–57, 189, 222, 225, 226). Together these observations support a model where CEACAM3 plays an important role in controlling infections by human-targeting pathogens, but in turn, these pathogens take advantage of recombination, mutation, and phase variation to generate an array of related adhesins, some of which evade binding to CEACAM3. This model is supported by the fact that there is a selection for Opa- bacteria after exposure to human neutrophils when the Gc inoculum is predominantly expressing phasevariable CEACAM1 or CEACAM3 binding OpaI or OpaD proteins, which is not observed in bacterial populations expressing Gc that do not engage CEACAM3.

Opa proteins are adhesins not only for human neutrophils, the focus of this work, but also human epithelial cells. In particular, Opa-CEACAM interactions enable successful infection by allowing binding to the epithelial cells at the site of infection as well as preventing shedding of those epithelial cells to drive longerterm colonization (165, 166, 227). In contrast, the enhanced phagocytosis of Opa+ Gc by neutrophils leads to decreased bacterial survival, as we and others have shown. In addition, the predominance of Opa-expressing Gc varies with the menstrual cycle, which has been attributed in part to sex-hormone-based changes in expression of proteases and other innate immune effectors to which Opa+ Gc are more sensitive (170). Along these lines, we reported that OpaD+ Gc is more sensitive than Opaless to killing by bactericidal/permeability-increasing protein (57). Hormonal changes may also affect how well Gc survives inside host cells (228).

Given the competing needs of Gc to colonize epithelial surfaces, yet avoid clearance by soluble and cellular immune effectors, phase variability of Opa proteins is advantageous to Gc on a population level. In particular, as uncovered in this study, the phagocytic and antimicrobial activities of neutrophils drive selection in the population for Gc that have phase-varied off expression of CEACAM3-binding Opa proteins, because of the enhanced phagocytic killing of the CEACAM3 expressors. However, Gc expressing Opa proteins that are less rapidly phagocytosed and killed do not experience the same negative selection. These data, along with the understanding that Opa proteins are important for epithelial binding, suggest that the possession of numerous Opa genes, each independently phase variable and with their own receptor-binding properties, allows the Gc population to constantly test its environment in order to maximize their ability to colonize while avoiding immune clearance. These results provide one explanation for why human gonorrheal exudates commonly contain Opa+

Gc, when some Opa+ bacteria are more susceptible to phagocytic killing by neutrophils. Since primary Opa sequence does not indicate receptor specificity or selectivity, the dynamics of opa gene recombination, mutation, and phase variable expression are especially important to adapt to different conditions during infection, and together enable the overall persistence of Gc in its obligate human hosts.

3.4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.4.1 Bacteria Used in this Study

All Gc used in this study are in the FA1090 background, constitutively encoding the pilin variant 1-81-S2 due to a mutation in the G4 sequence upstream of pilE (105, 143). Opaless (*ΔopaA-K*) and OpaDnv (Opaless with a constitutively expressed, non-phase-variable *opaD* allele in the *opaD* locus) were described previously (105). OpaInv and Opa50nv were created in a similar manner to OpaDnv, with the non-phase-variable genes placed into the opaD locus. Opa50nv has been previously described (191). OpaInv was created by transforming into Opaless a synthesized *opaI* with the OpaDnv non-variable signal sequence, flanked by ~500 bp upstream and downstream of the *opaD* locus (Genewiz). Transformants were selected by their colony opacity and confirmed by sequencing. Opa54nv was created by cloning a constitutively expressed, nonphase-variable version of opa54 from strain MS11 (gift of S. Gray-Owen,

University of Toronto) (229) into the pKH35 complementation plasmid (230), then incorporating the allele between lctP and aspC in Opaless by spot transformation and selection using chloramphenicol ($0.5 \mu g/mL$) (173). In Opa54nv, Opa54 expression is induced by growing the Gc in the presence of 1 mM IPTG. ΔopaBEGK, in which the four "transparent" Opa proteins that do not confer a strongly opaque phenotype on FA1090 were deleted in-frame (opaB, opaE, opaG, and opaK), was previously described (105). Predominantly OpaA+, OpaF+, and OpaI+ expressors in ∆opaBEGK were selected by eye by their colony opacity. For Opa phase-variable bacteria, expression of the single Opa protein of interest was confirmed by Western blotting bacterial lysates with a panel of FA1090 Opa-specific antibodies (a gift from M. Hobbs, University of North Carolina) (231). Western blotting was similarly used to assess the Opapredominance of the Δ opaBEGK population. The phase variable \neg opaA, opaF, and opal sequences were extrapolated from the FA1090 genome sequence using the genomic locations previously reported (105). opaD (105), opa50 (191), and *opa54* (173) sequences were published previously and confirmed after introduction into Opaless by DNA sequencing.

3.4.2 Bacterial Growth Conditions

Gc were grown overnight on gonococcal medium base (GCB; Difco) plus Kellogg's supplements (232) at 37° C with 5% CO2. Gc was grown in rich liquid medium (GCBL) with Kellogg's supplements overnight with rotation at 30 °C, then back diluted twice and grown with rotation at 37 °C as previously described (217). Piliated Gc were enriched at the final dilution by collecting naturally sedimented bacteria for transfer into fresh medium. Opa54nv was grown in the presence of 1 mM IPTG in all liquid conditions.

3.4.3 CEACAM Binding of Opa+ Gc using Imaging Flow Cytometry

GST-tagged N-terminal domains of human CEACAM1 (N-CEACAM1) and CEACAM3 (N-CEACAM3) were purified as in (173). Opa+ Gc or the \triangle opaBEGK parent bacteria (1x108 CFU/mL) were incubated with GST-tagged N-CEACAM (N-CEACAM1, N-CEACAM3) for 30 minutes at 37°C with end-over-end rotation. Gc incubated without any N-CEACAM was used as a negative control. Gc was then washed and stained to detect the presence of CEACAM with anti-GST antibody, as previously described (173). Bacteria were then resuspended in 2% paraformaldehyde with 5 μ g/mL DAPI. Bacteria were processed using the ImageStreamX Mk II imaging flow cytometer and analyzed with INSPIRE® and IDEAS® v. 6.2 Software packages (Amnis Luminex Corporation). Cells were gated by singlets, focused cells, DAPI expression, the AF488 expression (173). The binding profiles of Opa50nv, Opa54nv, and OpaDnv were previously reported (173) as percent of the bacterial population positive for GST. For each sample, at least 40,000 cells were analyzed.

3.4.4 Neutrophil Isolation

Venous blood was collected from healthy human subjects in accordance with a protocol approved by the University of Virginia Institutional Review Board for Health Sciences Research (protocol #13909). Neutrophils were isolated via dextran sedimentation followed by a Ficoll gradient as previously described (217). Neutrophils were resuspended in Dulbecco's PBS (without calcium and magnesium; Thermo Scientific) containing 0.1% dextrose and used within two hours of isolation.

3.4.5 Neutrophil ROS Production

Neutrophils (2x105) were resuspended in Morse's defined medium (MDM; (233)) in the presence of 20 μ M luminol. Gc were added at a MOI of 100. Luminoldependent chemiluminescence was measured every three minutes for one hour on a VICTOR3 Wallac luminometer (Perkin-Elmer) as previously described (60). One representative of \geq 3 biological replicates is presented. Uninfected, untreated neutrophils were used as a negative control in each experiment (60).

3.4.6 Imaging Flow Cytometric Analysis of Bacterial Association with and Internalization by Neutrophils

Gc was labeled with Tag-it Violet[™] Proliferation and Cell Tracking Dye (TIV) (Biolegend) in PBS with 5 mM MgSO4 for 15 minutes at 37 °C. Bacteria were then added to neutrophils at an MOI of 1 that were adhered to plastic coverslips in 6

well plates. Neutrophils were suspended in RPMI with 10% fetal bovine serum and pretreated with IL-8. At the indicated time points, cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS and removed from the coverslips by gentle scraping as previously described (216). Extracellular bacteria were identified by staining with DyLight 650-conjugated (Thermo Scientific) goat anti-N. gonorrhoeae antibody (Biosource), diluted in PBS containing 10% normal goat serum at a final concentration of 1 µg/ml. Cells were then processed on the ImageStreamX Mk II imaging flow cytometer and analyzed with INSPIRE® and IDEAS® v. 6.2 Software packages (Luminex Corporation). Gating was completed as previously described (216). Briefly, focused, single cells were gated for low DL650, then spot counted for TIV+ Gc. Results are reported as the percentage of the neutrophil population with at least one bacterium that is associated (TIV+) (bound or internalized).

3.4.7 Gc Survival in the Presence of Primary Human Neutrophils

Neutrophils were treated with 10 nM human IL-8 (R&D) in Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 medium (RPMI) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) at 37°C with 5% CO2 and were allowed to adhere to 13 mm diameter plastic cover slips (Sarstedt) for at least 30 minutes prior to infection. Mid-logarithmic phase Gc were exposed to neutrophils at an MOI of 1 and centrifuged together at 12 °C to synchronize infection. At the indicated time points, neutrophils were lysed in 1% saponin, lysates were serially diluted and plated, and CFU were enumerated from lysates after overnight growth (217). Results are reported as the CFU enumerated at the indicated time point, divided by the CFU associated with neutrophils at time 0 min x 100%.

3.4.8 Determination of Intracellular and Extracellular Bacterial Viability

Adherent, IL-8 treated neutrophils were exposed to Gc as for the bacterial survival assays, except Gc was added at MOI of 10. After 60 minutes, Gc were incubated for 10 min at room temperature in 0.1 M MOPS pH 7.2 + 1 mM MgCl2 containing 5 μ g/mL Alexa Fluor 647-coupled soybean agglutinin (Thermo Fisher) to recognize extracellular bacteria. Cells were then permeabilized with 0.1% saponin, and viable and non-viable Gc were detected using the BacLight LIVE/DEAD Viability Kit (Invitrogen) as previously described (219).

3.4.9 Neutrophil Phagosome Maturity

Adherent, IL-8 treated neutrophils were exposed to Gc at MOI of 1 as above, except bacteria were first labeled with carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE) at 1:1000 in PBS with 5 mM MgSO4 for 25 minutes at 37 °C. After 60 minutes, cells were fixed and processed for immunofluorescence microscopy as in (58). Cells were blocked in PBS with 10% normal goat serum (NGS) for 10 minutes at room temperature. Extracellular Gc were stained using an anti-*Neisseria gonorrhoeae* antibody, followed by Alexa Fluor 647-coupled goat antirabbit IgG (Life Technologies). Cells were then permeabilized in PBS with 10% NGS and 0.2% saponin and stained with an antibody against neutrophil elastase (AHN-10) (Millipore), followed by Alexa Fluor 555-coupled goat anti-mouse IgG (Life Technologies).

3.4.10 Degranulation

Surface expression of primary granule markers was determined as previously described (122). Gc were incubated with primary neutrophils adhered to glass slides for one hour at 37 °C. Cells were then lifted for 10 minutes on ice using 5mM EDTA and washed twice in DPBS with 0.1% dextrose. They were then stained with PE-CD63 (Biolegend) for 30 minutes on ice, as an indicator of primary granule exocytosis. Isotype controls (Biolegend PE-IgG1) were stained using the same protocol. Data were acquired using a Cytek Aurora Borealis spectral flow cytometer and analyzed using FCS Express (De Novo Software). The mean fluorescence intensity of each of the samples was normalized to the Opaless sample as a biological negative control.

3.4.11 Fluorescence Microscopy

Images were acquired on a Nikon Eclipse E800 UV/visible fluorescence microscope with Hamamatsu Orca-ER digital camera and analyzed using Nis-Elements (Nikon). At least 5 images were taken for each individual experiment, and >50 individual bacteria/phagosomes were counted.

3.4.12 Statistics

For all experiments except for the chemiluminescence assay, results are depicted as the mean + standard error for > 3 independent experiments (different subjects' neutrophils, different bacterial cultures). Statistics were calculated using GraphPad PRISM (Version 9.3.1) analysis software. For all experiments, a P value of < 0.05 was considered significant. Specific statistical tests are reported for each figure with ANOVA used for multiple comparisons for parametric data.

Chapter 4: DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

4.1 SUMMARY

In this dissertation, I sought to answer an outstanding question in the Gc field; why is there a selection for specific Opa proteins *in vivo*, and what drives that selection? Previous literature had shown that infection with Opa- Gc led to recovery of Opa+ Gc from infected individuals (156). Further studies have shown that specific Opas predominate in human challenge (171) and additionally, the overall population of Opa expressing Gc shows a selection for a specific CEACAM binding capability, in which a majority of collected isolates bind to CEACAM1, with a much smaller population binding both CEACAM1 and CEACAM3 (169). However, despite the understanding that there seemed to be advantage for Opa expression *in vivo*, what was leading to that selection was unknown.

Previous literature had shown that expression of Opa proteins, while useful for conferring a sustained infection, led to neutrophilic activation and bacterial death (45, 47, 57, 226). However, these studies did not consider which receptors the expressed Opa proteins were interacting with. Prior to this thesis, it was hypothesized that the signaling downstream of the transmembrane CEACAMs on neutrophils was the major factor in bacterial survival. The ITIM on CEACAM1 suggested that binding CEACAM1 would lead to inhibitory signaling in neutrophils (234), allowing for survival, while Sarantis and Gray-Owen proposed that a crosstalk between CEACAM1 and CEACAM3 was occurring, activating the neutrophil in the same manner, regardless of what CEACAM was bound (222).

In this thesis, I was able to employ a system utilizing primary human neutrophils developed in the Criss lab. I built upon a bacterial genetic system generated by former lab manager Louise Ball in which all *opa* genes were deleted from strain FA1090, and into which individual non variable *opa* genes are added. I was able to determine the CEACAM binding capability of previously uncharacterized Opa proteins with fellow graduate student Lacie Werner and then determine the effect of that receptor binding by cloning and expressing genes of selected Opa proteins into the Opaless background. In addition, I also worked with predominantly phase-ON Opa+ bacteria in a minimally Opa variable background. I sought to understand how the differences in receptor binding affected neutrophil activation and bacterial survival. Overall, I found that Opa expression itself was not detrimental to Gc, but instead the main driver of bacterial killing was how well the bacteria associated with neutrophils.

122

My results show that Gc expressing Opa proteins that engage CEACAM1 and CEACAM3 showed greater association and phagocytosis by neutrophils than Opa+ Gc that do not bind CEACAM3 or Opa- Gc (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1 Increased association by CEACAM1 + 3 binding Opa+ Gc increases neutrophil activation and increased Gc population death

A model showing how Opa binding to CEACAM affects bacterial survival and neutrophil activation. Gc (pink diplococcus) interact with neutrophils via CEACAMs. Expression of Opa proteins leads to increased neutrophil association over Opa- Gc; the highest association occurs when Gc bind both CEACAM1 and CEACAM3. Increased association is correlated with increased neutrophil activation and bacterial death. Interestingly, I found that once Opa+ Gc have associated with neutrophils, the bacterial outcome and activation of the neutrophil is similar independent of CEACAM binding; phagosome maturation, degranulation, and intracellular bacterial viability were similar independent of the Opa protein being expressed on the bacterial surface. Bacterial viability of Opa- bacteria was slightly increased over Opa+ Gc, implying that Opa- bacteria survive better as they are able to stay extracellular, as previously reported (57).

My data are able to advance the field of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* by addressing how Opa+ Gc are able to colonize a host without being killed by the immune system. I show that neutrophil association is a major factor in bacterial killing, and while we were already knowledgeable about how Gc was able to evade neutrophil antimicrobial function, my findings show that Gc are able to reduce neutrophil association even before they need to evade immune killing.

The findings presented in this dissertation raise additional questions about the effects of Opa expression on interactions of Gc with neutrophils. First, how is Opa protein binding to neutrophils affected by biological conditions and binding affinity? Second, is neutrophil signaling different than the signaling that has been shown in other cell types, and are both CEACAMs 1 and 3 initiating the same signaling pathway? Third, are there differences in CEACAM expression at different activation states of the neutrophil, and do those differences play a role

in the Opa mediated interaction? Finally, are there other factors that affect the selection for Opa+ Gc in the human body?

4.2 BIOLOGICALLY RELEVANT NEUTROPHIL/GC INTERACTIONS

In this thesis, I investigated which CEACAMs each Opa protein was able to bind to and determined the outcome of neutrophil/Gc interactions dependent upon that binding capability. However, our binding data did not consider how likely those Opa/CEACAM interaction are in a cellular context. I also did not test how strong each of the interactions are, as well as how other receptors on the neutrophil surface affect the Gc's ability to bind with the intended CEACAM. In this section I will discuss considerations for future directions studying Opa/CEACAM interactions.

4.2.1 CEACAM Binding Capability of Opa Expressing Gc

In Chapter 2, we investigated the CEACAM binding ability of different Opa proteins to the known neutrophil and epithelial expressed CEACAMs. We used Gc non-variably expressing Opa proteins along with GST tagged recombinant N-CEACAM. Our study was able to specifically determine the CEACAM binding capability of the tested Opa proteins. Our assay was selective as well, as we did not see binding to non-Opa expressing bacteria or Gc expressing Opa50 which binds to HSPGs. While we are confident we are able to determine which CEACAM an Opa protein can bind to, it is important to note that there are caveats to this assay, as CEACAMs *in vivo* that interact with Opas will be membrane bound to cells which may affect the interaction. There is some discrepancy in the Opa literature about which CEACAMs are bound by certain Opa proteins. For example, some literature shows that Opa59 of strain MS11 only binds CEACAM5 (189), while other literature shows Opa59 only binds CEACAM1 (185). Further, as shown in the thesis, Opa54 does not bind to CEACAM5, but other reports show that it can (189). These differences could be due to varied methods of testing the interactions. While we used a recombinant system and whole bacteria with locked Opa expression, other work has used cellular based systems with a single CEACAM expressed (166, 189).

4.2.1.1 Effects of Glycosylation on Opa/CEACAM Interactions

In human cells, CEACAMs are glycosylated and our reductive system did not utilize recombinant CEACAMs with any modifications. In humans, glycosylation occurs on the non-binding face of the CEACAM, so it is unlikely it would affect the Opa CEACAM interaction (185, 235). A recent study has shown that glycosylation does not affect the ability of CEACAM1 to dimerize (236), and as the CEACAM/CEACAM binding face is similar to that of the Opa/CEACAM interface, it is unlikely that Opa interactions would be affected by glycosylation. Given the knowledge that the structure of the Opa as well as interactions with other surface expressed components such as LOS affect the ability to bind CEACAMs, testing how CEACAM modifications may affect Opa binding to CEACAMs be important in determining the biological relevance of our pulldown assay. A cellular model of CEACAM binding would be very useful in assessing these interactions.

4.2.1.2 Variation in Opa Proteins

In addition to different model systems being used, variable *opa* genes are under evolutionary pressure for diversification through mutation and recombination (237). Because of this, an Opa protein used in one study may differ from an Opa protein in another study though they are reported to be the same, as shown in differential CEACAM binding described in the section above. This highlights the importance of reporting the sequence of the tested *opas* being used in manuscripts, as even single nucleotide changes in the sequence could affect how each of the hypervariable loops is expressed, and how it interacts with other loops. Bos et al. reported that creation of an Opa protein with hypervariable loops from different genes with similar CEACAM binding profiles did not always lead to that same profile upon the creation of the new Opa (163). The affinity of binding could also be affected by nucleotide changes which leads to codon change. For these reasons, it is important that the sequence of the Opa being used is reported and compared to other Opa proteins. Creation of a library of Gc expressing an Opa with a known CEACAM binding profile with single

nucleotide mutations in the hypervariable regions could show the effects of recombination events, specifically on how the bacteria interact with CEACAMs. A library like this could also answer what sites in the *opa* sequence are important for CEACAM binding.

4.2.1.3 Binding Affinity to CEACAMs

Given the variability of CEACAM binding by Opa proteins and the knowledge that the binding is regulated by the structure of the protein more than the sequence, it is reasonable to question if there are different affinities for CEACAMs by Opa proteins. Previous work by Jen Martin of the Columbus lab in collaboration with our lab has shown via fluorescence polarization assays that both OpaD and Opa60 (strain MS11) have high nanomolar affinities for both CEACAM1 and CEACAM3 (191). These studies were done using non-tagged recombinant N-CEACAM testing for the percentage of the CEACAM that was bound to the surface of the Opa+ Gc, and while this is an interesting finding, it does not take into account how other neutrophil expressed components such as vitronectin, fibronectin, and heparan sulfate proteoglycans may affect the affinity of the Opa/CEACAM interaction, as can homo- and heterotypic CEACAM binding. Despite the caveat to this assay, it is still an important tool and could be used to determine the affinity of the non-CEACAM3 bind Opas used in this thesis. If the non-CEACAM3 binding Opa proteins showed lower affinity for

their receptors, this could serve as a potential explanation for the reduced association seen when using these Opa+ strains.

4.2.1.4 Opa Protein Expression on the Surface of Gc

In addition to the affinity to receptors, the amount of Opa expressed on the surface of the bacteria could also affect bacterial association with neutrophils. When working with the variable Opa+ strains, I was able to confirm which Opa was being expressed but were unable to test how many Opa proteins were expressed on the surface. Opa50 and OpaD were created in the same Opaless background, with the gene of interest added back into the *opaD* locus (105). This suggests that Opa50 and OpaD should have similar numbers of Opa expressed on their surface. Opa54 was created through complementation of a plasmid containing *opa54* into Opaless (173). The amount of Opa expressed on Opa54 may differ from the other non-variable strains.

To test the effects of the amount of Opa proteins expressed on the bacterial surface and its role in neutrophilic interaction, we could utilize the IPTG inducible nature of the pKH35 plasmid to alter Opa expression (205, 230). pKH35 was created as complementation plasmid to insert a portion of its sequence directly into the Gc genome. An inserted gene can be expressed through exposure to IPTG (205, 230). We can use this tool not only to test the effects of a protein for Gc, but also to potentially regulate how much of the protein is being expressed on the bacterial surface by using differing concentrations of IPTG to induce different levels of expression.

Using a system of differential induction, we could quantify the amount of Opa expressed on the Gc surface using an α -Opa antibody on a Western blot and the Licor Odyssey, which would allow us to quantify the intensity of the Western blot band by fluorescence, indicating the amount of Opa being expressed. Once we confirmed that Opa expression differed dependent upon the IPTG concentration used, we could test how different levels of Opa expression affected neutrophil association and bacterial killing using the same assays performed in Chapter 3. I hypothesize that lower Opa protein expression would lead to less neutrophil association and decreased bacterial survival. This inducible system could also allow us to distinguish if some of the differences in reports about Opa receptor binding capability (discussed in section 4.2.1.2) is due to the amount of surface-exposed protein.

4.2.1.5 Opa Interactions with other Gc Surface Components

It is important to consider for all the Opas that interactions with other Gc surface expressed structures, specifically LOS, may play a role in which receptors they bind and what the affinity for that receptor is. We know that LOS affects how the Opa proteins look opaque grown on plates, so that interaction may also play a role in how the Opa proteins interact with CEACAMs and neutrophils. When LOS is sialylated, it has been shown to prevent the Opa interaction with CEACAMs as well (161). Our model system used neutrophils isolated directly from human blood, but there is no human serum present in the infection, and no added sources for sialic acid for sialylation. Determining how sialylation status of the LOS on each of the Opa+ strains we generated affects that protein's interaction with CEACAMs and more so, its association to neutrophils would give a broader picture to how Opa/CEACAM interactions occur *in vivo*.

4.2.2 Binding to Neutrophils via non-CEACAM Receptors

Interestingly, it is still unknown how OpaA interacts with neutrophils. In this thesis, I show that OpaA does not interact with any of the Opa binding neutrophil expressed CEACAMs. It is possible that it interacts with HSPGs, similar to Opa50, or via a different receptor entirely. Overall, our work showed that OpaA+ showed similar association and survival phenotypes to Opa- Gc, indicating that OpaA+ Gc and Opa- bacteria could be interacting with neutrophils in the same manner.

4.3 NEUTROPHIL SIGNALING DOWNSTREAM OF CEACAMS 1 AND 3

While much previous literature has shown Opa-dependent signaling downstream of CEACAMs in either artificial conditions or other cell types (51, 182, 187), determining CEACAM signaling after interaction with Opa proteins in primary human neutrophils would benefit the field by identifying key signaling pathways involved in the immune response to Gc.

4.3.1 CEACAM Signaling in Primary Human Neutrophils

Though I did not see differential activation of neutrophils downstream of CEACAM binding including phagosome maturation, degranulation, and phagocytosis, I have yet to investigate the signaling pathways that are stimulated downstream of each receptor in the context of primary human neutrophils infected with Gc. As described in Chapter 1, CEACAM1 recruits tyrosine phosphatase SHP1 while CEACAM3 recruits kinases leading to antimicrobial activity (52, 57) (Figure 1.1). Previous work investigating CEACAM signaling has taken place in cell types other than primary human neutrophils (51, 182, 187). Given our system and the availability of primary cells, testing CEACAM signaling would add to the field by showing the current *in vitro* works is recapitulated *ex vivo*. It would also give us insight into whether the pathways downstream of each CEACAM activate antimicrobial activity individually or if there is signal crosstalk, as has been previously reported (222). In lab, we can infect neutrophils with Gc expressing Opas with specific CEACAM binding capability, allowing us to understand how signaling downstream of each CEACAM occurs. Opa54 would give us signaling specifically of CEACAM1. While we do not have a CEACAM3 only binding Opa+ strain, we can elucidate

the signaling downstream of a CEACAM1 and 3 binding Opa expressing Gc based on current literature as well as comparisons to the Opa54 condition.

After infection, neutrophils can be fractionated so we can observe signaling at the membrane and in the cytosol specifically (60). As I measured similar antimicrobial activity and bacterial killing, we would hypothesize that overall, the signaling pathway would be similar regardless of if CEACAM1 alone, CEACAM1 and CEACAM3, or a non-CEACAM receptor are bound. Given the known pathways leading to phagocytosis and granule mobilization, I would expect to see phosphorylation or recruitment of Hck, Rac, PI3K, Syk, and others (238). Previous work has shown that there is a crosstalk between CEACAM1 and CEACAM1 and CEACAM3 (222), and given our data, that is a likely possibility.

My attempts at determining CEACAM signaling was thwarted by the difficulties of working with primary human cells, including high numbers of proteases that release upon cellular activation as well as the inability to genetically modify the cells to determine signaling downstream of a specific receptor. These reasons are why others have chosen to work with surrogate cells, but the results in neutrophils may not be recapitulated in those systems. Further, a transgenic mouse model with human CEACAMs expressed on murine neutrophils has been used (56), but this system did not include neutrophils expressing all the CEACAMs found on human neutrophils, and does not take into account interactions with other human receptors on the surface of the cell.

4.3.2 Formation of the NADPH Oxidase

Despite similar outcomes for the bacteria and overall similar neutrophil activation, I did measure slight differences in neutrophil release of ROS in response to Opa+ Gc. I saw the most potent oxidative burst in response to OpaD, binding both CEACAM1 and CEACAM3. I observed the release of ROS when a CEACAM was bound by Gc, and less when the receptor was another binding partner. I also saw a delay in the release of ROS when using Opa54 which only binds CEACAM1. As discussed in Chapter 3, I saw similar levels of degranulation in response to all tested strains. This indicates that MPO, found in primary granules, is not affecting the outcome of our ROS assay, suggesting that the formation of the NADPH oxidase complex alone is what differs between Opa protein exposure. Understanding recruitment of and phosphorylation of signals downstream of either CEACEAM1 or CEACAM3 could help answer why I am seeing differences in ROS release.

Our initial hypothesis was that a more potent oxidative burst indicated that the neutrophils were activated in a more antimicrobial manner. Given our data indicating that association was the driving factor influencing bacterial survival, as well as observations of phagosome maturation and degranulation that were
similar regardless of CEACAM binding, we hypothesize that the differences were not due to a difference in overall neutrophil activation, but potentially the result of the amount of CEACAMs bound on the surface. My proposed experiment in section 4.2.1.4 could assist us in answering this question, as we could test the release of ROS from neutrophils after exposure to Gc expressing different amounts of Gc on its surface.

4.4 NEUTROPHIL RECEPTOR EXPRESSION

Another unanswered question that was raised because of this thesis: are there differences in CEACAM expression on neutrophils dependent upon activation state and do those differences play a role in the Opa-mediated interactions between neutrophils and Gc? A main hypothesis as to why I saw differential association to neutrophils dependent upon Opa expression is the availability of receptors on the surface of neutrophils.

4.4.1 CEACAM Expression on Neutrophils

CEACAM1 expression is upregulated on the surface of neutrophils after cellular activation, while expression of CEACAM3 is consistent throughout infection (220). While I found CEACAM1 and 3 binding Opa+ Gc to have higher neutrophil association at each timepoint tested, though by 60 minutes the non-CEACAM3 binding Opa expressing Gc strains showed association levels closer to that of the strains expressing CEACAM3 binding Opas, though there was still a significant difference. This could be due to upregulation of CEACAM1, HSPGs, or other cellular receptors to which the bacteria could bind. Quantifying the amount of each CEACAM receptor on the surface of the neutrophils both before and after activation using Western blot or flow cytometry would allow us to better understand why there was differential association with Opa+ Gc. Our 60 minute time point testing neutrophilic association hints at an increase in receptor availability as well; I saw immediate high levels of association with the CEACAM1 and 3 binding Opa+ strains. Conversely, the non-CEACAM3 binding Opa+ strains saw an increase in association over the course of one hour.

Jerse et al showed that OpaF, a CEACAM1 only binding Opa, is commonly recovered early in infection in human challenge models. This would be advantageous to the bacteria as they would only be interacting with CEACAM1, and per my thesis, I saw a selective pressure from neutrophils only against those Gc expressing Opas that bound to both CEACAM1 and CEACAM3, whereas there was no selection against Gc expressing OpaF in the presence of neutrophils. Further, this temporal change in receptor expression could explain why there also seems to be a delay in both ROS when the Gc are expressing Opa54.

4.4.2 CEACAM1 Isoforms

The isoform of CEACAM1 expressed on the surface of neutrophils may also play a role in how well the neutrophils are able to kill bacteria. There are eleven isoforms of CEACAM1, with the CEACAM1-4L isoform containing the ITIM found to be the most common on human immune cells (239). Dependent on which isoform is expressed in different individuals, the neutrophil activation and antimicrobial activity may differ as not all isoforms contain the ITIM.

Given our availability to a pool of human donors, we have the ability to define the CEACAM1 isoform expressed for an individual donor using Western blotting with an antibody specific for CEACAM1 and could define the isoform by the size of the band. With that knowledge, we could then compare the antimicrobial activity seen when using each isoform. Without activation of downstream signaling that leads to phagocytosis and granule mobilization, association alone may not be enough for bacterial killing. We utilize human donors for our studies, therefore have the capability to test a small population for their CEACAM1 isoform expression.

In addition to CEACAM1 isoforms, there have been reports of CEACAM3 isoforms (240, 241). One potential isoform has been suggested to be secreted isoform as it does not contain the ITAM cytosolic motif (240), while another has only been shown in a single patient with leukemia (241). As these isoforms are not well defined and seem to be connected to illness, it is unlikely they play a role in healthy individuals.

4.5 OTHER FACTORS AFFECTING SELECTION AGAINST OPA

EXPRESSION

In addition to pressure of the presence of neutrophils upon Gc infection into a host, there are other factors within the context of a host that may affect the selection for specific Opa proteins *in vivo*. First, previous work from our lab has shown that OpaD+ Gc are significantly more susceptible to bactericidal/permeability-increasing protein (BPI) than Opaless Gc (57). BPI susceptibility testing of the other Opa proteins examined in this thesis could further reveal why expression of some Opas is disadvantageous to Gc. Secondly, the menstrual cycle has also been shown to affect Opa selection during infection (170). Dependent upon which phase of the cycle infection occurs, hormones alter the expression of proteases and immune effectors which affects viability of Opa+ Gc. Finally, the ability of Opa proteins to interact with CEACAMs expressed on epithelial cells may also affect how likely they are to sustain an infection in the host. Epithelial receptor binding may not contribute to bacterial killing, but if Gc is expressing Opa proteins that cannot interact with the expressed receptors, the bacteria will not stay in the host. Opa- bacteria have been shown to be less prevalent in clinical infection (156, 242). CEACAM1 is expressed in the upper genital tract (the endocervix and uterus) while CEACAM5 is expressed in the lower genital tract (ectocervix and vagina) (243). Dependent upon where an

infection happens in the genital tract, expression of different Opas may be advantageous to Gc.

4.6 OVERALL CONCLUSIONS

While neutrophils are normally successful as clearing infections from hosts, Gc is a master at evading these cells. Much previous work has shown that Gc is able to avoid the individual antimicrobial components of neutrophils such as NETs (99), ROS (110), and antimicrobial components such as cationic antimicrobial peptides (117), but my work shows that Gc is first able to reduce association with neutrophils dependent upon which Opa proteins it expresses, allowing for increased bacterial survival. In addition to avoiding the immune response of neutrophils, expressing Opa proteins that bind CEACAM1 will down regulate activation of T-cells (51), further dampening the adaptive immune response. These bacteria will also be able to stay in the host longer as they will be able to bind to endocervical cells (165, 166).

Given the overall conclusions I have drawn that high association with neutrophils leads to increased bacterial death, the question arises, why express Opa proteins at all? While my work does not address bacterial interactions with epithelial cells, other literature has shown that expression of Opa proteins that can bind the epithelial or endothelially expressed CEACAMs is imperative for a sustained infection (165, 166). In fact, interaction with CEACAMs via Opa

proteins on epithelial cells has been shown to reduce epithelial shedding (discussed in section 1.4.5) (165). Further, my work has shown that while expressing Opa proteins leads to more bacterial death than not expressing them, expressing Opa proteins that are not able to bind to CEACAM3 survive better at the population level than CEACAM-3 binding Opa+ Gc after exposure to neutrophils. Expression of Opa proteins seems to be a balancing act for Gc. The bacteria need to express the proteins so they can bind to and infect the host, but also need to make sure it is an Opa protein that will not lead to bacterial death via interaction with neutrophils. Further, Gc take advantage of the phase variability of these proteins such that they are able to have a very heterogenous population at any time during infection. Work from Ann Jerse's lab has shown that Opa expression changes over time but it is almost always variable within the population, with there very rarely being selection for only one Opa protein over the course of the infection (170, 171). This heterogeneity allows the bacterial population to be expressing multiple Opa proteins as one time which will allow the overall population to stay in the host and be able to transmit to a next person. In addition to being phase variable, opas undergo continuous sequence variation through both recombination as well as mutation. This constant switching of the opa genes and subsequent Opa proteins provides Gc with a strong defense against the immune response of the host. There is limited capability of the

immune system to create protective immunity due to the constantly changing surface of Gc. Because Opa proteins are so variable, studying Gc and neutrophils is more than studying just the bacteria-cell interaction. Gc are successful as they act as a population that takes full advantage of its intrinsic ability to vary and survive a potent immune response.

References

- Palmer A, Criss AK. 2018. Gonococcal Defenses against Antimicrobial Activities of Neutrophils. Trends Microbiol 26:1022–1034.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (U.S.). 2019. Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States, 2019. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (U.S.).
- 2021. Detailed STD Facts Gonorrhea.
 https://www.cdc.gov/std/gonorrhea/stdfact-gonorrhea-detailed.htm.
 Retrieved 4 March 2022.
- 4. Reekie J, Donovan B, Guy R, Hocking JS, Kaldor JM, Mak DB, Pearson S, Preen D, Stewart L, Ward J, Liu B, Chlamydia and Reproductive Health Outcome Investigators, Chlamydia and Reproductive Health Outcome Investigators. 2018. Risk of Pelvic Inflammatory Disease in Relation to Chlamydia and Gonorrhea Testing, Repeat Testing, and Positivity: A Population-Based Cohort Study. Clin Infect Dis Off Publ Infect Dis Soc Am 66:437–443.
- Walker CK, Sweet RL. 2011. Gonorrhea infection in women: prevalence, effects, screening, and management. Int J Womens Health 3:197–206.

- Ivensky V, Mandel R, Boulay A-C, Lavallée C, Benoît J, Labbé A-C. 2021.
 Suboptimal prenatal screening of Chlamydia trachomatis and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* infections in a Montréal birthing and tertiary care centre: A retrospective cohort study. Can Commun Dis Rep 47:209–215.
- 7. Edwards JL, Apicella MA. 2004. The Molecular Mechanisms Used by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* To Initiate Infection Differ between Men and Women. Clin Microbiol Rev 17:965–981.
- Evans BA. 1977. Ultrastructural study of cervical gonorrhea. J Infect Dis 136:248–255.
- 9. von Vietinghoff S, Ley K. 2008. Homeostatic regulation of blood neutrophil counts. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950 181:5183–5188.
- Rosales C. 2018. Neutrophil: A Cell with Many Roles in Inflammation or Several Cell Types? Front Physiol 9:113.
- Lacy P, Eitzen G. 2008. Control of granule exocytosis in neutrophils. Front Biosci J Virtual Libr 13:5559–5570.
- Dancey JT, Deubelbeiss KA, Harker LA, Finch CA. 1976. Neutrophil kinetics in man. J Clin Invest 58:705–715.

- Price TH, Chatta GS, Dale DC. 1996. Effect of recombinant granulocyte colony-stimulating factor on neutrophil kinetics in normal young and elderly humans. Blood 88:335–340.
- Fadok VA, Bratton DL, Konowal A, Freed PW, Westcott JY, Henson PM.
 1998. Macrophages that have ingested apoptotic cells in vitro inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production through autocrine/paracrine mechanisms involving TGF-beta, PGE2, and PAF. J Clin Invest 101:890– 898.
- 15. Ma Q, Jones D, Springer TA. 1999. The chemokine receptor CXCR4 is required for the retention of B lineage and granulocytic precursors within the bone marrow microenvironment. Immunity 10:463–471.
- 16. Lieschke GJ, Grail D, Hodgson G, Metcalf D, Stanley E, Cheers C, Fowler KJ, Basu S, Zhan YF, Dunn AR. 1994. Mice lacking granulocyte colonystimulating factor have chronic neutropenia, granulocyte and macrophage progenitor cell deficiency, and impaired neutrophil mobilization. Blood 84:1737–1746.
- 17. Wengner AM, Pitchford SC, Furze RC, Rankin SM. 2008. The coordinated action of G-CSF and ELR + CXC chemokines in neutrophil mobilization during acute inflammation. Blood 111:42–49.

- Petit I, Szyper-Kravitz M, Nagler A, Lahav M, Peled A, Habler L, Ponomaryov T, Taichman RS, Arenzana-Seisdedos F, Fujii N, Sandbank J, Zipori D, Lapidot T. 2002. G-CSF induces stem cell mobilization by decreasing bone marrow SDF-1 and up-regulating CXCR4. Nat Immunol 3:687–694.
- Kim HK, De La Luz Sierra M, Williams CK, Gulino AV, Tosato G. 2006. G-CSF down-regulation of CXCR4 expression identified as a mechanism for mobilization of myeloid cells. Blood 108:812–820.
- 20. Stevens JS, Criss AK. 2018. Pathogenesis of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* in the female reproductive tract: neutrophilic host response, sustained infection, and clinical sequelae. Curr Opin Hematol 25:13–21.
- 21. Criss AK, Seifert HS. 2012. A bacterial siren song: intimate interactions between *Neisseria* and neutrophils. Nat Rev Microbiol 10:178–190.
- 22. Collins RG, Jung U, Ramirez M, Bullard DC, Hicks MJ, Smith CW, Ley K, Beaudet AL. 2001. Dermal and pulmonary inflammatory disease in Eselectin and P-selectin double-null mice is reduced in triple-selectin-null mice. Blood 98:727–735.

- Gotsch U, Jäger U, Dominis M, Vestweber D. 1994. Expression of P-selectin on endothelial cells is upregulated by LPS and TNF-alpha in vivo. Cell Adhes Commun 2:7–14.
- Bonfanti R, Furie BC, Furie B, Wagner DD. 1989. PADGEM (GMP140) is a component of Weibel-Palade bodies of human endothelial cells. Blood 73:1109–1112.
- Lowe JB, Stoolman LM, Nair RP, Larsen RD, Berhend TL, Marks RM. 1990.
 ELAM-1--dependent cell adhesion to vascular endothelium determined by a transfected human fucosyltransferase cDNA. Cell 63:475–484.
- 26. 1991. Identification of a carbohydrate-based endothelial ligand for a lymphocyte homing receptor. J Cell Biol 113:1213–1221.
- 27. ELAM-1 Mediates Cell Adhesion by Recognition of a Carbohydrate Ligand, Sialyl-Lex. https://www.science.org/doi/abs/10.1126/science.1701274. Retrieved 17 March 2022.
- Schenkel AR, Mamdouh Z, Muller WA. 2004. Locomotion of monocytes on endothelium is a critical step during extravasation. 4. Nat Immunol 5:393– 400.

- Bevilacqua MP, Stengelin S, Gimbrone MA, Seed B. 1989. Endothelial Leukocyte Adhesion Molecule 1: an Inducible Receptor for Neutrophils Related to Complement Regulatory Proteins and Lectins. Science 243:1160– 1165.
- Kansas GS. 1996. Selectins and Their Ligands: Current Concepts and Controversies. Blood 88:3259–3287.
- Wertheimer SJ, Myers CL, Wallace RW, Parks TP. 1992. Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 gene expression in human endothelial cells.
 Differential regulation by tumor necrosis factor-alpha and phorbol myristate acetate. J Biol Chem 267:12030–12035.
- 32. Osborn L, Hession C, Tizard R, Vassallo C, Luhowskyj S, Chi-Rosso G,
 Lobb R. 1989. Direct expression cloning of vascular cell adhesion molecule
 1, a cytokine-induced endothelial protein that binds to lymphocytes. Cell
 59:1203–1211.
- Stevens JS, Gray MC, Morisseau C, Criss AK. 2018. Endocervical and Neutrophil Lipoxygenases Coordinate Neutrophil Transepithelial Migration to *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J Infect Dis 218:1663–1674.

- Mrsny RJ, Gewirtz AT, Siccardi D, Savidge T, Hurley BP, Madara JL,
 McCormick BA. 2004. Identification of hepoxilin A3 in inflammatory
 events: A required role in neutrophil migration across intestinal epithelia.
 Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:7421–7426.
- Le Bel M, Brunet A, Gosselin J. 2014. Leukotriene B4, an Endogenous Stimulator of the Innate Immune Response against Pathogens. J Innate Immun 6:159–168.
- 36. Hyun Y-M, Hong C-W. 2017. Deep insight into neutrophil trafficking in various organs. J Leukoc Biol 102:617–629.
- Wang Y, Jönsson F. 2019. Expression, Role, and Regulation of Neutrophil Fcγ Receptors. Front Immunol 10:1958.
- Perussia B, Dayton ET, Lazarus R, Fanning V, Trinchieri G. 1983. Immune interferon induces the receptor for monomeric IgG1 on human monocytic and myeloid cells. J Exp Med 158:1092–1113.
- Repp R, Valerius T, Sendler A, Gramatzki M, Iro H, Kalden JR, Platzer E.
 1991. Neutrophils express the high affinity receptor for IgG (Fc gamma RI, CD64) after in vivo application of recombinant human granulocyte colonystimulating factor. Blood 78:885–889.

- Groves E, Dart AE, Covarelli V, Caron E. 2008. Molecular mechanisms of phagocytic uptake in mammalian cells. Cell Mol Life Sci CMLS 65:1957– 1976.
- 41. Fanger MW, Shen L, Graziano RF, Guyre PM. 1989. Cytotoxicity mediated by human Fc receptors for IgG. Immunol Today 10:92–99.
- Daëron M. 1997. Fc RECEPTOR BIOLOGY. Annu Rev Immunol 15:203– 234.
- Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. 2008. Fcγ receptors as regulators of immune responses. 1. Nat Rev Immunol 8:34–47.
- Booth JW, Telio D, Liao EH, McCaw SE, Matsuo T, Grinstein S, Gray-Owen SD. 2003. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases in carcinoembryonic antigenrelated cellular adhesion molecule-mediated internalization of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J Biol Chem 278:14037–14045.
- 45. Sarantis H, Gray-Owen SD. 2007. The specific innate immune receptor CEACAM3 triggers neutrophil bactericidal activities via a Syk kinasedependent pathway. Cell Microbiol 9:2167–2180.
- 46. Billker O, Popp A, Brinkmann V, Wenig G, Schneider J, Caron E, Meyer TF.
 2002. Distinct mechanisms of internalization of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* by

members of the CEACAM receptor family involving Rac1- and Cdc42dependent and -independent pathways. EMBO J 21:560–571.

- 47. Hauck CR, Meyer TF, Lang F, Gulbins E. 1998. CD66-mediated phagocytosis of Opa52 *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* requires a Src-like tyrosine kinase- and Rac1-dependent signalling pathway. EMBO J 17:443–454.
- Schmitter T, Agerer F, Peterson L, Münzner P, Hauck CR. 2004.
 Granulocyte CEACAM3 Is a Phagocytic Receptor of the Innate Immune System that Mediates Recognition and Elimination of Human-specific Pathogens. J Exp Med 199:35–46.
- 49. Schmitter T, Pils S, Sakk V, Frank R, Fischer K-D, Hauck CR. 2007. The granulocyte receptor carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule 3 (CEACAM3) directly associates with Vav to promote phagocytosis of human pathogens. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950 178:3797– 3805.
- 50. Kuespert K, Pils S, Hauck CR. 2006. CEACAMs: their role in physiology and pathophysiology. Curr Opin Cell Biol 18:565–571.
- Chen Z, Chen L, Qiao S-W, Nagaishi T, Blumberg RS. 2008.
 Carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule 1 inhibits

proximal TCR signaling by targeting ZAP-70. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950 180:6085–6093.

- 52. Nagaishi T, Pao L, Lin S-H, Iijima H, Kaser A, Qiao S-W, Chen Z, Glickman J, Najjar SM, Nakajima A, Neel BG, Blumberg RS. 2006. SHP1 Phosphatase-Dependent T Cell Inhibition by CEACAM1 Adhesion Molecule Isoforms. Immunity 25:769–781.
- Boulton IC, Gray-Owen SD. 2002. *Neisseria*l binding to CEACAM1 arrests the activation and proliferation of CD4+ T lymphocytes. Nat Immunol 3:229–236.
- Sintsova A, Guo CX, Sarantis H, Mak TW, Glogauer M, Gray-Owen SD.
 2018. Bcl10 synergistically links CEACAM3 and TLR-dependent inflammatory signalling. Cell Microbiol 20.
- 55. McCaw SE, Schneider J, Liao EH, Zimmermann W, Gray-Owen SD. 2003. Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif phosphorylation during engulfment of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* by the neutrophil-restricted CEACAM3 (CD66d) receptor. Mol Microbiol 49:623–637.
- 56. Sintsova A, Sarantis H, Islam EA, Sun CX, Amin M, Chan CHF, Stanners CP, Glogauer M, Gray-Owen SD. 2014. Global analysis of neutrophil

responses to *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* reveals a self-propagating inflammatory program. PLoS Pathog 10:e1004341.

- 57. Johnson MB, Ball LM, Daily KP, Martin JN, Columbus L, Criss AK. 2015. Opa+ *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* exhibits reduced survival in human neutrophils via Src family kinase-mediated bacterial trafficking into mature phagolysosomes. Cell Microbiol 17:648–665.
- Johnson MB, Criss AK. 2013. Neisseria gonorrhoeae Phagosomes Delay Fusion with Primary Granules to Enhance Bacterial Survival Inside Human Neutrophils. Cell Microbiol 15:1323–1340.
- Bonsignore P, Kuiper JWP, Adrian J, Goob G, Hauck CR. 2020.
 CEACAM3—A Prim(at)e Invention for Opsonin-Independent Phagocytosis of Bacteria. Front Immunol 10:3160.
- 60. Smirnov A, Daily KP, Criss AK. 2014. Assembly of NADPH Oxidase in Human Neutrophils Is Modulated by the Opacity-Associated Protein Expression State of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect Immun 82:1036–1044.
- Criss AK, Seifert HS. 2008. Neisseria gonorrhoeae suppresses the oxidative burst of human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Cell Microbiol 10:2257– 2270.

- 62. Skubitz KM, Skubitz APN. 2008. Interdependency of CEACAM-1, -3, -6, and -8 induced human neutrophil adhesion to endothelial cells. J Transl Med 6:78.
- 63. Oikawa S, Inuzuka C, Kuroki M, Arakawa F, Matsuoka Y, Kosaki G, Nakazato H. 1991. A specific heterotypic cell adhesion activity between members of carcinoembryonic antigen family, W272 and NCA, is mediated by N-domains. J Biol Chem 266:7995–8001.
- Johnson B, Mahadevan D. 2015. Emerging Role and Targeting of
 Carcinoembryonic Antigen-related Cell Adhesion Molecule 6 (CEACAM6)
 in Human Malignancies. Clin Cancer Drugs 2:100–111.
- Rajamani D, Bhasin MK. 2016. Identification of key regulators of pancreatic cancer progression through multidimensional systems-level analysis.
 Genome Med 8:38.
- Blumenthal RD, Leon E, Hansen HJ, Goldenberg DM. 2007. Expression patterns of CEACAM5 and CEACAM6 in primary and metastatic cancers.
 BMC Cancer 7:2.
- Lacy P. 2006. Mechanisms of Degranulation in Neutrophils. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol Off J Can Soc Allergy Clin Immunol 2:98–108.

- Cassatella MA, Östberg NK, Tamassia N, Soehnlein O. 2019. Biological Roles of Neutrophil-Derived Granule Proteins and Cytokines. Trends Immunol 40:648–664.
- Mollinedo F. 2019. Neutrophil Degranulation, Plasticity, and Cancer Metastasis. Trends Immunol 40:228–242.
- 70. The sequential release of granule constitutents from human neutrophils -PubMed. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/6153206/. Retrieved 17 March 2022.
- Sengeløv H, Kjeldsen L, Borregaard N. 1993. Control of exocytosis in early neutrophil activation. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950 150:1535–1543.
- 72. Möhn H, Le Cabec V, Fischer S, Maridonneau-Parini I. 1995. The src-family protein-tyrosine kinase p59hck is located on the secretory granules in human neutrophils and translocates towards the phagosome during cell activation. Biochem J 309 (Pt 2):657–665.
- 73. Gutkind JS, Robbins KC. 1989. Translocation of the FGR protein-tyrosine kinase as a consequence of neutrophil activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:8783–8787.

- 74. Assembly of the phagocyte NADPH oxidase PubMed.
 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15293055/. Retrieved 17 December 2021.
- 75. Nauseef WM. 2004. Assembly of the phagocyte NADPH oxidase.Histochem Cell Biol 122:277–291.
- Mócsai A, Zhou M, Meng F, Tybulewicz VL, Lowell CA. 2002. Syk is required for integrin signaling in neutrophils. Immunity 16:547–558.
- 77. Hirsch E, Katanaev VL, Garlanda C, Azzolino O, Pirola L, Silengo L, Sozzani S, Mantovani A, Altruda F, Wymann MP. 2000. Central role for G protein-coupled phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma in inflammation. Science 287:1049–1053.
- 78. Witt K, Veale DR, Finch H, Penn CW, Sen D, Smith H. 1976. Resistance of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* grown in vivo to ingestion and digestion by phagocytes of human blood. J Gen Microbiol 96:341–350.
- 79. Casey SG, Veale DR, Smith H. 1979. Demonstration of intracellular growth of gonococci in human phagocytes using spectinomycin to kill extracellular organisms. J Gen Microbiol 113:395–398.

- Veale DR, Goldner M, Penn CW, Ward J, Smith H. 1979. The intracellular survival and growth of gonococci in human phagocytes. J Gen Microbiol 113:383–393.
- 81. West SE, Sparling PF. 1985. Response of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to iron limitation: alterations in expression of membrane proteins without apparent siderophore production. Infect Immun 47:388–394.
- Noinaj N, Guillier M, Barnard TJ, Buchanan SK. 2010. TonB-dependent transporters: regulation, structure, and function. Annu Rev Microbiol 64:43–60.
- Jean S, Juneau RA, Criss AK, Cornelissen CN. 2016. Neisseria gonorrhoeae Evades Calprotectin-Mediated Nutritional Immunity and Survives Neutrophil Extracellular Traps by Production of TdfH. Infect Immun 84:2982–2994.
- 84. Agarwal S, King CA, Klein EK, Soper DE, Rice PA, Wetzler LM, Genco CA.
 2005. The gonococcal Fur-regulated tbpA and tbpB genes are expressed during natural mucosal gonococcal infection. Infect Immun 73:4281–4287.

- Bao Y, Ledderose C, Seier T, Graf AF, Brix B, Chong E, Junger WG. 2014.
 Mitochondria regulate neutrophil activation by generating ATP for autocrine purinergic signaling. J Biol Chem 289:26794–26803.
- 86. Atack JM, Ibranovic I, Ong C-LY, Djoko KY, Chen NH, Hoven R vanden, Jennings MP, Edwards JL, McEwan AG. 2014. A Role for Lactate Dehydrogenases in the Survival of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* in Human Polymorphonuclear Leukocytes and Cervical Epithelial Cells. J Infect Dis 210:1311.
- 87. Boskey ER, Cone RA, Whaley KJ, Moench TR. 2001. Origins of vaginal acidity: high D/L lactate ratio is consistent with bacteria being the primary source. Hum Reprod Oxf Engl 16:1809–1813.
- 88. Britigan BE, Klapper D, Svendsen T, Cohen MS. 1988. Phagocyte-derived lactate stimulates oxygen consumption by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. An unrecognized aspect of the oxygen metabolism of phagocytosis. J Clin Invest 81:318–324.
- Fu HS, Hassett DJ, Cohen MS. 1989. Oxidant stress in Neisseria gonorrhoeae: adaptation and effects on L-(+)-lactate dehydrogenase activity. Infect Immun 57:2173–2178.

- Antigonococcal activity of human neutrophil cathepsin G.
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC260134/. Retrieved 17
 December 2021.
- 91. Shafer WM, Onunka VC, Jannoun M, Huthwaite LW. 1990. Molecular mechanism for the antigonococcal action of lysosomal cathepsin G. Mol Microbiol 4:1269–1277.
- 92. A Gonococcal Efflux Pump System Enhances Bacterial Survival in a Female Mouse Model of Genital Tract Infection | Infection and Immunity. https://journals.asm.org/doi/10.1128/IAI.71.10.5576-5582.2003. Retrieved 17 December 2021.
- 93. Kandler JL, Holley CL, Reimche JL, Dhulipala V, Balthazar JT, Muszyński A, Carlson RW, Shafer WM. 2016. The MisR Response Regulator Is Necessary for Intrinsic Cationic Antimicrobial Peptide and Aminoglycoside Resistance in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 60:4690–4700.
- 94. Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, Weinrauch Y, Zychlinsky A. 2004. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. Science 303:1532–1535.

- 95. Yipp BG, Petri B, Salina D, Jenne CN, Scott BNV, Zbytnuik LD, Pittman K, Asaduzzaman M, Wu K, Meijndert HC, Malawista SE, de Boisfleury Chevance A, Zhang K, Conly J, Kubes P. 2012. Infection-induced NETosis is a dynamic process involving neutrophil multitasking in vivo. Nat Med 18:1386–1393.
- 96. Neisseria gonorrhoeae Elicits Extracellular Traps in Primary Neutrophil Culture While Suppressing the Oxidative Burst. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4337578/. Retrieved 17 December 2021.
- 97. Panda R, Krieger T, Hopf L, Renné T, Haag F, Röber N, Conrad K, Csernok
 E, Fuchs TA. 2017. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Contain Selected
 Antigens of Anti-Neutrophil Cytoplasmic Antibodies. Front Immunol
 8:439.
- 98. Urban CF, Ermert D, Schmid M, Abu-Abed U, Goosmann C, Nacken W, Brinkmann V, Jungblut PR, Zychlinsky A. 2009. Neutrophil extracellular traps contain calprotectin, a cytosolic protein complex involved in host defense against Candida albicans. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000639.

99. Juneau RA, Stevens JS, Apicella MA, Criss AK. 2015. A Thermonuclease of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Enhances Bacterial Escape From Killing by Neutrophil Extracellular Traps. J Infect Dis 212:316–324.

100. Frontiers | The Composition and Metabolic Phenotype of *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae Biofilms | Microbiology.
https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2011.00075/full.
Retrieved 17 December 2021.

- 101. Steichen CT, Cho C, Shao JQ, Apicella MA. 2011. The Neisseria gonorrhoeae Biofilm Matrix Contains DNA, and an Endogenous Nuclease Controls Its Incorporation. Infect Immun 79:1504–1511.
- 102. Ngampasutadol J, Ram S, Gulati S, Agarwal S, Li C, Visintin A, Monks B, Madico G, Rice PA. 2008. Human factor H interacts selectively with *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and results in species-specific complement evasion. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950 180:3426–3435.
- 103. Shaughnessy J, Gulati S, Agarwal S, Unemo M, Ohnishi M, Su X-H, Monks BG, Visintin A, Madico G, Lewis LA, Golenbock DT, Reed GW, Rice PA, Ram S. 2016. A Novel Factor H-Fc Chimeric Immunotherapeutic Molecule against *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950 196:1732–1740.

- 104. Söderholm N, Vielfort K, Hultenby K, Aro H. 2011. Pathogenic *Neisseria* hitchhike on the uropod of human neutrophils. PloS One 6:e24353.
- 105. Ball LM, Criss AK. 2013. Constitutively Opa-expressing and Opa-deficient *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* strains differentially stimulate and survive exposure to human neutrophils. J Bacteriol 195:2982–2990.
- 106. Targeting of the pro-apoptotic VDAC-like porin (PorB) of *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae to mitochondria of infected cells.
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC314008/. Retrieved 17
 December 2021.
- 107. Peak IR, Chen A, Jen FE-C, Jennings C, Schulz BL, Saunders NJ, Khan A, Seifert HS, Jennings MP. 2016. *Neisseria meningitidis* lacking the major porins PorA and PorB are viable and modulate apoptosis and the oxidative burst of neutrophils. J Proteome Res 15:2356–2365.
- 108. Müller A, Rassow J, Grimm J, Machuy N, Meyer TF, Rudel T. 2002. VDAC and the bacterial porin PorB of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* share mitochondrial import pathways. EMBO J 21:1916–1929.
- 109. Seib KL, Simons MP, Wu H-J, McEwan AG, Nauseef WM, Apicella MA, Jennings MP. 2005. Investigation of Oxidative Stress Defenses of *Neisseria*

gonorrhoeae by Using a Human Polymorphonuclear Leukocyte Survival Assay. Infect Immun 73:5269–5272.

- 110. Johnson SR, Steiner BM, Cruce DD, Perkins GH, Arko RJ. 1993.
 Characterization of a catalase-deficient strain of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*:
 evidence for the significance of catalase in the biology of N. gonorrhoeae.
 Infect Immun 61:1232–1238.
- 111. Tseng HJ, Srikhanta Y, McEwan AG, Jennings MP. 2001. Accumulation of manganese in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* correlates with resistance to oxidative killing by superoxide anion and is independent of superoxide dismutase activity. Mol Microbiol 40:1175–1186.
- 112. Skaar EP, Tobiason DM, Quick J, Judd RC, Weissbach H, Etienne F, Brot N, Seifert HS. 2002. The outer membrane localization of the *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* MsrA/B is involved in survival against reactive oxygen species. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:10108–10113.
- 113. Neisseria gonorrhoeae DNA Recombination and Repair Enzymes Protect against Oxidative Damage Caused by Hydrogen Peroxide. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1636252/. Retrieved 17 December 2021.

- 114. Neisseria gonorrhoeae metalloprotease NGO1686 is required for full piliation, and piliation is required for resistance to H2O2- and neutrophilmediated killing - PubMed. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23839218/. Retrieved 17 December 2021.
- 115. Borregaard N, Sørensen OE, Theilgaard-Mönch K. 2007. Neutrophil granules: a library of innate immunity proteins. Trends Immunol 28:340– 345.
- 116. Criss AK, Katz BZ, Seifert HS. 2009. Resistance of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to non-oxidative killing by adherent human polymorphonuclear leucocytes. Cell Microbiol 11:1074–1087.
- 117. Handing JW, Criss AK. 2015. The lipooligosaccharide-modifying enzyme LptA enhances gonococcal defence against human neutrophils. Cell Microbiol 17:910–921.
- 118. Zughaier SM, Kandler JL, Balthazar JT, Shafer WM. 2015. Phosphoethanolamine Modification of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Lipid A Reduces Autophagy Flux in Macrophages. PloS One 10:e0144347.

- 119. Hamilton HL, Domínguez NM, Schwartz KJ, Hackett KT, Dillard JP. 2005. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* secretes chromosomal DNA via a novel type IV secretion system. Mol Microbiol 55:1704–1721.
- 120. Dillard JP, Seifert HS. 2001. A variable genetic island specific for *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* is involved in providing DNA for natural transformation and is found more often in disseminated infection isolates. Mol Microbiol 41:263–277.
- Rosenthal RS. 1979. Release of soluble peptidoglycan from growing gonococci: hexaminidase and amidase activities. Infect Immun 24:869–878.
- 122. Ragland SA, Schaub RE, Hackett KT, Dillard JP, Criss AK. 2017. Two lytic transglycosylases in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* impart resistance to killing by lysozyme and human neutrophils. Cell Microbiol 19:10.1111/cmi.12662.
- 123. Plummer FA, Chubb H, Simonsen JN, Bosire M, Slaney L, Maclean I, Ndinya-Achola JO, Waiyaki P, Brunham RC. 1993. Antibody to Rmp (outer membrane protein 3) increases susceptibility to gonococcal infection. J Clin Invest 91:339–343.

- 124. Liu Y, Liu W, Russell MW. 2014. Suppression of host adaptive immune responses by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: role of interleukin 10 and type 1 regulatory T cells. Mucosal Immunol 7:165–176.
- 125. Chakraborti S, Lewis LA, Cox AD, St Michael F, Li J, Rice PA, Ram S. 2016. Phase-Variable Heptose I Glycan Extensions Modulate Efficacy of 2C7 Vaccine Antibody Directed against *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Lipooligosaccharide. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950 196:4576–4586.
- 126. Criss AK, Kline KA, Seifert HS. 2005. The frequency and rate of pilin antigenic variation in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Mol Microbiol 58:510–519.
- 127. Murphy GL, Connell TD, Barritt DS, Koomey M, Cannon JG. 1989. Phase variation of gonococcal protein II: regulation of gene expression by slipped-strand mispairing of a repetitive DNA sequence. Cell 56:539–547.
- 128. Schneider H, Hammack CA, Apicella MA, Griffiss JM. 1988. Instability of expression of lipooligosaccharides and their epitopes in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect Immun 56:942–946.
- 129. Lammel CJ, Sweet RL, Rice PA, Knapp JS, Schoolnik GK, Heilbron DC, Brooks GF. 1985. Antibody-antigen specificity in the immune response to infection with *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J Infect Dis 152:990–1001.

- 130. Brooks GF, Israel KS, Petersen BH. 1976. Bactericidal and opsonic activity against *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* in sera from patients with disseminated gonococcal infection. J Infect Dis 134:450–462.
- 131. Siegel M, Olsen D, Critchlow C, Buchanan TM. 1982. Gonococcal pili: safety and immunogenicity in humans and antibody function in vitro. J Infect Dis 145:300–310.
- 132. Prister LL, Yin S, Cahoon LA, Seifert HS. 2020. Altering the *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* pilE guanine quadruplex loop bases affects pilin antigenic variation. Biochemistry 59:1104–1112.
- 133. Rudel T, van Putten JP, Gibbs CP, Haas R, Meyer TF. 1992. Interaction of two variable proteins (PilE and PilC) required for pilus-mediated adherence of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to human epithelial cells. Mol Microbiol 6:3439–3450.
- 134. Long CD, Tobiason DM, Lazio MP, Kline KA, Seifert HS. 2003. Low-level pilin expression allows for substantial DNA transformation competence in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect Immun 71:6279–6291.

- 135. Drake SL, Koomey M. 1995. The product of the pilQ gene is essential for the biogenesis of type IV pili in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Mol Microbiol 18:975– 986.
- 136. Stohl EA, Dale EM, Criss AK, Seifert HS. 2013. Neisseria gonorrhoeae Metalloprotease NGO1686 Is Required for Full Piliation, and Piliation Is Required for Resistance to H2O2- and Neutrophil-Mediated Killing. mBio 4:e00399-13.
- 137. Zaburdaev V, Biais N, Schmiedeberg M, Eriksson J, Jonsson A-B, Sheetz MP, Weitz DA. 2014. Uncovering the Mechanism of Trapping and Cell Orientation during *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Twitching Motility. Biophys J 107:1523–1531.
- 138. Källström H, Blackmer Gill D, Albiger B, Liszewski MK, Atkinson JP, Jonsson AB. 2001. Attachment of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to the cellular pilus receptor CD46: identification of domains important for bacterial adherence. Cell Microbiol 3:133–143.
- 139. Källström H, Liszewski MK, Atkinson JP, Jonsson AB. 1997. Membrane cofactor protein (MCP or CD46) is a cellular pilus receptor for pathogenic *Neisseria*. Mol Microbiol 25:639–647.

- 140. Kirchner M, Heuer D, Meyer TF. 2005. CD46-Independent Binding of *Neisseria*l Type IV Pili and the Major Pilus Adhesin, PilC, to Human Epithelial Cells. Infect Immun 73:3072–3082.
- Hill SA, Davies JK. 2009. Pilin gene variation in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: reassessing the old paradigms. FEMS Microbiol Rev 33:521–530.
- 142. Koomey M, Gotschlich EC, Robbins K, Bergström S, Swanson J. 1987.
 Effects of recA Mutations on Pilus Antigenic Variation and Phase
 Transitions in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Genetics 117:391–398.
- Cahoon LA, Seifert HS. 2009. An Alternative DNA Structure Is Necessary for Pilin Antigenic Variation in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Science 325:764–767.
- 144. van der Woude MW, Bäumler AJ. 2004. Phase and Antigenic Variation in Bacteria. Clin Microbiol Rev 17:581–611.
- 145. Silverman M, Zieg J, Hilmen M, Simon M. 1979. Phase variation in Salmonella: genetic analysis of a recombinational switch. Proc Natl Acad Sci 76:391–395.
- 146. Willems R, Paul A, van der Heide HG, ter Avest AR, Mooi FR. 1990.Fimbrial phase variation in Bordetella pertussis: a novel mechanism for transcriptional regulation. EMBO J 9:2803–2809.

- 147. Ham SM van, Alphen L van, Mooi FR, Putten JPM van. 1993. Phase variation of H. influenzae fimbriae: Transcriptional control of two divergent genes through a variable combined promoter region. Cell 73:1187–1196.
- 148. Lafontaine ER, Wagner NJ, Hansen EJ. 2001. Expression of the Moraxella catarrhalis UspA1 Protein Undergoes Phase Variation and Is Regulated at the Transcriptional Level. J Bacteriol 183:1540–1551.
- 149. Malgorzata-Miller G, Heinbockel L, Brandenburg K, van der Meer JWM, Netea MG, Joosten LAB. 2016. Bartonella quintana lipopolysaccharide (LPS): structure and characteristics of a potent TLR4 antagonist for in-vitro and in-vivo applications. 1. Sci Rep 6:34221.
- 150. Porat N, Apicella MA, Blake MS. 1995. A lipooligosaccharide-binding site on HepG2 cells similar to the gonococcal opacity-associated surface protein Opa. Infect Immun 63:2164–2172.
- 151. Song W, Ma L, Chen R, Stein DC. 2000. Role of Lipooligosaccharide in Opa-Independent Invasion of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* into Human Epithelial Cells.
 J Exp Med 191:949–960.

- 152. Phase variable changes in genes lgtA and lgtC within the lgtABCDE operon of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* can modulate gonococcal susceptibility to normal human serum - William M. Shafer, Anup Datta, V.S. Kumar Kolli, M. Mahbubur Rahman, Jacqueline T. Balthazar, Larry E. Martin, Wendy L. Veal, David S. Stephens, Russell Carlson, 2002. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/09680519020080010501. Retrieved 5 March 2022.
- 153. Viguera E, Canceill D, Ehrlich SD. 2001. Replication slippage involves DNA polymerase pausing and dissociation. EMBO J 20:2587–2595.
- 154. Stern A, Brown M, Nickel P, Meyer TF. 1986. Opacity genes in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: control of phase and antigenic variation. Cell 47:61–71.
- 155. Sadarangani M, Pollard AJ, Gray-Owen SD. 2011. Opa proteins and CEACAMs: pathways of immune engagement for pathogenic *Neisseria*. FEMS Microbiol Rev 35:498–514.
- 156. James JF, Swanson J. 1978. Studies on gonococcus infection. XIII. Occurrence of color/opacity colonial variants in clinical cultures. Infect Immun 19:332–340.
- 157. Gray-Owen SD, Dehio C, Haude A, Grunert F, Meyer TF. 1997. CD66 carcinoembryonic antigens mediate interactions between Opa-expressing *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and human polymorphonuclear phagocytes. EMBO J 16:3435–3445.
- 158. Johnson MB, Criss AK. 2011. Resistance of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* to neutrophils. Front Microbiol 2:77.
- 159. Bhat KS, Gibbs CP, Barrera O, Morrison SG, Jähnig F, Stern A, Kupsch EM, Meyer TF, Swanson J. 1991. The opacity proteins of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* strain MS11 are encoded by a family of 11 complete genes. Mol Microbiol 5:1889–1901.
- 160. Hobbs MM, Seiler A, Achtman M, Cannon JG. 1994. Microevolution within a clonal population of pathogenic bacteria: recombination, gene duplication and horizontal genetic exchange in the opa gene family of *Neisseria meningitidis*. Mol Microbiol 12:171–180.
- 161. Blake MS, Blake CM, Apicella MA, Mandrell RE. 1995. Gonococcal opacity: lectin-like interactions between Opa proteins and lipooligosaccharide. Infect Immun 63:1434–1439.

- 162. Malorny B, Morelli G, Kusecek B, Kolberg J, Achtman M. 1998. Sequence Diversity, Predicted Two-Dimensional Protein Structure, and Epitope Mapping of *Neisseria*l Opa Proteins. J Bacteriol 180:1323–1330.
- 163. Bos MP, Kao D, Hogan DM, Grant CCR, Belland RJ. 2002. Carcinoembryonic Antigen Family Receptor Recognition by Gonococcal Opa Proteins Requires Distinct Combinations of Hypervariable Opa Protein Domains. Infect Immun 70:1715–1723.
- 164. Hauck CR, Meyer TF. 2003. "Small" talk: Opa proteins as mediators of Neisseria-host-cell communication. Curr Opin Microbiol 6:43–49.
- 165. Muenzner P, Hauck CR. 2020. Neisseria gonorrhoeae Blocks Epithelial Exfoliation by Nitric-Oxide-Mediated Metabolic Cross Talk to Promote Colonization in Mice. Cell Host Microbe 27:793-808.e5.
- 166. Muenzner P, Rohde M, Kneitz S, Hauck CR. 2005. CEACAM engagement by human pathogens enhances cell adhesion and counteracts bacteriainduced detachment of epithelial cells. J Cell Biol 170:825–836.
- 167. Duensing TD, Putten JP. 1998. Vitronectin binds to the gonococcal adhesinOpaA through a glycosaminoglycan molecular bridge. Biochem J 334 (Pt1):133–139.

- 168. Gómez-Duarte OG, Dehio M, Guzmán CA, Chhatwal GS, Dehio C, Meyer TF. 1997. Binding of vitronectin to opa-expressing *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* mediates invasion of HeLa cells. Infect Immun 65:3857–3866.
- 169. Sintsova A, Wong H, MacDonald KS, Kaul R, Virji M, Gray-Owen SD.
 2015. Selection for a CEACAM receptor-specific binding phenotype during *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* infection of the human genital tract. Infect Immun 83:1372–1383.
- 170. Cole JG, Fulcher NB, Jerse AE. 2010. Opacity Proteins Increase Neisseria gonorrhoeae Fitness in the Female Genital Tract Due to a Factor under Ovarian Control. Infect Immun 78:1629–1641.
- 171. Jerse AE, Cohen MS, Drown PM, Whicker LG, Isbey SF, Seifert HS, Cannon JG. 1994. Multiple gonococcal opacity proteins are expressed during experimental urethral infection in the male. J Exp Med 179:911–920.
- 172. Nachamkin I, Cannon JG, Mittler RS. 1981. Monoclonal antibodies against *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: production of antibodies directed against a strain-specific cell surface antigen. Infect Immun 32:641–648.
- 173. Werner LM, Palmer A, Smirnov A, Belcher Dufrisne M, Columbus L, Criss AK. 2020. Imaging Flow Cytometry Analysis of CEACAM Binding to Opa-

Expressing *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Cytom Part J Int Soc Anal Cytol 97:1081– 1089.

- 174. Tchoupa AK, Schuhmacher T, Hauck CR. 2014. Signaling by epithelial members of the CEACAM family - mucosal docking sites for pathogenic bacteria. Cell Commun Signal CCS 12:27.
- 175. Conners R, Hill DJ, Borodina E, Agnew C, Daniell SJ, Burton NM, Sessions RB, Clarke AR, Catto LE, Lammie D, Wess T, Brady RL, Virji M. 2008. The Moraxella adhesin UspA1 binds to its human CEACAM1 receptor by a deformable trimeric coiled-coil. EMBO J 27:1779–1789.
- 176. Tchoupa AK, Lichtenegger S, Reidl J, Hauck CR. 2015. Outer membrane protein P1 is the CEACAM-binding adhesin of Haemophilus influenzae. Mol Microbiol 98:440–455.
- 177. Korotkova N, Yang Y, Le Trong I, Cota E, Demeler B, Marchant J, Thomas WE, Stenkamp RE, Moseley SL, Matthews S. 2008. Binding of Dr adhesins of Escherichia coli to carcinoembryonic antigen triggers receptor dissociation. Mol Microbiol 67:420–434.

- 178. De Jonge MI, Hamstra HJ, Van Alphen L, Dankert J, Van Der Ley P. 2003. Mapping the binding domains on meningococcal Opa proteins for CEACAM1 and CEA receptors. Mol Microbiol 50:1005–1015.
- 179. Fedarovich A, Tomberg J, Nicholas RA, Davies C. 2006. Structure of the Nterminal domain of human CEACAM1: binding target of the opacity proteins during invasion of *Neisseria meningitidis* and N. gonorrhoeae. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 62:971–979.
- 180. Bos MP, Grunert F, Belland RJ. 1997. Differential recognition of members of the carcinoembryonic antigen family by Opa variants of *Neisseria* gonorrhoeae. Infect Immun 65:2353–2361.
- 181. Gray-Owen SD, Lorenzen DR, Haude A, Meyer TF, Dehio C. 1997. Differential Opa specificities for CD66 receptors influence tissue interactions and cellular response to *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Mol Microbiol 26:971–980.
- 182. Gray-Owen SD, Dehio C, Haude A, Grunert F, Meyer TF. 1997. CD66 carcinoembryonic antigens mediate interactions between Opa-expressing *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and human polymorphonuclear phagocytes. EMBO J 16:3435–3445.

- 183. Chen T, Grunert F, Medina-Marino A, Gotschlich EC. 1997. Several Carcinoembryonic Antigens (CD66) Serve as Receptors for Gonococcal Opacity Proteins. J Exp Med 185:1557–1564.
- 184. Bos MP, Hogan D, Belland RJ. 1999. Homologue Scanning Mutagenesis Reveals Cd66 Receptor Residues Required for *Neisseria*l Opa Protein Binding. J Exp Med 190:331–340.
- 185. Bos MP, Kuroki M, Krop-Watorek A, Hogan D, Belland RJ. 1998. CD66 receptor specificity exhibited by *Neisseria*l Opa variants is controlled by protein determinants in CD66 N-domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:9584–9589.
- 186. Kuespert K, Weibel S, Hauck CR. 2007. Profiling of bacterial adhesin host receptor recognition by soluble immunoglobulin superfamily domains. J Microbiol Methods 68:478–485.
- 187. Kuespert K, Hauck CR. 2009. Characterizing host receptor recognition by individual bacterial pathogens. Methods Mol Biol Clifton NJ 470:57–65.
- 188. Königer V, Holsten L, Harrison U, Busch B, Loell E, Zhao Q, Bonsor DA, Roth A, Kengmo-Tchoupa A, Smith SI, Mueller S, Sundberg EJ, Zimmermann W, Fischer W, Hauck CR, Haas R. 2016. *Helicobacter pylori*

exploits human CEACAMs via HopQ for adherence and translocation of CagA. Nat Microbiol 2:1–12.

- 189. Roth A, Mattheis C, Muenzner P, Unemo M, Hauck CR. 2013. Innate recognition by neutrophil granulocytes differs between *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* strains causing local or disseminating infections. Infect Immun 81:2358–2370.
- 190. 2018. *Helicobacter pylori* adhesin HopQ disrupts trans dimerization in human CEACAMs. EMBO J 37:e98665.
- Martin JN, Ball LM, Solomon TL, Dewald AH, Criss AK, Columbus L.
 2016. *Neisseria*l Opa Protein-CEACAM Interactions: Competition for Receptors as a Means of Bacterial Invasion and Pathogenesis. Biochemistry 55:4286–4294.
- 192. Erdbrügger U, Rudy CK, Etter ME, Dryden KA, Yeager M, Klibanov AL, Lannigan J. 2014. Imaging flow cytometry elucidates limitations of microparticle analysis by conventional flow cytometry. Cytom Part J Int Soc Anal Cytol 85:756–770.
- 193. Konokhova AI, Chernova DN, Moskalensky AE, Strokotov DI, Yurkin MA, Chernyshev AV, Maltsev VP. 2016. Super-resolved calibration-free flow

cytometric characterization of platelets and cell-derived microparticles in platelet-rich plasma. Cytom Part J Int Soc Anal Cytol 89:159–168.

- 194. Stoner SA, Duggan E, Condello D, Guerrero A, Turk JR, Narayanan PK, Nolan JP. 2016. High sensitivity flow cytometry of membrane vesicles. Cytom Part J Int Soc Anal Cytol 89:196–206.
- 195. Groot Kormelink T, Arkesteijn GJA, Nauwelaers FA, van den Engh G, Nolte-'t Hoen ENM, Wauben MHM. 2016. Prerequisites for the analysis and sorting of extracellular vesicle subpopulations by high-resolution flow cytometry. Cytometry A 89:135–147.
- 196. Virji M, Evans D, Hadfield A, Grunert F, Teixeira AM, Watt SM. 1999. Critical determinants of host receptor targeting by *Neisseria meningitidis* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* : identification of Opa adhesiotopes on the Ndomain of CD66 molecules. Mol Microbiol 34:538–551.
- 197. Popp A, Dehio C, Grunert F, Meyer TF, Gray-Owen SD. 1999. Molecular analysis of *Neisseria*l Opa protein interactions with the CEA family of receptors: identification of determinants contributing to the differential specificities of binding. Cell Microbiol 1:169–181.

- 198. Delgado Tascón J, Adrian J, Kopp K, Scholz P, Tschan MP, Kuespert K, Hauck CR. 2015. The granulocyte orphan receptor CEACAM4 is able to trigger phagocytosis of bacteria. J Leukoc Biol 97:521–531.
- 199. Görgens A, Bremer M, Ferrer-Tur R, Murke F, Tertel T, Horn PA, Thalmann S, Welsh JA, Probst C, Guerin C, Boulanger CM, Jones JC, Hanenberg H, Erdbrügger U, Lannigan J, Ricklefs FL, El-Andaloussi S, Giebel B. 2019. Optimisation of imaging flow cytometry for the analysis of single extracellular vesicles by using fluorescence-tagged vesicles as biological reference material. J Extracell Vesicles 8:1587567.
- 200. Fox DA, Larsson P, Lo RH, Kroncke BM, Kasson PM, Columbus L. 2014. Structure of the *Neisseria*l Outer Membrane Protein Opa60: Loop Flexibility Essential to Receptor Recognition and Bacterial Engulfment. J Am Chem Soc 136:9938–9946.
- 201. Dehio M, Gómez-Duarte OG, Dehio C, Meyer TF. 1998. Vitronectindependent invasion of epithelial cells by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* involves alpha(v) integrin receptors. FEBS Lett 424:84–88.
- 202. Kammerer R, Zimmermann W. 2010. Coevolution of activating and inhibitory receptors within mammalian carcinoembryonic antigen families.BMC Biol 8:12.

- 203. Adrian J, Bonsignore P, Hammer S, Frickey T, Hauck CR. 2019. Adaptation to Host-Specific Bacterial Pathogens Drives Rapid Evolution of a Human Innate Immune Receptor. Curr Biol CB 29:616-630.e5.
- 204. Klock HE, Lesley SA. 2009. The Polymerase Incomplete Primer Extension (PIPE) method applied to high-throughput cloning and site-directed mutagenesis. Methods Mol Biol Clifton NJ 498:91–103.
- Dillard JP. 2011. Genetic Manipulation of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Curr Protoc Microbiol 0 4:Unit4A.2.
- 206. Variable Expression of Opa Proteins by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Influences Bacterial Association and Phagocytic Killing by Human Neutrophils | Journal of Bacteriology. https://journals.asm.org/doi/10.1128/jb.00035-22?url_ver=Z39.88-

2003&rfr_id=ori:rid:crossref.org&rfr_dat=cr_pub%20%200pubmed. Retrieved 7 April 2022.

207. Jordan PW, Snyder LAS, Saunders NJ. 2005. Strain-specific differences in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* associated with the phase variable gene repertoire.
 BMC Microbiol 5:21.

- 208. Workowski KA. 2021. Sexually Transmitted Infections Treatment Guidelines, 2021. MMWR Recomm Rep 70.
- 209. Judson FN. 1990. Gonorrhea. Med Clin North Am 74:1353–1366.
- 210. Criss AK, Genco CA, Gray-Owen SD, Jerse AE, Seifert HS. Challenges and Controversies Concerning *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*-Neutrophil Interactions in Pathogenesis. mBio 12:e00721-21.
- 211. Chen T, Gotschlich EC. 1996. CGM1a antigen of neutrophils, a receptor of gonococcal opacity proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci 93:14851–14856.
- 212. Virji M, Makepeace K, Ferguson DJ, Watt SM. 1996. Carcinoembryonic antigens (CD66) on epithelial cells and neutrophils are receptors for Opa proteins of pathogenic *Neisseria*e. Mol Microbiol 22:941–950.
- 213. Nguyen GT, Green ER, Mecsas J. 2017. Neutrophils to the ROScue: Mechanisms of NADPH Oxidase Activation and Bacterial Resistance. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 7:373.
- 214. Casey SG, Shafer WM, Spitznagel JK. 1986. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* survive intraleukocytic oxygen-independent antimicrobial capacities of anaerobic and aerobic granulocytes in the presence of pyocin lethal for extracellular gonococci. Infect Immun 52:384–389.

- 215. Frangipane JV, Rest RF. 1992. Anaerobic growth of gonococci does not alter their Opa-mediated interactions with human neutrophils. Infect Immun 60:1793–1799.
- 216. Smirnov A, Solga MD, Lannigan J, Criss AK. 2020. Using Imaging Flow Cytometry to Quantify Neutrophil Phagocytosis. Methods Mol Biol Clifton NJ 2087:127–140.
- 217. Ragland SA, Criss AK. 2019. Protocols to Interrogate the Interactions
 Between *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and Primary Human Neutrophils. Methods
 Mol Biol Clifton NJ 1997:319–345.
- 218. Smirnov A, Solga MD, Lannigan J, Criss AK. 2015. An improved method for differentiating cell-bound from internalized particles by imaging flow cytometry. J Immunol Methods 423:60–69.
- 219. Johnson MB, Criss AK. 2013. Fluorescence Microscopy Methods for Determining the Viability of Bacteria in Association with Mammalian Cells. JoVE J Vis Exp e50729.
- 220. Stocks SC, Kerr MA. 1993. Neutrophil NCA-160 (CD66) Is the Major Protein Carrier of Selectin Binding Carbohydrate Groups Lewisx and Sialyl Lewisx. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 195:478–483.

- 221. Lee HSW, Ostrowski MA, Gray-Owen SD. 2008. CEACAM1 dynamics during *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* suppression of CD4+ T lymphocyte activation.
 J Immunol Baltim Md 1950 180:6827–6835.
- 222. Sarantis H, Gray-Owen SD. 2012. Defining the Roles of Human Carcinoembryonic Antigen-Related Cellular Adhesion Molecules during Neutrophil Responses to *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Infect Immun 80:345–358.
- 223. Miller LA, Hong JJ, Kinch MS, Harrison ML, Geahlen RL. 1999. The engagement of beta1 integrins on promonocytic cells promotes phosphorylation of Syk and formation of a protein complex containing Lyn and beta1 integrin. Eur J Immunol 29:1426–1434.
- 224. Matsuyama S, Taguchi F. 2002. Communication between S1N330 and a Region in S2 of Murine Coronavirus Spike Protein Is Important for Virus Entry into Cells Expressing CEACAM1b Receptor. Virology 295:160–171.
- 225. Chen T, Bolland S, Chen I, Parker J, Pantelic M, Grunert F, Zimmermann W. 2001. The CGM1a (CEACAM3/CD66d)-mediated Phagocytic Pathway of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Expressing Opacity Proteins Is Also the Pathway to Cell Death *. J Biol Chem 276:17413–17419.

- 226. Schmitter T, Pils S, Weibel S, Agerer F, Peterson L, Buntru A, Kopp K, Hauck CR. 2007. Opa proteins of pathogenic *Neisseria*e initiate Src kinasedependent or lipid raft-mediated uptake via distinct human carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule isoforms. Infect Immun 75:4116–4126.
- 227. Yu Q, Wang L-C, Di Benigno S, Gray-Owen SD, Stein DC, Song W. 2019. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* infects the heterogeneous epithelia of the human cervix using distinct mechanisms. PLoS Pathog 15:e1008136.
- 228. Edwards JL. 2010. *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Survival during Primary Human Cervical Epithelial Cell Infection Requires Nitric Oxide and Is Augmented by Progesterone. Infect Immun 78:1202–1213.
- 229. Kupsch E m., Knepper B, Kuroki T, Heuer I, Meyer T f. 1993. Variable opacity (Opa) outer membrane proteins account for the cell tropisms displayed by *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* for human leukocytes and epithelial cells. EMBO J 12:641–650.
- 230. Ramsey ME, Hackett KT, Kotha C, Dillard JP. 2012. New Complementation Constructs for Inducible and Constitutive Gene Expression in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and *Neisseria meningitidis*. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:3068– 3078.

- 231. Hobbs MM, Malorny B, Prasad P, Morelli G, Kusecek B, Heckels JE, Cannon JG, Achtman M 1998. Recombinational reassortment among opa genes from ET-37 complex *Neisseria meningitidis* isolates of diverse geographical origins. Microbiology 144:157–166.
- 232. Kellogg DS, Peacock WL, Deacon WE, Brown L, Pirkle DI. 1963. NEISSERIA GONORRHOEAE. I. VIRULENCE GENETICALLY LINKED TO CLONAL VARIATION. J Bacteriol 85:1274–1279.
- 233. Morse SA, Bartenstein L. 1980. Purine metabolism in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*: the requirement for hypoxanthine. Can J Microbiol 26:13–20.
- 234. Lu R, Pan H, Shively JE. 2012. CEACAM1 Negatively Regulates IL-1β Production in LPS Activated Neutrophils by Recruiting SHP-1 to a SYK-TLR4-CEACAM1 Complex. PLOS Pathog 8:e1002597.
- 235. Virji M, Watt SM, Barker S, Makepeace K, Doyonnas R. 1996. The Ndomain of the human CD66a adhesion molecule is a target for Opa proteins of *Neisseria meningitidis* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Mol Microbiol 22:929–939.
- 236. Belcher Dufrisne M, Swope N, Kieber M, Yang J-Y, Han J, Li J, Moremen KW, Prestegard JH, Columbus L. 2022. Human CEACAM1 N-domain

dimerization is independent from glycan modifications. Structure https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2022.02.003.

- 237. Bilek N, Ison CA, Spratt BG. 2009. Relative Contributions of Recombination and Mutation to the Diversification of the opa Gene Repertoire of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J Bacteriol 191:1878–1890.
- 238. Adhesion-Dependent Degranulation of Neutrophils Requires the Src Family Kinases Fgr and Hck | The Journal of Immunology. https://www.jimmunol.org/content/162/2/1120.long. Retrieved 17 March 2022.
- 239. Gray-Owen SD, Blumberg RS. 2006. CEACAM1: contact-dependent control of immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 6:433–446.
- 240. Kuroki M, Arakawa F, Matsuo Y, Oikawa S, Misumi Y, Nakazato H, Matsuoka Y. 1991. Molecular cloning of nonspecific cross-reacting antigens in human granulocytes. J Biol Chem 266:11810–11817.
- 241. Nagel G, Grunert F, Kuijpers TW, Watt SM, Thompson J, Zimmermann W.
 1993. Genomic organization, splice variants and expression of CGM1, a
 CD66-related member of the carcinoembryonic antigen gene family. Eur J
 Biochem 214:27–35.

- 242. Draper DL, James JF, Brooks GF, Sweet RL. 1980. Comparison of virulence markers of peritoneal and fallopian tube isolates with endocervical *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* isolates from women with acute salpingitis. Infect Immun 27:882–888.
- Islam EA, Anipindi VC, Francis I, Shaik-Dasthagirisaheb Y, Xu S, Leung N, Sintsova A, Amin M, Kaushic C, Wetzler LM, Gray-Owen SD. 2018.
 Specific Binding to Differentially Expressed Human Carcinoembryonic Antigen-Related Cell Adhesion Molecules Determines the Outcome of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* Infections along the Female Reproductive Tract. Infect Immun 86.